Agenda
For enquiries on this agenda, please contact:
democratic.services@kingston.gov.uk
Published on 10 March 2021

Children's and Adults' Care and
Education Committee
Date:

Thursday 18 March 2021

Time:

7:30 pm

Place:

This meeting will be broadcast live on the Council’s
YOUTUBE CHANNELThis meeting will be
broadcast live on the Council’s YOUTUBE CHANNEL

Members of the Committee
Councillor Fiona Boult (Co Chair in the Chair), Councillor Diane White (Co Chair),
Councillor Diane White, Councillor Fiona Boult, Councillor Sam Foulder-Hughes,
Councillor Ed Fram, Councillor Alison Holt, Councillor Maria Netley, Councillor Dave
Ryder-Mills, Councillor Anita Schaper, Councillor Malcolm Self, Councillor Christine
Stuart and Councillor Annette Wookey
Advisory members: Dr Naz Jivani (GP Advisory member)
Southwark CE Diocesan co-opted member: Mr John Dewhurst

This meeting will be broadcast live
This agenda is available to view on: www.kingston.gov.uk
You can also access this agenda through the Modern.gov app or by scanning the QR
code with your smartphone.

2

AGENDA
1.

Public Question Time

A period of up to 30 minutes during which any resident of the Borough or representative of
organisations operating within the Borough (other than members of the Council) may ask
questions on matters relevant to the Committee. (Please see Welcome Information sheet
overleaf.)
Questions must be submitted in writing to democratic services@kingston.gov.uk
by 10am on the working day prior to the meeting (Wednesday 17 March 2021)
2.

Petitions

To receive petitions which have not already been submitted electronically or in hard copy
by Councillors or members of the public who live, work or study in the Borough. The
petition must contain at least 20 signatures, and notice of the intention to submit the
petition is given in writing to democratic.services@kingston.gov.uk by 10am on the last
working day prior to the meeting (Wednesday 17 March 2021).
3.

Apologies for Absence and Attendance of Substitute Members

4.

Declarations of interest

Members are invited to declare any pecuniary interests and any non-pecuniary interests
(personal interests) relevant to items on the agenda.
5.

Minutes

To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 10 November 2020 and
9 February 2021.
6.

Presentation - Amy Woodgate House

7.

Statutory Proposal made by the Diocese of Southwark to
establish a Church of England secondary school including a
specialist resource provision

Appendix A

This report asks the Committee to consider the responses to the consultation on the
Diocese of Southwark’s statutory proposal to establish a six-form entry 11 – 16 voluntaryaided Church of England secondary school and a 20-place specialist resource provision in
September 2024, and, as ‘local decision-maker’, to decide whether or not to approve the
proposal, subject to conditions.
8.

Achieving for Children Reserved Matter Ownership Decisions

Appendix B

This report seeks approval of the following reserved matters:


Approval of the Company’s strategic direction through the adoption of the updated
Business Plan;



Approval of the Company’s budget for 2021/22

3

9.



Approval of the Company’s arrangements for managing cash flow through the
adoption of the Financial Plan (known as the Treasury Plan) for 2021/22



Approval of arrangements for the appointment/ recruitment of Non-Executive
Independent Board Directors over the coming year
2021/22 Section 75 Agreement between Royal Borough of
Kingston Upon Thames and the South West London Clinical
Commissioning Group

Appendix C

To approve the draft Section 75 Partnership Agreement (under section 75 of the NHS Act
2006) to be entered into by the Council and the South West London Clinical
Commissioning Group for 2021/22.
10.

Commissioning of the Provision of Community Equipment

Appendix D

To agree the approach for the future commissioning and provision of the Community
Equipment service due to the expiration of the current contract on 31 August 2021. The
service is currently commissioned using the Redbridge Community Equipment Framework
which also expires on 31 August 2021 and there is a need to recommission the service in
compliance with the Royal Borough of Kingston’s (RBK) Contract Standing Orders.
11.

Urgent Items authorised by the Chair

12.

Exclusion of the Press and Public

The following resolution is included as a standard item which will only be relevant if any exempt
matter is to be considered at the meeting for which the Committee wish to resolve to exclude the
press and public:
To exclude the public from the meeting under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972
on the grounds that it is likely that exempt information, as defined in paragraph x of Part I of
Schedule 12A to the Act, would be disclosed and the public interest in maintaining the exemption
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.
In the event of exclusion being agreed, members of the public and press are to withdraw to the
Reception on the ground floor of the Guildhall to await re-admission to the Chamber.

For your information
Notice of Video Recording
This meeting is being broadcast live and will be publicly available on the Council’s
website. It may also be used by the Council for training purposes. By publicly speaking at
the meeting, you are consenting to being recorded and for the recording being used for
these purposes.
Information about Committee Membership
The Committee is made up of your local elected councillors. It is currently one of three
strategic committees of the Council and helps set the overall direction of the Council.

4

Public participation during the meeting


There is a question time of up to 30 minutes from 7.30pm to 8.00pm to provide an
opportunity for members of the public or representatives of organisations operating
in the Borough to ask questions on matters which are the responsibility of this
particular committee.

Questions must be submitted in writing by one full working before the meeting (i.e.
by 10am the day before the meeting) to democratic.services@kingston.gov.uk


All Council meetings are currently being held online. If you have submitted a
valid question by the deadline set out above, you will be sent instructions as to how
to access the online meeting. It will be your responsibility to ensure that you
understand how your equipment works and that you are ready and available, in
accordance with our instructions, to be granted access to the meeting. The Council
cannot accept any responsibility for unforeseen technical difficulties arising on the
night.



Questions will normally be taken at the meeting in the order that they have been
received.



Questions must be put in person but you can ask someone to provide translation or
other practical assistance to facilitate a question where required. If you have any
individual requirements or feel that addressing the meeting may present a
difficulty, please let us know in good time and at least the day before the
meeting, and, as far as reasonably practicable, arrangement will be made to
assist.



If you do not attend the meeting or fail to identify yourself at the meeting then the
question will be deemed to be withdrawn. If you have technical difficulties joining
the meeting at the appropriate time, at the Chair’s discretion, a written response
may be provided to your question but is under no obligation to do so.



If you have submitted more than one question, your second and subsequent
questions shall be considered only after all other questioners have had the
opportunity to ask their questions, if time allows. You will have up to three minutes
in which to ask any question.



Please ensure you leave the online meeting once your questions have been
dealt with.



Any questions raised at the meeting and not dealt with within the 30 minute time
limit will receive a written response.

For enquiries, please contact Fiona Cotter, 0208 547 4607 email:
fiona.cotter@kingston.gov.uk

Further information
Accessibility

5


We are currently not printing hard copies of agendas. Please
contact Democratic Services if you require a large print copy of
the agenda

Interests
Councillors must state if they have an interest in any of the items on the Agenda.
Interests may be personal or pecuniary. Depending on the interest declared, it might be
necessary for the Councillor to leave the meeting during the debate on any given item.
Further information regarding declarations of interest can be found in Part 5A of the
Constitution - Members’ Code of Conduct.
Call-in
Most of the decisions made at the Committee (except in relation to planning and
licensing matters) can be “called in” for review by a minimum of 2% of the registered
local government electors who live in the Borough or 9 Councillors.
Call-in does not apply to decisions of this committee in respect of planning or licensing
matters. These are subject to a separate legal appeals process.
A Decision notice will be published on the Council’s website soon after the meeting with
details of the decisions. A decision can be called in for a period of 10 working days
after the meeting. Decisions are not, therefore, acted upon until it is clear that they are
not going to be called in.
A call-in means the decision will be reviewed by a meeting of the Council’s Scrutiny Panel.
The Panel cannot overturn the decision. It may decide that no further action is necessary,
in which case the decision will be implemented or will refer the issue back to the decision
making Committee (or, exceptionally, to a meeting of the Full Council) with its views and a
request that the decision is reconsidered taking account of these views.
Minutes
The minutes briefly summarise the item and record the decision. They do not record who
said what during the debate.

A1
Children and Adults’ Care and Education Committee

Appendix A

18 March 2021
Statutory Proposals made by the Diocese of Southwark to establish a Church of
England secondary school and a specialist resource provision
Report by Joint Director of Children’s Services
Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor Diane White, Portfolio Holder for Children’s Services
including Education
Purpose of Report
This report asks the Committee to consider the responses to the consultation on the
Diocese of Southwark’s statutory proposal to establish a six-form entry 11–16
voluntary-aided Church of England secondary school and a 20-place specialist resource
provision in September 2024, and, as ‘local decision-maker’, to decide whether or not to
approve the proposal, subject to conditions.

Recommendation
The Committee, in its role as local decision-maker, is asked to CONSIDER and
DECIDE:
Whether or not to approve the proposal to establish with effect from September 2024, a
six-form entry 11–16 co-educational voluntary-aided Church of England secondary
school, with a 20-place specialist resource provision. Any approval to be subject to
satisfaction by 31 December 2022 of the conditions that (a) planning permission is
obtained for the proposed school’s buildings and associated works and (b) the proposer
is granted a lease of the proposed site for the school .

Benefits to the Community:
If approved, the proposals would:
● meet the need for additional high-quality state-funded secondary school places in
the local area for the medium to long term;
● provide certainty for Kingston Borough parents/carers that there will be sufficient
state-funded secondary places for their children;
● add to the diversity of local secondary school provision by providing a natural
destination for some children attending the 10 Church of England primary schools
within the borough;
● provide high quality secondary school places for 20 children and young people
with Education, Health and Care Plans whose primary needs are Social
Communication, including Autism, and Mild to Moderate Learning Difficulties; and
● enable community access to the school’s facilities outside school hours.

A2

Key Points
A.

The Council has a legal duty, under Section 14 of the Education Act 1996, to ensure
a sufficiency and diversity of state-funded school places for those of its residents
who need them. The School Place Planning Strategy, adopted by the Council’s then
Growth Committee in June 2017, identified a likely need for additional mainstream
secondary school places beyond 2020.

B.

Since then, demand for Year 7 places in the Borough has grown considerably, as
this table outlining the number of on-time in-borough applicants shows:
Year

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

Applications

1,642

1,768

1,910

1,853

1,894

More importantly, the number of children who have been unplaced - i.e. not been
offered either a preferred or alternative school place - within the borough on
National Offer Day, 1st March, has also grown considerably:
Year
Number

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

0

94

112

82

158*

* 10 of the 158 were late applicants.

The first-preference satisfaction rate for in-borough on-time applicants during that
five-year period has changed as follows:
Year

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

Percentage

76.2

69.0

69.6

71.9

63.8

The number of unplaced children is set to grow further, to the point where any
interventions which the Council is able to make, by asking existing schools to
accommodate ‘bulge’ classes, would be unsustainable.
Because of the locations of the existing schools, a substantial percentage of their
places are offered to out-borough applicants, as the breakdown by percentage for
the 2021 entry offers shows:
School

In-borough %

Out-borough %

Chessington

83

17

Coombe Boys’

75

25

Coombe Girls’

87

13

The Hollyfield

99

1

The Holy Cross

55

45

The Kingston Academy

92

8

A3

Richard Challoner

58

42

Southborough High

95

5

The Tiffin Girls’

31

69

Tiffin

22

78

Tolworth Girls’

86

14

The total number of offers of places at the 11 schools to out-borough applicants was
554, representing 28% of the 1,995 places available. 264 of the 554 are at the two
Tiffin schools.
326 offers of places in out-borough schools were made to Kingston Borough
applicants.
By law, schools cannot reserve places for in-borough applicants. That is because of
a legal judgement in 1989 which ruled that Greenwich Council could not prioritise
admission to one of its primary schools for Greenwich Borough residents.
C.

The need for additional places in the Kingston and Norbiton areas of the borough in
particular has grown. A revised School Place Planning Strategy, setting out the
forecast growth in demand, and giving estimated pupil yields from the housing
developments happening or proposed in the borough, was considered and
approved at the Council’s Children’s and Adults’ Care and Education Committee
(CACE) on 10 November 2020.

D.

The Diocese of Southwark, which maintains nine primary schools in the borough,
has had a longstanding wish to open a co-educational Church of England
secondary school within the borough, to provide a natural Year 7 destination for
some of the children attending those primary schools. Across the 12 local authority
areas which the Diocese of Southwark covers, only Kingston does not have a
Church of England secondary school. In 2010, when the Council held a competition
for the right to run a new secondary school on the North Kingston Centre site, the
Diocese submitted a bid, but it was unsuccessful. In 2017, the Diocese undertook
informal consultation with parents/carers and other local stakeholders on a proposal
for a Church of England secondary school within the borough.

E.

In December 2018, the Department for Education (DfE) announced an application
round in which it would provide 90% of the capital costs of new voluntary-aided
schools in areas where a need for new secondary places had been identified. As
set out below, the Council would not be able to ensure the opening of an additional
secondary school by other means, or be able to expand existing secondary schools
to provide the requisite number of additional places, therefore it supported the
Diocese’s application.

F.

That support involved meeting two conditions of the DfE’s application success
criteria: that a Council-owned site would be provided on a 125-year peppercorn-rent
basis (in the same way as for a new free school or academy); and that it would
provide the remaining 10% of capital funding needed for the school, estimated at
£2.5m. The Diocese’s application for a six-form entry 11–16 school to the DfE
identified a site within the Kingston/Norbiton area, and the Council subsequently

A4
agreed, subject to formal committee approval, that the Kingsmeadow site in
Norbiton should be long-leased for the school.

G.

In order to establish a voluntary-aided school, the relevant body - in this case, the
Diocese of Southwark - must undertake a formal consultation on a statutory
proposal setting out the details of the proposed school and specialist resource
provision. In accordance with the DfE’s November 2019 statutory guidance
‘Opening and Closing maintained Schools’, the Diocese undertook a four-week
consultation with all relevant stakeholders from 29 January to 26 February 2021.
That proposal, attached as ANNEX A, set out the details of the proposal, including:
age-range; the intention to follow the National Curriculum; the proposed admissions
oversubscription policy; and the intended opening date, which is envisaged to be
September 2024. The Diocese held online consultation meetings with local clergy,
councillors and the wider public, undertook an online survey and enabled free-text
representations to be made. The representations and survey response are collated
in ANNEX B.

H.

The Council’s Children’s and Adults’ Care and Education Committee (CACE), acting
as ‘local decision-maker’ in accordance with the DfE’s statutory guidance, is
required, within two months of the end of the representation period, to consider the
proposals and the responses to them and to make formal determination either to
approve or refuse the proposals. Approval of a statutory proposal can be contingent
upon conditions being met; as set out in Regulations. It is recommended that any
approval is subject to the grant of planning permission for the school’s build and
landscaping works and subject to the formal disposal of the site to the proposers of
the school. Later this year, the Council’s Finance and Regeneration Committee or
Response and Recovery Committee will be formally asked to consider and decide
whether to grant a long lease of the Kingsmeadow site to the trustees for the school
at a peppercorn rent and to agree to make a 10% contribution towards the capital
costs of the proposed school.

I.

The Council’s School Place Planning Strategy also outlines a need for additional
special school and specialist resource provision places in the Borough, to provide
education for children and young people with special educational needs and
disabilities. The Diocese’s proposal to establish a specialist resource provision - for
up to 20 children and young people with Education, Health and Care Plans
(EHCPs) who have social communication needs, including autism, with mild to
moderate learning difficulties - would therefore be helpful in expanding the range of
provision within Kingston’s Local Offer. As at 1 March 2021, autism is the primary
need of 583 (40.7%) of the 1,434 Kingston-Borough-resident children and young
people who have EHCPs. There are six primary and three secondary SRPs in
Kingston designated for meeting the needs of 157 children and young people with
autism. A 90-place special free school with the same designation is expected to
open in the borough in September 2023. However, more SRP places are required
still, so as to give the benefit of both mainstream inclusion and specialist expertise.

Context
The forecast need for additional secondary school places
1.

On each National Offer Day for Year 7 admissions in the last few years, there has
been a large number of unplaced borough-resident children: 94 in 2018, 112 in
2019 and 82 in 2020, compared with none in 2017. Those children were mostly

A5
living in KT1, KT2 and, to a lesser extent, the Coombe part of KT3 and the part of
KT3 which is closest to Kingston. Numbers have also increased significantly in
neighbouring Richmond upon Thames, which impacted on the availability of places
in Richmond schools to which Kingston families had traditionally sought places,
chiefly Christ’s, Grey Court and Teddington.

2.

With the numbers of applicants forecast to rise further in future years, meeting the
need for secondary school places locally will become impossible without additional
permanent places. This is demonstrated in the table below and following
paragraphs:

* Permanent PAN is 180 but the school will be admitting 210 children this September, i.e. a bulge
class; ** Numbers derived from pupil censuses; *** Conversion rates derive from % of Year 6 leavers
compared with Year 7 starters

3.

These forecasts are based on the numbers of children attending Kingston primary
schools who will be transferring to Year 7 in the next seven years, but do not include
any likely additional ‘pupil yield’ - i.e. the numbers of children who will need new
school places within the borough - from housing developments, including the
proposed regeneration of the Cambridge Road Estate. The School Place Planning
Strategy adopted in November 2020 included an appendix showing recently
approved and proposed housing developments in the borough, which, between
them, would entail the building of 4,580 new housing units, of which 3,361 have
already been approved for building. Those developments would produce an
estimated additional ‘pupil yield’ (using the GLA population calculator) of 1,911
primary-aged and 541 secondary-aged children who might reasonably be expected
to need new school places within the borough. Two-thirds of these developments
are within KT1. Since then, further large housing developments have been
proposed. It could be reasonably assumed that if most of the approved
developments are built by 2024, then there would be more than enough additional
children needing Year 7 places each year to justify the need for another secondary

A6
school within the borough, with further demand due to follow if other developments,
including the proposed regeneration of the Cambridge Road Estate, are granted
planning permission.

4.

There are very limited opportunities to provide additional secondary school places
through permanent expansion of the borough’s 11 existing state-funded secondary
schools, all of which are academies except Chessington School, which is due to
become an academy on 1 April. Options are limited by the unusual make-up of the
11 schools. Eight of the schools are selective by gender, and four of those eight are
additionally selective by either faith or ability, rather than principally on proximity.
The two non-faith schools - The Hollyfield School and The Kingston Academy which are close to the main area of need for additional places, in central Kingston
and Norbiton, have insufficient space or accommodation to enable permanent
expansion. Expanding any of the other nine secondary schools within the borough
is unlikely to provide sufficient assistance for children living in central Kingston and
Norbiton who might otherwise be unplaced. For example expanding either or both
of the Coombe schools (which are both single-sex) would be likely to provide more
places for Merton children than for Kingston children.

5.

In addition, the Council does not have sufficient Education and Skills Funding
Agency ‘Basic Need’ funding to support the creation of the required additional
school places even if enough permanent school expansions were feasible. The
Council’s latest allocation, for 2022-2023, was just £754,345.

6.

For the September 2021 Year 7 intake, there were 158 borough-resident children
unplaced on National Offer Day, 1st March 2021, including 10 late applicants, plus a
further three for whom offers were made at Chessington as ‘allocations’, i.e. not as
preference offers. This was despite there being, as there was for 2020 entry, a
‘bulge class’ of 30 additional places at The Kingston Academy. It is evident,
therefore, that the Council's ability to secure places for borough-resident children in
response to the growing demand is continuing to get more difficult and will get more
difficult still unless a new school is established.

Methods for delivering secondary school places
7.

There are three ways in which a new state-funded mainstream secondary school
can be established: through a ‘traditional’ free school route, a free school
presumption route and a voluntary-aided school route.

8.

The traditional free school route has minimal input from the local authority; it
involves the submission by an education provider or other group to the DfE in a free
school application wave and the approval by a Government Minister. The DfE would
pay all capital costs, including, where necessary, for the acquisition of a suitable
site. However, the last two application waves which have been approved – Wave 13
and Wave 14 – have been solely for areas of low social mobility and low
educational attainment respectively, thereby closing off any possibility that an
application for a new secondary in this borough would be approved. It is considered
highly unlikely that that situation would change within the short to medium term.

9.

The free school presumption route applies where a local authority identifies a need
for a new school in its area. The local authority must provide the site and the capital
funding for the design and build process for a school. It is presumed that any new
school provided by this route will be a new academy. All new provision academies

A7
are called free schools by the DfE. In this route, the local authority runs a
competition inviting education providers to submit bids against a specification and
then informs the Department for Education of its preferred bidder, which may, or
may not, be agreed by the Secretary of State. Kingston Council does not have
sufficient capital to use this route, as the design and build costs for a new school
would be approximately £25 million.

10.

The voluntary-aided school route has until recently involved a proposal by a faith
organisation, such as an Anglican or Catholic Diocesan Board of Education, to
develop a new school in a specific local authority area, but for which that group
and/or the local authority would have to pay the entire capital costs of design and
build. Neither a local faith organisation nor Kingston Council would have sufficient
capital to use this route, as the cost would be approximately £25 million. This route
therefore appeared to be closed off in Kingston, until December 2018, when the
Department for Education invited bids from faith education organisations for new
voluntary-aided schools for which the DfE would meet 90% of the capital costs. The
guidance made it clear that successful bids would be contingent on there being both
a basic need for places and on a local authority-owned site being made available on
a long-lease, peppercorn-rent basis.

11.

Alternatively, if it were felt appropriate, a need for places might, in normal
circumstances, be met through a prolonged period of existing schools
accommodating bulge classes, i.e. temporary expansions. However, in this case,
only two schools - The Kingston Academy and The Hollyfield - would be directly
helpful in meeting the need for places in the KT1/KT2/KT3 admissions ‘black hole’
area. Although both schools have recently accommodated bulge classes, neither
has the space or capacity to continue providing them beyond another year or two
more.

12.

If any of the other nine schools could be physically expanded, their ability to help to
overcome the admissions ‘black hole’ situation can be assessed as follows:

13.

●

Both Tiffin and The Tiffin Girls’ are academically selective and would therefore
admit at least as many additional children from outside the borough as they
would from within it.

●

The locations of Holy Cross and Richard Challoner mean that they would attract
more Catholic girls and boys respectively from further afield, i.e. outside the
borough.

●

Coombe Boys' and Coombe Girls’ are located close to the Merton boundary
and would probably admit more Merton children than Kingston. Demand for
both schools would be significantly increased from within New Malden if the
proposed Cocks Crescent housing development, of 400 units, is approved.

●

Chessington is too far south to help. Its main competitor, other than
Southborough and Tolworth Girls’, is Epsom and Ewell High.

●

Southborough and Tolworth Girls’ are also too far south, and demand for these
schools will increase as a result of the 950-unit development on the former MoD
site on Hook Rise South and the 261-unit Tolworth Tower development.

It should also be noted that in allocating places for children who live within the
admissions ‘black hole’ area, the Council has been very dependent in the last three

A8
years not only on bulge classes very helpfully provided at The Kingston Academy
and The Hollyfield, but also on the availability of places from the waiting-list at
Teddington School in Richmond Borough, which has become less popular with
Richmond parents/carers since its Ofsted judgement of ‘Requires Improvement’ in
2018. It is considered probable that when Ofsted revisit Teddington, the school will
regain its previous ‘good’ rating and subsequently regain its former high level of
popularity among Richmond Borough parents/carers.

14.

Merton Council have expressed a concern that the new school might impact upon
Raynes Park High, but it is currently full in Year 7, so, although some Kingston
Borough families do access places there, it can be reasonably assumed that it
cannot be relied upon as a prolonged source of places for children living in the
KT1/KT2/KT3 admissions black hole.

15.

It would therefore be a high-risk strategy for the Council to continue to rely on bulge
classes or the availability of places at Teddington and Raynes Park for anything
other than the short term.

16.

As outlined above, there is a clear and growing need for new secondary school
places within the borough, which is being exacerbated by housing development,
and the only realistic option for providing them is by the establishment of a new
school. Since the likelihood of a new secondary free school being opened in the
borough seems very slim at best, it is considered that this voluntary-aided route is
timely and would provide certainty for children, their parents/carers and the
community at large that enough places will be provided for the foreseeable future.

17.

Standards are high among the 11 state-funded secondary schools within the
borough, and Ofsted rate all of them either as ‘outstanding’ (seven schools) or
‘good’ (four). The Diocese of Southwark maintains 105 schools, of which Ofsted
rates 98 as ‘outstanding’ or ‘good’. Of its nine primary schools within Kingston
Borough, Ofsted rates four as ‘outstanding’ and five as ‘good’, so it can be
concluded that the likelihood is high that, if approved, the proposed Church of
England secondary school within Kingston would be a successful addition to the
local family of schools.

18.

In regard to diversity of state-funded school provision within the borough, 14 (40%)
of the 35 state-funded primary schools within the borough are faith schools,
whereas only two (18%, both Catholic) of the 11 secondary schools are faith
schools. Whilst not all residents support their establishment (or existence), it is
evident that state-funded faith schools play a large part within the local family of
schools.

19.

The borough contains 10 Church of England primary schools, of which nine are
maintained by the Diocese of Southwark and one - St Mary’s - is maintained by the
Diocese of Guildford. The Diocese of Southwark has long aspired to establish a
state-funded Church of England secondary school in the borough to provide a
natural progression route for some of the children attending those schools.

20.

It should be noted that the Diocese of Southwark intends to allocate 60 of the 180
places available each year at the proposed new school as ‘Foundation’ places, i.e.
for children whose parents can demonstrate Anglican or other Christian faith and
commitment, and the remaining 120 as ‘Open’ places, i.e. primarily on the basis of
proximity. These would be the same proportions as the closest Church of England

A9
secondary school - Christ’s School in Richmond - to the borough, and would enable
children living near the proposed site at Kingsmeadow, including those living on the
Cambridge Road Estate, to have a natural local Year 7 destination. If the 60
Foundation places were oversubscribed, they would be allocated on the basis of
proximity, and if they were undersubscribed they would become additional Open
places. These arrangements would comply with the provisions of the School
Admissions Code 2014: paragraph 1.36 of the Code states that:

As with other maintained schools, these [faith] schools are required to offer
every child who applies, whether of the faith, another faith or no faith, a place at
the school if there are places available. Schools designated by the Secretary of
State as having a religious character (commonly known as faith schools) may
use faith-based oversubscription criteria and allocate places by reference to
faith where the school is oversubscribed.
21.

Only three - Chessington, The Hollyfield and The Kingston Academy - of the
secondary schools are co-educational, and it is therefore considered to be essential
that any new secondary school is also co-educational. The Diocese’s proposal
meets that criterion.

22.

With regard to the possible impact on nearby schools, here are the published
admission numbers and on-time first preference and total application numbers for
the September 2021 Year 7 intakes to the borough’s state-funded secondary
schools:

N.B. The Kingston Academy’s permanent published admission number (PAN) is 180, but it is
admitting 30 children as a bulge class.

The two schools - Chessington and Southborough - with the least number of
applications are also two of the three schools (the other is Tolworth) which are the
furthest away from the area of need. It is considered that the schools which are
nearest to the Kingsmeadow site are all so heavily oversubscribed that they would
easily be able to withstand the additional competition which the proposed school
would provide.
23.

All currently available data indicate that all 11 schools will be full in Year 7 in
September 2021.

24.

Although Coombe Boys’ has only become oversubscribed in the last three years, it
has more than consolidated that position, as shown for September 2021 entry by:

A10
the 656 applications it received; a reduction by 500m of its catchment; and its
waiting-list of 113 boys. On 5 February, the DfE announced that the school would be
one of 50 schools in England to have a rebuild as part of the new School Rebuilding
Programme, and it is considered that this should further enhance the school’s
attractiveness for local parents/carers.

25.

It is possible that a small number of girls from non-Catholic Christian families who
currently might be able to obtain places at Holy Cross would instead be more likely
to gain places at the Church of England secondary, but, like Coombe Boys’, the
school is already sufficiently popular to be able to continue to compete very strongly
among the local family of schools and beyond. (For 2020, entry, 147 of its 150
places were offered to Catholic girls.)

26.

The Council’s track record for the accuracy of its pupil forecasting puts it well within
the top quartile nationally. For each top-tier local authority in England, the DfE
publishes an annual ‘school place planning scorecard’, which shows how accurate
the forecasting of pupil numbers has been. The most recent scorecard, for 2019,
which was published in June 2020, shows that in Kingston, for the previous year,
the secondary numbers had been accurate to -0.2% and for the previous three
years had been accurate to +1%.

Application by the Diocese of Southwark
27.

Following the DfE’s announcement in December 2018 of the availability of 90%
funding for new voluntary-aided schools via an application process, the Diocese of
Southwark notified the Council of its intention to submit an application for a six-form
entry (180 places per year) voluntary-aided Church of England secondary school
within the borough and asked the Council to provide support for it.

28.

Since it seemed highly unlikely that a new secondary free school would be
approved in the borough within the timescales needed for sufficient new places to
be provided, the Council decided, subject to formal decision-making, to support the
Diocese’s application. That support involved a commitment to pay the remaining
10% estimated at £2.5 million, and to provide a site on a 125-year peppercorn-rent
basis.

29.

The Council’s support and agreement were made conditional on the proposed
school having two-thirds of its available Year 7 places as ‘Open’, i.e. available to
any applicants mainly on the basis of proximity, and a third as ‘Foundation’, i.e. to
those who can demonstrate Anglican or other Christian practice/adherence. The
Diocese submitted their application in February 2019, and the Department for
Education approved it in March 2020, subject to: the ESFA’s feasibility of the
proposed site and obtaining planning permission; the Council’s formal disposal of
the site; and the Council’s formal determination, as ‘local decision maker’, of the
Diocese’s statutory proposals to establish the school and the specialist resource
provision.

Consultations and Engagement
30.

In 2017, the Diocese of Southwark undertook initial consultation with local
stakeholders on the re-statement of its intention to propose the establishment of a
Church of England secondary school in the borough. That involved two public
meetings in February of that year, at St Andrew’s and St Mark’s Church of England

A11
Junior and St John’s Church of England Primary, and an online consultation via a
website for the proposal, and leafleting in local public places, including the
borough’s libraries and leisure centres. Local headteachers were invited to attend
the meetings and the Diocese met with some of them individually, including the
headteacher of The Kingston Academy, and received a written response from the
then headteacher of The Hollyfield. The key headlines of that initial consultation
were that:

● 92% of respondents said they were supportive of the school and would consider
it as a first-choice option.
● Two discernible/repeated types of response were ‘increased choice’ and ‘for the
school to run out of school activities’.
The website has remained live since then.
31.

On 29 January 2021, the Diocese published its statutory proposals (attached as
ANNEX A) on the proposed school’s website, and arranged for a notice of the
proposal to be published in the Surrey Comet. The Diocese emailed notification of
the proposals to all relevant stakeholders, including: all state-funded schools in the
borough, neighbouring local authorities, the Catholic Diocese of Southwark,
Kingston Liberal Synagogue, Kingston Synagogue, Guru Harrai Sahib Gurdwara,
Kingston Muslim Association, Kingston Mosque and Islamic Cultural Centre, all
elected members of the borough, and every member of the public who had
registered an interest via the school’s website in or since 2017.

32.

The four-week representation period was in keeping with the requirement set out in
the Regulations and the DfE’s November 2019 statutory guidance, ‘Opening and
closing maintained schools’.

33.

ANNEX B is a report prepared by the Diocese, which contains the representations
which were made to the Diocese’s proposals, and to a survey which accompanied
the proposals, by the closing-date of 26 February 2021, as well as a summary of the
main arguments put forward by respondents.

34.

As can be seen from page 9 of Annex B, 400 responses were made to the Diocese
during the four-week representation period. Of those 400, 254 (64%) were
supportive of the proposal and 136 were opposed (34%), with 10 (2%) who were
either undecided or did not state a view. 264 (66%) support/understand the
proposed admissions policy for the school and 116 (29%) were opposed, with 20
(5%) who were either undecided or did not state a view. 364 (91%) of respondents
were supportive of the proposal to establish a specialist resource provision as part
of the school, with seven (2%) opposed and 29 (7%) who were either undecided or
did not state a view.

35.

The most common free-text responses are outlined on pages 13–16 of Annex B and
by and large reflect the polarised views of the community, and perhaps society at
large, in regard to faith schools.

36.

Annex 1 of Annex B tabulates all the responses which were sent to the Diocese
during the four-week representation period.

Timescale
37.

A12

The Diocese’s statutory proposals indicate the desire for the school to open in
September 2024, subject to the Council’s formal disposal of the Kingsmeadow site
and agreement to pay 10% of the capital costs, and to planning approval. That time
scale would be very helpful for the Council, as it would be very difficult for existing
state-funded schools to sustain the accommodation of bulge classes to meet
forecast demand beyond the September 2023 intake.

Financial Context
38.

The Council is operating in an increasingly challenging financial environment.
Kingston faced a number of financial challenges in the medium to longer term even before the COVID-19 outbreak, which has further added to these challenges.
The economic and financial consequences of the pandemic, growing demand for
services, and limited government grant funding make it difficult to find adequate
funds to meet the borough's needs.

39.

The future of local government finance faces a significant level of uncertainty. The
impact of the Fair Funding Review and a future review of business rates is currently
unknown, and the lasting effects of COVID-19 on our residents, local businesses
and the Council itself remain uncertain.

40.

Despite these challenges the council has a drive and commitment to ensure it is
doing the best for residents and communities.

401. The DfE’s approval of the Diocese’s application for funding of 90% of the capital
cost of building the proposed school was contingent on a number of conditions, two
of which were that the Diocese or the Council would provide the remaining 10% and
that a Council-owned site would be long-leased for the school at a peppercorn rent.
The Diocese of Southwark’s only education-related capital funding is its School
Condition Allocation which is for the maintenance and improvement of the condition
of the 105 schools which it maintains. Subject to formal decision-making, the
Council agreed, when the Diocese made its application, that it would pay the 10%,
which is estimated at £2.5m, from within existing capital allocations and/or
prudential-rate borrowing.
42.

If, instead, options existed to expand existing schools permanently to provide places
close to the area of need, it is unlikely that £2.5m would provide more than one
additional form of entry.

43.

Ensuring the establishment of a six-form entry school for an outlay of £2.5m, and
thereby providing a long-term solution to the school places problem in KT1/KT2/KT3
and giving parents/carers peace of mind that local places would be made available
for their children, is therefore considered to provide excellent value for money to the
Council.

44.

The Council would also have to surrender any development potential and capital
receipt it might obtain from the proposed school’s proposed site at Kingsmeadow.
The Red Book valuation for housing to be built on the site is £6.5m (for a policy
compliant scheme), and the proposed school’s 125-year lease would have a value
of £4.3m. As the difference between the premium received (£0m) is greater than
£2m, the Council would need to obtain Secretary of State approval for the disposal.

A13

Resource Implications
45.

None identified.

Legal Implications
46.

Under Section 14 of the Education Act 1996, the Council has a duty to ensure the
provision of sufficient schools for its area. ‘Sufficient’ means sufficient in number,
character and equipment to provide for all pupils the opportunity of appropriate
education. Under section 14A the Council must consider any parental
representations regarding its functions under section 14.

47.

If the Council considers that a new school is needed, under section 6A of the
Education and Inspections Act 2006, the Council has a duty to seek proposals for
the establishment of an academy and must specify a site for a school. In
considering whether this duty arises, the Council should take account of any
proposals they are aware of that will meet the need for places in the area. Where a
local authority has received a proposal for a new maintained school, the local
authority can decide the maintained school proposal before deciding whether it is
necessary to seek proposals via the section 6A free school presumption route.

48.

The Southwark Diocesan Board of Education have published a proposal for the
establishment of a new voluntary-aided secondary school in accordance with
Section 11 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006. Under paragraph 8 of
Schedule 2 to the Act the Council must consider the proposal. The Council must be
satisfied that the proposer has met the requirements for publication of proposals
and is then required to determine the proposals on their merits. The Council may:
●

reject the proposal;

●

approve the proposal without modification;

●

approve the proposal with such modifications as they think desirable, after
consulting the LA and/or proposer (as appropriate); or

●

approve the proposal – with or without modification – subject to certain
conditions being met by a specified date. The conditions that may be
imposed are set out in the School Organisation (Establishment and
Discontinuance of Schools) Regulations 2013 and include the grant of
planning permission and the acquisition of the site on which the new school
is to be constructed.

The Council must make a determination within two months of the end of the
representation period for the proposals or refer the proposals to the Schools
Adjudicator for decision.
49.

In determining the proposals, the Council must have regard to statutory guidance.
This is set out in ‘Opening and closing maintained schools’ published by the DfE in
November 2019. This sets out that when considering proposals to establish new
provision, the decision-maker should be satisfied that the proposer has
demonstrated demand for the provision being proposed. This should include:

●

A14
The evidence presented for any projected increase in pupil population (such
as planned housing developments) and any new provision opening in the
area (including free schools), in relation to the number of places to be
provided.

●

The quality and diversity of schools in the relevant area and whether the
proposal will meet or affect the needs of parents; raise local standards and
narrow attainment gaps.

●

The popularity of other schools in the area and evidence of parental demand
for a new school. Whilst the existence of surplus capacity in neighbouring
schools should not in itself prevent the creation of new places, they should
consider the impact of the new places on existing good educational provision
in the local area.

The Council as decision-maker should consider the proposal on its merits and take
into account all matters relevant to the proposal.. In order to be approved, a
proposal should demonstrate that, as part of a broad and balanced curriculum, the
proposed new school would promote the spiritual, moral, cultural, mental and
physical development of pupils at the school and of society, as set out in the
Department’s guidance on Promoting fundamental British values through spiritual,
moral, social and cultural (SMSC) education.
50.

Before approving a proposal the Council should confirm that the admission
arrangements of the school are compliant with the School Admissions Code.

51.

In making its decision the Council must comply with its duties under section 149 of
the Equalities Act 2010 (the ‘Public Sector Equality Duty’), which requires that the
Council has due regard to the need to:
●
●
●

eliminate discrimination;
advance equality of opportunity; and
foster good relations between people with a protected characteristic and
those without that characteristic .

A ‘protected characteristic’ is defined in the Act as age, disability, gender
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual
orientation. Marriage and civil partnership are also protected characteristics for the
purposes of the duty to eliminate discrimination. The Council as decision-maker
must consider the impact of the proposals on the relevant protected characteristics
and any issues that may arise from the proposals.
52.

The statutory guidance further states that “Decision-makers should be satisfied that
the proposer has shown a commitment to providing access to a range of
opportunities which reflect the ethnic and cultural mix of the area, whilst ensuring
that such opportunities are open to all.” and requires that the Council considers the
the impact of any proposal on local integration and community cohesion objectives:
“When considering, publishing or deciding a proposal, the proposer and the
decision-maker should take account of the community to be served by the school
and the views of different sections within the community. They should also consider:
● Whether the school will be welcoming to pupils of any faith and none; and
how the school will address the needs of all pupils and parents.

A15
● Whether the curriculum will be broad and balanced and prepare children for
life in modern Britain including through the teaching of SMSC education.

● Whether the school will promote fundamental British values of democracy,
the rule of law, individual liberty, and mutual respect and tolerance of those
with different faiths and beliefs and none.
● Whether the school will encourage pupils from different communities, faiths
and backgrounds to work together, learn about each other’s customs, beliefs
and ideas and respect each other’s views.”
53.

The Council should be satisfied that any land, premises or necessary funding
required to implement the proposal will be available and that all relevant local
parties (e.g. trustees or religious authority) have given their agreement to the
funding arrangements.

54

The Council’s decision must be published within one week of making a
determination and the reasons for the decision on their website. The Southwark
Diocesan Board of Education and the bishop of any Roman Catholic church in the
relevant area have the right of appeal to the Schools Adjudicator about the
Council’s decision.

Risk Assessment
55.

Unless it worked with local education providers to ensure a sufficiency of
state-funded school places for the borough’s residents, the Council would be at risk
of not meeting its statutory responsibility under Section 14 of the Education Act
1996 and could face legal action for failure to provide education.

56.

If the Council did not ensure the provision of sufficient state-funded school places in
order to forestall any sustained period of economic downturn and/or demographic
growth and ‘pupil yield’ from housing developments, demand for places would
increase to an unmanageable level.

57.

Whilst some local residents and Humanist campaigners have voiced their
opposition to the establishment of a faith school within the borough, there would be
a very substantial risk attached to a decision not to approve the proposal, because
there is no realistic alternative method available to the Council for ensuring the
sufficiency of state-funded secondary school places within the borough.

Equalities Analysis
58.

An equalities impact assessment was undertaken in spring 2017 on the Council’s
revised School Place Planning Strategy, prior to the strategy’s approval by the
Council’s Growth Committee in June 2017. The Strategy is principally designed to
provide a sufficiency of school places within the borough; therefore, it identifies
opportunities for establishing new mainstream schools and new SEND schools and
resource provisions, and/or expanding existing mainstream schools and SEND
schools where necessary. The EQIA noted, inter alia, that in January 2017, the
Diocese of Southwark had announced its intention to apply for a Church of England
secondary free school in the borough, but, as noted above, the parameters of the
free school waves were such that it became obvious that an application for another
secondary free school in the borough stood no chance of approval.

59.

A16
The proposed voluntary-aided Church of England secondary school would be
designated as a school of religious character and would meet the Diocese of
Southwark’s long-held ambition to provide a natural feeder for some of the children
from its local Church of England primary schools - nine of the 35 state-funded
primary-phase schools in the borough, which equates to 26%, are maintained by
the Diocese, and another one is maintained by the Church of England Diocese of
Guildford. It can therefore be argued that the proposed school would meet an
identified gap in the local diversity of provision.

60.

It should be noted that, as requested by the Council, the Diocese’s proposed
admission arrangements for Year 7 entry would offer up to 60 ‘Foundation’ places
for children from families who are Anglicans or other Christians, but they would also
offer up to 120 places to children of any other faith or none. In both categories, in
the case of oversubscription, priority would be to current and previously looked-after
children, then (from the second intake onwards) to children with siblings at the
school at the time of admission, and then on the basis of proximity to the school.
The oversubscription criteria within the Open category would therefore mirror the
criteria for the three existing secular state-funded secondary schools within the
borough.

61.

In most Diocese of Southwark secondary schools the proportion of Foundation
places is usually 40% or more, though the 33.3% proportion for this proposed
Kingston school would be the same as at the Diocese’s nearest existing secondary
school to Kingston, Christ’s School in Richmond.

62.

Currently, only three - Chessington School, The Hollyfield School and The Kingston
Academy - of the borough’s 11 state-funded secondary schools are co-educational,
providing 510 of the borough’s permanent Year 7 capacity of 1,935 places, which
equates to just 26%. The 180 places which the proposed school would provide
would increase that proportion to 32%, which would be helpful in meeting the needs
of local families who do not have the option of independent sector places and/or
would prefer to have their children educated within their home community rather
than having to travel further afield to access schools which have vacancies.

63.

The proposed specialist resource provision (SRP) would have a direct positive
impact for children and young people who have special educational needs and
disabilities, by enabling them to have access both to mainstream lessons, as
appropriate, and to specialist teaching, therapies and facilities. The SRP would
broaden the Local SEND Offer and enable up to 20 more children and young
people to be educated within their home community, rather than having to travel
further afield. In addition, the proposed school would have a legal duty to admit
children and young people with Education, Health and Care Plans which name the
school.

64.

With regard to the proposed school’s age-range, the DfE’s ‘Guidance and criteria for
proposers bidding for capital funding to support the establishment of a new
voluntary aided school’, December 2018, stated,
The Further Education Area Reviews over the last few years have led to
restructuring and consolidation of post-16 provision in many areas of the country,
and we will be assessing bids in the context of these changes. It is extremely
unlikely that we will provide capital funding for a proposal which includes a sixth
form.

A17

The Diocese therefore applied for funding to open an 11-16-only school, i.e. without
a sixth form. It is considered, though, that the borough already has a good range of
post-16 provision for young people: 10 of the borough’s 11 existing state-funded
secondary schools have sixth forms, and Kingston College is an Ofsted-rated
‘outstanding’ provider. In addition, there are other good options in adjacent local
authority areas which some Kingston Borough young people choose to access,
such as Esher College and Richmond upon Thames College.
Health Implications
65.

The Council’s School Place Planning Strategy aims to ensure that sufficient school
places are provided within the borough, as close as possible to residents’ homes,
so that as many children and young people are able to walk to and from home or
have the shortest possible journey by road vehicle. The fulfilment of this aim has a
positive impact on the mental and physical health and wellbeing of children and
young people and their families.

Road Network Implications
66.

As per paragraph 64, the Council’s School Place Planning Strategy seeks to ensure
that children and young people can be educated as close as possible to their
homes, and thereby maximises the number of home-to-school journeys undertaken
on foot or by sustainable transport (by bicycle or scooter) and reduces the number
of home-to-school journeys undertaken in cars.

Sustainability Implications
67.

The ESFA’s designs for the building would provide a sustainable environment for
the children and staff who would be educated / work within it.

Background papers
o

Department for Education ‘Guidance and criteria for proposers bidding for capital
funding to support the establishment of a new voluntary aided school’, December
2018, held by the author of the report.

Author of report - Matthew Paul, Associate Director for School Place Planning,
matthew.paul@achievingforchildren.org.uk, 020 8547 6246

A18

ANNEX A

Statutory Proposal
Establishing a Voluntary-Aided Secondary School in
Kingston upon Thames
This detailed Statutory Proposal encompasses a representation period of
Friday 29th January – Friday 26th February.
During this period, any person or organisation is very welcome to submit comments
(both supportive and any objections) on the proposal to Southwark Diocesan Board of
Education, via:
On-line feedback form: https://www.kingstoncofesecondary.org.uk/statutory-proposal/
Email: sending comments and feedback to: consultation@kingstoncofesecondary.org.uk
Attending an an online presentation about the secondary school, followed by
opportunities for questions on:
Wednesday 10th February 7.00pm – 8.00pm.
This can be accessed starting at 7.00pm that evening via:
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83338301247

Statutory Proposal
1

Contact Details

Name of proposer: Southwark Diocesan Board of Education, 48 Union Street, London.
SE1 1TD.
Website: https://education.southwark.anglican.org/
This proposal is made independently, without other proposers.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

1

A19
2

ANNEX A

Relevant Experience of Proposer

The Southwark Diocesan Board of Education (SDBE) has significant experience in education
provision. It covers 12 local authorities across south London and part of Surrey, offering support
and advice to 105 Church of England schools and academies and to Further Education and
Higher Education chaplaincies in the Diocese. 93% of the Diocese’s schools are judged Good or
Outstanding by Ofsted, compared to 86% nationally.

3

Category

SDBEs proposal is to establish a voluntary-aided secondary school, for pupils aged 11-16 years.
Kingston Church of England Secondary School will be state funded by the Department for
Education and will be operated by Southwark Diocesan Board of Education (SDBE) and the
Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames.

4

Evidence of Consultation

All applicable statutory requirements as per the document Department for Education’s statutory
guidance ‘Opening and Closing Maintained Schools’ November 2019 to undertake consultation
have been complied with.
Consultation has been ongoing since 2017 and has incorporated coverage with the following
stakeholders:







Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames and surrounding local authorities
The Archdiocese of Southwark
Schools from all faiths and cohorts in the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames
Community members from all faiths – including via places of worships – in the Royal
Borough of Kingston upon Thames
Local libraries
Local Leisure Centres

SDBE, to date, have facilitated three information events about the plans to establish Kingston
CofE Secondary School, including at SDBE Church of England primary schools located in the
Royal Borough, and plan to hold further a further e-Consultation session during the four week
representation period.
Information events, to date, have been held at local primary schools: St. John’s CofE Primary
School, in the heart of Kingston upon Thames, and St Andrews and St Marks CE Junior School.
Parents and members of the community that attended the information events were able to see a
PowerPoint presentation which outlined the key features of the proposed school and the
background and experience of SDBE.
Since early 2017, an ongoing Consultation has received 295 supportive responses in favour of
establishing Kingston CofE Secondary School.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

2

A20

5

ANNEX A

Objective and reason for the new school

The objective of this Statutory Proposal is to outline the fundamental plans for the establishment
of an outstanding secondary school, which will be an inclusive, non-selective Church of England
secondary school with 900 places that will serve young people and young people in the Royal
Borough of Kingston upon Thames, and surrounding areas.
Kingston CofE Secondary School will not replace an existing school.
The establishment of the school has been considered necessary in order to enable local
parents, families and students to have more choice, including with regard to a choice of
Christian, specifically Church of England, education. It is also the case that the places which the
school would provide would help to meet the basic need for state-funded secondary school
places within Kingston Borough. The Council's latest School Place Planning Strategy (adopted
in November 2020) identified that demand for places within the borough has grown
considerably in recent years (by more than 16% between 2015 and 2019) and is set to increase
further due to a variety of factors, including: larger cohorts of children attending Kingston
primary schools and the 'pupil yield' from recently completed and forthcoming housing
developments. As the Council is unable, by law, to open a school of its own and does not have
the requisite available capital either to hold a 'competition' to create a new free school or to
expand existing schools, a new voluntary-aided secondary school is the only way in which those
additional places could realistically be provided.
Extended Services – in the form of a Specialist Resource Provision

6

It is also proposed that the school will host a Specialist Resource Provision (SRP) when the
school opens, in September 2024. This SRP will eventually educate and support up to 20 pupils,
who have Social Communication Needs, including Autism – and Mild to Moderate Learning
Difficulties. (See point 11, page 5 for further details).
The school and its resources/services will become a centre of excellence for the community and
it will make its facilities available for community use.
7

Pupil Numbers and Admissions

Kingston CofE Secondary School will be an inclusive, open to all faiths and no faith, nonselective Church of England secondary school for pupils aged 11-16 years with (when it reaches
full capacity in the 2028-2029 school year) 900 places providing high quality education.
It will admit 180 places per year and will open for its first Year 7 cohort in September 2024.
The school will grow incrementally year on year as future Year 7 cohorts join. Our proposed first
year intake reflects where demand for places has been identified. When starting a new school
we believe that it is really important to nurture the first year and establish the culture of the new
school. Our first Year 7 classes will also be our first classes to take GCSEs.
It is further proposed that a proportion of the places will be allocated as ‘Foundation’ places and:





The lower and upper age limits of the school will be 11 years and 16 years
The school will not provide nursery education
The school will not provide for boarding pupils
It is not intended that the school will have a Sixth Form provision

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

3

A21

8

ANNEX A

Vision and Religious Character

The secondary school’s vision will be based around a broad and balanced education.
It will be highly inclusive, have a distinctive Christian character, and will offer its pupils the
opportunity to grow and develop within that broad and balanced curriculum framework underpinned by Christian values. Essentially, there will be a culture of strong ambition and high
performance for its pupils within a caring Christian ethos.
High quality Religious Education will be a key feature of the school. Pupils will be able to
participate in a daily act of Collective Worship.
All trustees, governors and staff will work to ensure that every student achieves their maximum
potential in a safe, supportive environment which will be well resourced and managed.
The establishment of a Church of England school will widen choice at the secondary phase for
parents and carers, as there is currently no Church of England secondary provision in the Royal
Borough of Kingston upon Thames. Key features of the secondary school will be:









9

To celebrate the skills, talents and successes of pupils and staff within a community
founded upon Christian values
To provide the skills necessary for pupils to become outstanding learners both whilst they
remain at our school and also throughout their lives
To encourage pupils to develop independent learning skills and to support each other in
achieving this important goal
To aim to meet the needs of all our pupils by offering them every opportunity to learn and
develop, in order to fulfil their individual potential
To ensure that pupils can draw significant benefit from the pastoral care available and
chaplaincy support
To offer a wide-ranging enrichment programme, which will be provided during an
extended day and which may include a breakfast/before school club and after-school
supervised homework club. This will support personal as well as academic development
while also offering parent-friendly provision
To develop life-long skills for pupils which will prepare them for work and employment in
the future
Area or Community that the Secondary School will Serve

The school will serve and will increase parental choice for the diverse communities of the Royal
Borough of Kingston upon Thames and the surrounding areas/boroughs.
10

Admission Arrangements and Implementation

Kingston Church of England Secondary School will be a non-selective, co-educational inclusive
school. It will be open to all children from all backgrounds. Children from families of any faith or
no faith will be able to gain admission.
All new schools that open through the Voluntary-Aided schools capital scheme are required to
have strong local integration and community cohesion plans to ensure that pupils from all faiths
Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

4

A22

ANNEX A

and none feel welcome at the school and have the same freedoms as existing voluntary aided
schools, including determining their admission arrangements.
The Admissions Policy for the school will meet the statutory requirements of the School
Admissions Code, the School Admissions Appeals Code and admissions law. Our admissions
process will be inclusive, open, fair and transparent.
Essentially, the new school will have six forms of entry with 30 pupils per form, giving a Planned
Admissions Number (PAN) of 180. Each year 180 pupils will be admitted to Year 7. The school
intends that 120 of the 180 places per year group will be ‘open’ places with no reference to faith.
The Governing Body will designate a maximum of 60 places to be offered to pupils who, with a
parent/carer, is a regular worshipper in an Anglican or other qualifying Christian Church.
In accordance with the law, children with an Education Health and Care Plan will be admitted to
the school where the Local Authority has specifically named Kingston Church of England
Secondary School as the most appropriate placement.
In the event of there being greater demand than there are places available to the school, places
will be offered using over subscription criteria in keeping with the School Admissions Code.

11

Specialist Resource Provision

It is proposed that a Specialist Resource Provision (SRP) should be established when the
school opens, in September 2024 for up to 20 pupils across the school over time.
This provision will be for pupils who have Social Communication Needs, including Autism, and
Mild to Moderate Learning Difficulties. Each pupil would be broadly able to work within the
curriculum expectations of a mainstream secondary school, but may need to access regular
small group and 1-1 sessions to ensure social emotional progress or address gaps in learning.
All pupils placed in the SRP would have an EHCP or, very rarely, would be undergoing statutory
assessment for an EHCP.
It is proposed that the SRP would be housed within the school’s main buildings to maximise its
position as an integral part of the secondary school’s overall offer and inclusive practice.
A qualified and experienced teacher will be appointed to manage this provision.
As the SRP would only be available for children and young people with Education, Health and
Care Plans, a Local Authority-led panel would assign placements for all the SRPs of the same
designation.
The range of needs which the SRP would meet would be clearly and differentially outlined within
the service level agreement with the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames so that all parties
would be aware of the distinctive offer of this provision to meet the needs of the children and
young people placed there.
12

Effects on Standards and Contributions to School Improvement

SDBE has been an Academy Sponsor since March 2015. In addition to the educational
professionals on the SDBE, the Diocesan family of schools will provide expertise as required to
ensure that Kingston Church of England Secondary School has the support and challenge
needed to help the leadership deliver high quality education for pupils from the outset, and
Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

5

A23

ANNEX A

ensure that these standards are maintained. SDBE comprises a majority of very high performing
schools that understand the nature of accountability that this brings along with the rigour
required to bring about change and long-term sustainability.
The autonomy of being a Voluntary Aided School will further enable SDBE and the proposed
new school to draw on the strength of provision across our highly successful Diocese.
Our Diocesan Board is highly effective and has an excellent track record of school improvement.
Our schools have a strong trusting relationship with that Board. They see SDBE as a body
which holds schools to account, is highly effective, but also nurturing.
We have a long and established track record of providing quality education across South
London and Surrey.
13

The School Day

The school day will begin with a breakfast club followed by registration in tutor groups and then
a morning act of collective worship. Formal learning will start at approximately 8.30am and the
core day will end at approximately 3.30pm.
A range of after-school enrichment activities will operate through to approximately 5.00pm to
widen the school curriculum and provide additional opportunities for skills acquisition in areas
beyond the formal taught curriculum, together with personal development opportunities.
Activities will include a supervised homework club, performing arts productions, a debating
society, sports and games including competitive matches, computer/internet clubs including
programming and other technological activities, enterprise opportunities and Duke of Edinburgh
Awards. These clubs, societies and sporting activities will form a varied programme staffed by
teachers, parents, volunteers and paid experts, linked to the curriculum offered during the formal
taught day to reinforce and supplement student enjoyment of learning and student progress.

14

Community Ethos

The secondary school will have a very strong community ethos and during this pre-opening
phase will seek to liaise with and consult with other members of the local education and schools
family. It is intended that the secondary school’s outstanding resources will be accessible for the
use of the community that it serves.
The Governing Body will build a firm partnership with parents, provide termly reports as well as
continuous real-time online access to information using a secure parent area of the school
website. We will strive to ensure parents always remain engaged and updated and will work
continuously to enhance community cohesion. There will be strong mutually beneficial
partnerships with the local family of schools, local business (from the perspective of
employability) and charities to support mutually beneficial opportunities for pupils and the wider
community.
Every pupil admitted will be welcomed, cherished and supported to help them achieve their full
potential. The curriculum offer within which pupils learn will be broad and balanced. The Trust’s
high expectations for the future include ambitious targets for pupils which will be underpinned by
a commitment to outstanding pastoral care, ensuring every student is known, supported and
challenged to achieve throughout their time in school.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

6

A24

15

ANNEX A

Location

Subject to full feasibility and formal relevant local authority committee approval in due course,
the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames (Council) will lease part of the Kingsmeadow site
for the school.
That location will enable the school principally to serve future cohorts of children living in
Kingston and Norbiton - the areas where some children have been unplaced at the initial offers
stage for the last few years.
The proposed site is not used for the purposes of another school.

16

Project Costs

The Department for Education’s Education and Skills Funding Agency will provide 90% of the
capital costs of the new build, landscaping, etc. for the proposed school. The Royal Borough of
Kingston upon Thames will provide the other 10%. The revenue funding for the school for its
day-to-day operational costs, such as staffing and resources, will be provided in the same
manner as any other maintained school within the borough.
17

Travel

It is anticipated that all pupils will be able to travel to and from school either by walking or by
public transport. If the journey involves public transport other than the use of London buses, on
which travel is free for school children resident within Greater London, then an application for
home to school travel assistance can be made to the child’s home local authority.
18

Curriculum

The school will meet the general requirements in relation to the curriculum contained in section
78 of EA 2002 and an outline of any provision that will be in addition to the basic curriculum
required by section 80 of EA 2002.
Kingston Church of England Secondary School’s curriculum model, based on the National
Curriculum, will offer pupils a broad range of experiences and learning opportunities, enabling
pupils of all abilities and backgrounds to succeed.
The school will also offer high quality spiritual, moral, social and cultural development.
It will promote British values.
State-of-the-art ICT and computing facilities will enable all pupils to gain full access to the
curriculum. Continuous monitoring and assessment of the quality of teaching and each learner’s
progress will maximise pupil progress, create a culture of continuous improvement and facilitate
early intervention where needed.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

7

A25

19

ANNEX A

Voluntary-aided Schools

Kingston Church of England Secondary School’s governing body will be able and willing to carry
out its obligations under Schedule 3 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 – see:
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/31/schedule/3

20

Staffing

The staffing structure for the new school will be established by the Headteacher and the
Governing Body following appointment. We would expect to appoint a leadership team to start
with the school no later than nine months before the opening of the secondary school.
SDBE will provide guidance and assistance as required.
SDBE will set the highest standards for our pupils and expect these to be matched by every
member of staff. In return, we will offer an educational environment and opportunities to match
the best in the state and independent sectors.
All roles at the school will be published on this website and advertised in national, local and
specialist media as appropriate.
21

Special Educational Needs (SEND)

Kingston Church of England Secondary School will abide by the Special Educational Needs
2014 Code of Practice and will admit any child with a statement of special educational needs
that names the school unless to do so would not be compatible with the effective education of
other pupils in the school and would not be an inefficient use of resources.
Further details about the proposed Specialist Resource Provision can be viewed at point 11,
page 5.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

8

A26

ANNEX B

Report into outcomes of consultation
about the Statutory Proposal to
establish Kingston Church of England
Secondary School

March 2021

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A27

ANNEX B

Contents
Pages
Introduction

3

Background and Objectives

4-5

Methodology

6-8

Analysis of Results

9 - 19

Key Findings

20 - 21

Annex 1 – [All] Qualitative responses listed

22 - 65

Annex 2 – On-line response format

66

Annex 3 – e-session Presentation slides

67 - 70

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A28

ANNEX B

Introduction
The following report details the outcomes of feedback that was generated via the
publication of the Statutory Proposal/Notice (on Friday 29th January 2021) to
establish Kingston Church of England Secondary School in September 2024.
The secondary school has been proposed by Southwark Diocesan Board of
Education (SDBE), which has significant experience in education provision.
SDBE has existing establishments in 12 local authorities across south London and
part of Surrey, offering support and advice to 105 Church of England schools and
academies and to Further Education and Higher Education chaplaincies in the
Diocese. 93% of the Diocese’s schools are judged Good or Outstanding by Ofsted,
compared to 86% nationally.
The Statutory Proposal/Notice – which, again, was published on Friday 29th January,
2021 – specifically outlines how SDBE proposes to establish a voluntary-aided
secondary school, for pupils aged 11-16 years. The secondary school will be state
funded by the Department for Education and will be operated by SDBE and the
Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames. At the same time that the Statutory
Proposal//Notice was launched, SDBE commenced a 4-week period of
representation period to align to the DfE guidance/Statutory process of opening a
new maintained school as outlined in their November 2019 document: ‘Opening and
Closing Maintained Schools’. During the 4-week period, any person or organisation
was invited to submit feedback to SDBE, via a survey which enabled both
quantitative response and qualitative feedback. The feedback that was submitted
and analysed is presented in this report and this supplemented previous ongoing
consultation which had been undertaken by SDBE, and which had commenced in
early 2017.
This report and its key findings essentially now can be read and reviewed by the
decision maker, i.e. the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames, including as a
means via which they can be assured that SDBE has had regard for the statutory
process and that they have considered all the views (both supportive and objections)
submitted during the 4-week representation period.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A29

1

ANNEX B

Background and Objectives

Kingston Church of England Secondary School was successfully approved in to
pre-opening by DfE in spring 2020. The original application submitted set out the
fundamental plan to establish an inclusive, non-selective Church of England
secondary school with 900 places that will serve young people and young people in
the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames, and surrounding areas.
The establishment of the school was considered necessary in order to enable local
parents, families and students to have more choice, including with regard to a choice
of a Christian, specifically Church of England, education. It is also the case that the
places which the school would provide would help to meet the basic need for statefunded secondary school places within Kingston Borough. The Council's
latest School Place Planning Strategy (adopted in November 2020) identified that
demand for places within the borough has grown considerably in recent years
(by more than 16% between 2015 and 2019) and is set to increase further due to a
variety of factors, including: larger cohorts of children attending Royal Borough of
Kingston primary schools and the 'pupil yield' from recently completed and
forthcoming housing developments. As the Council is unable, by law, to open a
school of its own and does not have the requisite available capital either to hold a
'competition' to create a new free school or to expand existing schools, a new
voluntary-aided secondary school remains, in 2021, the only way in which those
additional places could realistically be provided.
The key objectives of the 4-week representation period was to ensure that the
decision-maker. i.e. the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames, could be satisfied
that the proposer, i.e. Southwark Diocesan Board of Education (SDBE), had enabled
all interested stakeholders to feedback and articulate their support for, or objection
to, the proposal to establish the secondary school. The content of the following
report sets out both the support and instances of objection(s) that was received
during the 4-week period and also any concerns.
Ongoing Consultation since 2017
It is important to note that consultation about the proposed establishment of the
secondary school has been ongoing since early 2017. In early 2017, an Application
Stage Stakeholders Database was developed by the SDBE project team that worked
on the original application. This database featured key local stakeholders including
schools and faith settings. These identified stakeholders were encouraged, via a
global email sent on the 25th January 2017, to further promote the then application
via their Facebook pages, twitter feeds, newsletters and other communication
channels. Primary schools were provided with a specific flyer about the application
for distribution to their parents.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A30

ANNEX B

Indeed, details consulting on and communicating about the proposed application
were sent via letter by the SDBE in late January 2017 to schools in the borough and
other stakeholders. This communication included an invitation to attend two
information events, held in February 2017, about the plans to establish Kingston
CofE Secondary School. The Director offered to meet with headteachers and did so
with one secondary headteacher, whilst receiving written feedback from another.
These two events were held at: (a) St. John’s CofE Primary School, in Kingston, and
(b) St Andrews and St Marks CE Junior School, in Surbiton.
Parents and members of the community that attended the information events were
able to see a PowerPoint presentation which outlined the key features of the
proposed school and the background and experience of SDBE.
Additionally, from the perspective of ongoing consultation, an online survey was
established. This survey was hosted on the Kingston CofE Secondary School
website and as of February 2021 it had received 305 responses - the majority of
which (90%) were supportive of the plan to establish the Secondary School.
15 respondents to this ongoing survey identified themselves as ‘local teaching
professionals’. Indeed qualitative feedback that has been received over the past four
years, including from people of Christian faith, Sikh faith and Muslim faith, has
included:
“There are too many applicants and too few places locally”.
“I support the Christian ‘philosophy’ of the proposed school”.
“The school and local churches can work as closely as possible in partnership with
one another, including offering chaplaincy, youth work provision and so on”.
“I hope the school will serve to provide much needed secondary school places for
Coombe Ward and Norbiton Ward”.
“[I support] an unapologetic teaching of the Christian faith”.
“There needs to be more support for ASD children who do not have an EHCP”.
“[In my opinion] the quality of secondary schools lags significantly behind primary
schools. Selection by certain secondary schools is creaming off the best pupils.
A mixed school is needed, there are too many single sex schools”.
“We live on Springfield Road and have limited choices in terms of a secondary state
school in the area”.
Essentially, the responses to the consultation that commenced in early 2017
informed the (basic need and support for the) Voluntary Aided school application that
was submitted to the DfE in 2018.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A31

2

ANNEX B

Methodology

This section outlines how individuals or organisations were able to give feedback
about the Statutory Proposal during the 4-week representation period – essentially
via three approaches:
1. Attending a relevant on-line information/consultation e-session
2. Completing an on-line survey which had the aim of enabling local
stakeholders and community members to consider the Statutory Proposal and
registering whether they agreed or disagreed with it, or specific elements of it
3. Writing to a dedicated e-mail address
The two e-sessions involved a 20-minute presentation from SDBE that referred to a
set of structured PowerPoint slides, that in-turn detailed the key features and
ambitions of the proposed secondary school. Each e-presentation was followed by a
30 minute Q&A session. E-sessions were deemed preferable due to the ongoing
COVID-19 pandemic, otherwise SDBE would have naturally organised and facilitated
events/sessions at an appropriate physical venue(s).
The two e-sessions were organised and facilitated as follows:




E-session 1 – facilitated 7.00pm – 8.00pm on Tuesday 2nd February 2021 –
and attended by 25 elected members representing the Royal Borough of
Kingston-upon-Thames
E-session 2 – facilitated 7.00pm – 8.00pm on Thursday 10th February 2021 –
and attended by 57 members of the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames
community – including: (a) representatives of local schools; (b) local parents
and carers; (c) local environmental activists

The themes that were addressed – and any issues that attendees required more
clarification on – at the two e-sessions can be viewed on pages 16-19 of this report.
Additional to the two e-sessions, SDBEs senior leadership hosted: (a) an e-session
with members of Kingston Clergy on Tuesday 19th January 2021 and
(b) an e-session with members of Kingston Deanery Synod on Thursday
4th February 2021.
The on-line survey was hosted on the (SDBE) specific website for Kingston CofE
Secondary School – see https://www.kingstoncofesecondary.org.uk/.
A webpage set up was called: Statutory Proposal. Crucially, the webpage enabled
the viewer to download a PDF version of the Statutory Notice so that they could
provide feedback from an informed perspective.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A32

ANNEX B

Questions that could be responded to during the 4-week representation period are
outlined in Appendix 2 of this report, with a key question fundamentally being:
Do you support the Southwark Diocesan Board of Education proposal to establish a
new Church of England voluntary aided secondary school in the Royal Borough of
Kingston upon Thames?
Further background to the question: Do you understand and support Kingston
Church of England Secondary School’s proposed admissions policy? Can be viewed
at: https://www.kingstoncofesecondary.org.uk/admissions-policy/ as can further
background to the question: Do you agree with the proposal to establish a Specialist
Resource Provision for 20 pupils who have social communication needs and autism?
The on-line response function – and the e-session that was facilitated by SDBE
representatives via Zoom on Wednesday 10th February 2021 – was promoted via a
number of approaches:
1. A notice was published in the local newspaper – the Surrey Comet – on the
day of the launch of the Statutory Proposal Consultation/Representation
period – i.e. Friday 29th January, 20211
2. An email notification was sent to all local key stakeholders on Friday 29th
January 2021. These stakeholders included: local schools; elected members;
local [all types of] faith settings; the local Roman Catholic Diocese; local MPS;
local community settings; local libraries; local health settings; local Leisure
Centres
3. A notification was placed on the Facebook page for Kingston CofE Secondary
School – i.e.: https://www.facebook.com/Kingston-Church-of-EnglandSecondary-School-130089344145864/?ref=bookmarks
4. A link to the consultation was provided in the Achieving for Children
e-newsletter to all schools in Kingston on Tuesday 2nd February
5. The SDBE Director of Education sent: (a) individual letters to all secondary
school headteachers within the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames;
(b) individual letters to all CofE primary school headteachers within, again,
the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames, the Royal Borough of
Richmond upon Thames and the London Borough of Merton

1

The Surrey Comet has an average distribution of 5,777 per issue, including 2,348 copies distributed at colleges,
libraries and cinemas.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A33

ANNEX B

Southwark Diocesan Board of Education recognised that some individuals and/or
organisations may have preferred to forward a more detailed response than the online function enabled. Therefore a dedicated response email account was
established, the address of which was:
consultation@kingstoncofesecondary.org.uk2
The methodology described above enabled any interested individual and/or
organisation to provide/describe either their support for the Statutory Proposal, or
any objections that they may have had, and the following section of this report
examines the incidence of both positions.

Responses were indeed received via this email account which tended to incorporate more qualitative detail
aligned to an individual or an organisation’s thoughts about the Statutory Proposal/Notice.

2

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A34

3

ANNEX B

Analysis of Results

The followings section will outline and present the feedback that was received to the
Statutory Proposal Consultation/Representation via the two approaches:
1. on-line survey; 2. two information/consultation e-sessions.
Section 3.1 below details the feedback that was received via the on-line survey.
Section 3.2, commencing on page 16, outlines the qualitative feedback and
discussion points that arose via the two information/consultation sessions.

3.1

Outcomes of the on-line survey

During the period 12pm Friday 29th January 2021 – 12pm 26th Friday February 2021
a total of exactly 400 survey responses were received, in electronic form.
The narrative, tables and diagrams below outline the frequency of types of
responses and any key qualitative themes that were written by respondents in an
any other specific questions response function.
3.1.1 Background of respondents
The evident background of the 400 respondents is presented in Table 1 below.
Background3
A parent/carer of child(ren) due to start
secondary school in September 2024
Parent/carer of child(ren) due to start secondary
school at a later period
Parent/carer of primary age child(ren)
Member of staff at a local school
A representative of the local clergy
A representative of a community or youth group
A local resident
A local employee/employer/business owner
I would prefer not to say
Respondent did not specify

3

Number of
Respondents

Percentage of
Respondents

54

13.5%

95

24%

124

31%

42

10.5%

21

5%

22

5%

232

58%

22

5%

18

4.5%

17

4%

Respondents were able to denote multiple responses/relevant categories, as applicable to them, which is why
column 3 does not equal 100%.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A35

ANNEX B

Table 1 (above) indicates that the most frequent background of respondent was a
local resident, followed in frequency by a parent of a primary age child(ren).

3.1.2 Indication of support for the secondary school
Each respondent to the on-line survey was invited to give feedback to the
question: Do you support the Southwark Diocesan Board of Education
proposal to establish a new Church of England voluntary aided
secondary school in the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames?
Table 2 below outlines the frequency with which specific responses were
received.
Table 2 - Indication of fundamental support for the establishment of Kingston
CofE Secondary School
Response
Yes, I support the establishment of
Kingston CofE Secondary School
No, I do not support the establishment of
Kingston CofE Secondary School
I am undecided
No answer provided to this question

Number of
Respondents

Percentage of
Respondents

254

64%

136

34%

7

1.5%

3

0.5%

Chart 1 - Fundamental support for the establishment of
Kingston CofE Secondary School
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
Yes, I support the
No, I do not support the
establishment of
estbalishment of
Kingston CofE Secondary Kingston CofE Secondary
School
School

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

I am undecided

No answer provided to
this question

A36

ANNEX B

3.1.3 Indication of support for the proposed admissions policy
Each respondent to the on-line survey was invited to answer the question:
Do you understand and support Kingston Church of England Secondary
School’s proposed admissions policy?
Table 3 below outlines the frequency with which specific responses were
received.
Table 3 - Indication of fundamental understanding of and support for the
proposed admissions policy for Kingston CofE Secondary School
Response
Yes, I support/understand the admissions
policy
Kingston
CofE
Secondary Schoolthe
No,
I do not
support/understand
admissions policy
I am undecided
No answer provided to this question

Number of
Respondents

Percentage of
Respondents

264

66%

116

29%

14

3.5%

6

1.5%

Chart 2 - Fundamental understanding of and support for the proposed
admissions policy for Kingston CofE Secondary School
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
Yes, I
No, I do not
understand/support the understand/support the
admissions policy
admissions policy

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

I am undecided

No answer provided to
this question

A37

ANNEX B

3.1.4 Indication of support for the proposed Specialist Resource Provision
Each respondent to the on-line survey was invited to answer the question:
Do you agree with the proposal to establish a Specialist Resource
Provision for 20 pupils who have social communication needs and
autism?
Table 4 below outlines the frequency with which specific responses were
received.
Table 4 - Indication of fundamental support for the proposal to establish an
on-site Specialist Resource Provision
Response
Yes, I support the proposal to establish a
Specialist Resource Provision
Kingston
CofE
Secondary
School to
No,
I do not
support
the proposal
establish a Specialist Resource Provision
I am undecided
No answer provided to this question

Number of
Respondents

Percentage of
Respondents

364

91%

7

2%

25

6%

4

1%

Chart 3 - Fundamental support for the proposal to establish an on-site
Specialist Resource Provision
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
Yes, I support the
No, I do not support the
proposal to establish a proposal to establish a
SRP
SRP

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

I am undecided

No answer provided to
this question

A38

ANNEX B

3.1.5 Additional qualitative feedback received
Each respondent was invited to provide qualitative supporting narrative to
supplement their quantitative feedback.
Two-thirds of the total respondents did provide such qualitative feedback –
most frequently these respondents identified themselves as local residents.
It should be noted that all of the qualitative feedback has been denoted in
Appendix A of this report, pages 22 - 65.
The most recurrent type of qualitative feedback provided was (words to the
effect): “This secondary school is very much needed”. For example, specific
feedback on this theme included:
“The new school would be helpful, given the increase in the local population”.
“A Church of England Secondary School at the Kingsmeadow site will be a
welcome addition to secondary school choice in Kingston. It will be
geographically well located in the borough”.
“I strongly support this. A Church of England [secondary] school in Kingston is
long overdue”.
“This is a long overdue proposal”.
“Can it open earlier in 2023 to match the increase in demand for that year?”
“There is an identified need for additional secondary school places in the
Borough and currently no Church of England secondary provision choice for
parents and pupils in this area. This proposal gives parents the choice of a
Church of England education.
“I agree that a secondary school is much needed in this area. Currently there
is lack of choice for children in Surbiton who are not Catholic or who do not
meet entry requirements for the selective grammar schools…”.
“I fully support this proposal to build a Church of England Secondary School in
Kingston. Having worked at two Church of England primary schools in the
Borough, I am acutely aware of the desires of parents for their children to
continue with a Church of England education through to secondary school”.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A39

ANNEX B

The second most frequent type of qualitative feedback provided was (words to
the effect): “I do not support a faith school being established in the borough”
4For example, specific feedback on this theme/perceived issue included:
“I am strongly against state-funded religious education in principle, whether it
is exclusive or otherwise”.
“I think all faith schools should be abolished! Faith schools are divisive, they
have no place in the modern world”.
“State funded religious discrimination has no place in our society. The South
of Ireland have learnt their lesson and so should we. No local child should be
discriminated against [by] their local school”.
“This is just an extension of the malign influence of the Church of England on
education in the borough. We already have a divisive primary school system
where the CofE schools serve a middle class group of parents and the
borough has a small number of sink schools - excellent schools with a very
diverse school population (my children attended them) - but with many
challenges associated with a substantially disadvantaged group of primary
school pupils”.
“Discrimination of any kind, but especially religious, is anathema in today's
society. Religion has no place in schools and definitely must not be funded by
the taxpayer! It is outrageous that this is even being considered. Faith schools
actively encourage segregation and promote social disharmony…”.
“Faith schools are discriminatory and unnecessary. To admit a child based on
faith alone does not provide wider opportunities for children from all
backgrounds. Kingston is a diverse place and we should celebrate that, not
divide it by children of the same faith attending school together.
No one particular faith has any benefit towards education, if anything it
hinders it when you can’t learn about other religion and cultures”.
The third most frequent type of qualitative feedback provided was (words to
the effect): “I support the proposal to establish the Specialist Resource
Provision”. For example, specific feedback on this theme/perceived issue
included:
“A CofE secondary school in Kingston is long-overdue. SEN provision within
Kingston is needed so I fully support this”.
4 There were a number of respondents who evidently did not support faith schools for a number of reasons,
however it is intended that 120 of the year-on-year intake will be open (non-faith aligned) places, and that that
number of open places may indeed increase during a respective year.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A40

ANNEX B

“I feel that having a specialist resource base for secondary aged pupils that
require it would be extremely beneficial for the local area”.
“As a local resident, church member and retired speech and language
therapist working with children with social communication difficulties, I am
delighted that this school proposes to have a Specialist Resource for students
with ASD. As the primary ASD provision is directly over the road at King's Oak
School, this would make transition to the secondary provision very much
easier”.
“As the parent of an autistic child the proposed Specialist Resource Provision
is really wonderful news”.
“I'm a parent of an autistic child who went to a similarly set-up secondary
school in Bexley, and this model enabled him to access GCSE level learning
with the support he needed, and he now been able to move on to college as a
result”.
“The Special Resource Provision shouldn’t be reliant on [an] EHCP as some
children need extra support despite being autistic but apparently not ‘autistic
enough’ to get an EHCP”.
The most fourth most frequent type of qualitative feedback provided was
(words to the effect): “I have further comment about the proposed admissions
policy…”. For example, specific feedback on this theme/perceived issue
included:
“My plea as a member of clergy is that the school has provision for places for
clergy children as in year admissions. As priests we are called where we are
called but that calling should not be at the cost of our children's wellbeing
when they have to travel long distances as the local schools are now
oversubscribed”.
“That it be open to all children in the borough no matter where they are
resident in the borough”.
“Whilst I welcome another secondary school in the area I do not believe that
there should be provided by faith-based schools whatever the admission
policy, and I believe that this would reduce the pressure on the Council to
provide high quality secular education…”.
“The admissions policy should explain how students are allocated places
should there be over-subscription to the school. It also doesn't explain how

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A41

ANNEX B

the 60 faith places are allocated and in what priority e.g. Christian faith
presumably: do CofE get priority over Methodist for example?”

3.2

Outcomes of the two e-information/consultation sessions

Two e-sessions were organised and facilitated as follows:




E-session 1 – facilitated 7.00pm – 8.00pm on Tuesday 2nd February 2021 –
and attended by 25 elected members representing the Royal Borough of
Kingston-upon-Thames
E-session 2 – facilitated 7.00pm – 8.00pm on Thursday 10th February 2021 –
and attended by 57 members of the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames
community – including: (a) representatives of local schools; (b) local parents
and carers; (c) local environmental activists

The two e-sessions (held via a Zoom platform) involved a 20-minute presentation
that referred to a set of structured PowerPoint slides that in-turn detailed the key
features and ambitions of the proposed secondary school. Each e-presentation was
followed by a 30-minute Q&A session, whereby attendees were kindly requested to
forward their questions or thoughts via the Zoom chat function, in order to support
the facilitation of the Q&A process.
The narrative below summarises the questions that were indeed asked at each of
the two respective e-sessions – and in some cases the points that were raised by
attendees.

3.2.1 Themes and questions raised at E-session 1 - attended by Royal Borough of
Kingston upon Thames elected members
The (both pertinent and considered) questions below were raised and asked
by attending elected members. Representatives of Southwark Diocesan
Board of Education responded to each question and/or issue raised during the
e-session (Q&A period), or were able to send further clarification on a point*
following the e-session.





Will there be any religious criteria for admissions?
Will you be promoting and encouraging parents legal right to
withdrawal their children from collective worship and RE where they
wish to do so?
Have you done any modelling on what the catchment area might be for
the community places?

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A42













ANNEX B

What opportunity will governors of Kingston secondary schools and
other members of the public have to hear this presentation and ask
question? When and how please?
Thank you for your presentation which I welcome… Can you say more
about how the school will promote inclusion and diversity across all
different backgrounds?
*Can I ask about exclusivity especially in relation to Transgender kids
and LGBT+ will the school be providing a full range of sex education?
I have heard that the intention is for the main student entrance to be in
Hampden Road; a small cul-de-sac with currently few houses , but a
significant residential planning application in process. The effect of the
main entrance being there would be significant. Is this set in stone or
could access via Kingsmeadow be possible?
Is there an expectation that a certain percentage of pupils will come up
from local CofE junior schools?
Is there room for plenty of onsite play/sports areas outside?
Will you be planning space/the site for a sixth form addition in case
required further down the line?
Will the admissions to the school be for children in the catchment area
of the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames only?

3.2.2 Themes and questions raised at E-session 2 - attended by local community
members and key stakeholders
The (again considered and appreciated) questions below were raised and
asked by attending local stakeholders and community members. Once again,
representatives of Southwark Diocesan Board of Education responded to
each question and/or issue raised during the e-session (Q&A period).








Will the design maximise “eco” potential? – for example, solar/wind
energy production, positioning it so it doesn’t get too hot in the summer
etc?
To clarify, slow worms [that are present at the Kingsmeadow site] do
not cope with being translocated and the site is already being
negatively impacted by development impacting this population.
(You don’t seem to realise that translocations can take a couple of
years for good populations)
There are two adjacent developments which will impact on slow worm
populations: 204 Cambridge Road, plus the Arrow Plastics site: how
will you achieve Net Gain for Biodiversity which is required under the
National Planning Policy Framework?
When can we see the report on the boreholes that’s were drilled?

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A43





















ANNEX B

Isn’t the land contaminated and it is very waterlogged? We will also
lose a mature oak
If you are planning to open in 2024, what length of time is being
allowed for appropriate design and also - if mitigation is needed for
protected species, has that time been built in?
I’m interested in the secondary school pupil forecasts - how recent
were the forecasts that have gone in to the proposal/bid? Anecdotal
local knowledge is that there is beginning to be a significant impact on
primary pupil numbers, possibly as a result of Brexit and the pandemic.
Are your numbers recent and robust? What will the impact on other
local secondary schools if the large secondary increase doesn’t
materialise?...
…Do you have any projections on how far the initial catchment would
stretch?
One-third of places are essentially reserved for CofE families.
How does the 60+120 policy compare to your other schools,
particularly any with a similar local demographic? For example, is the
allocation of priority places normally fully 'used up'?
Do you have any data on the proportion of faiths among the pupils from
your other secondaries? I ask this from a viewpoint of a local non-faith
family, but one that would certainly not be against the idea of an
education under the ethos/pastoral approach you've described.
Essentially, how do you find non faith pupils 'fit in' at your schools?
You've announced the opening in 2024. How certain are you that will
be achieved? Are there any concerns regarding building work delays
due to the COVID-19 pandemic conditions?
Where will outdoor sports provision take place? As head coach at the
local athletics club, we're keen to work with the new school but equally
are concerned that we'll not have any impact on our current activities
which start from about 4.45pm for our evening sessions. Also what
indoor sports provision is planned and will local clubs have access?
What will the impact be on traffic if the school recruits from across the
whole borough. rather than from a very local catchment area?
What are your plans to consult with non-faith primary schools? Given
how many non-faith admissions places are to be on offer, I would have
expected consultation to be wider than just CofE primary schools.
Are non-faith schools being consulted?
Has there been any consultation with TfL?
Are we confident in the projected numbers with regards new builds as
the need without these is only 3 or 4 form[s of entry]?
You mentioned in your consultation document that the school will help
meet the additional needs of those moving to the area in view of
Crossrail 2. This has now been shelved as part of agreed funding for

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A44










ANNEX B

TfL going forward. This will thus impact on the proposed increase in
numbers of school places. Has this not removed a central tenet of the
argument for a new school?
Can I ask for the clarification over the build time please if a delay will
occur due to the [slow worm] species on site? has that been built into
the date that you have mentioned?
Is there a plan for the school's teaching and facilities to focus/excel in
particular fields e.g. art, science, sport? And what sports facilities are
planned to be offered e.g. hockey pitch, access to Kingsmeadow
athletics grounds etc?
Could you clarify if there was a firing range on the site? It was an Air
Training Corps/Air Cadets HQ from 1947 until about 10 years ago
Where is the access to the school site likely to be from?
Was KT3 considered, there seems to be a lack of co-educational
schools in that area?
In my opinion, there is no need for this school - we have capacity in our
secondary schools.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A45

ANNEX B

Key Findings
The following section details Key Findings that can be considered by the decision
maker: the elected members of the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames.
These Key Findings have been produced aligned to both the quantitative and
qualitative feedback that was received during the 4-week representation period.
1

Two-thirds of respondents to the on-line survey that supplemented the 4-week
representation period denoted their support for the establishment of Kingston
CofE Secondary School and its proposal to open in September 2024.
This augmented the support that was also evident as an outcome of the
ongoing consultation that had commenced in January 2017. Support was
received from a wide spectrum of stakeholders including local parents/carers,
local residents and representatives of South West London-based schools and
educational establishments (who constituted 10% of all of the supporters).

2

91% of respondents to the on-line survey evidently supported the
establishment of a Specialist Resource Provision which would be an integral
part of the school and which would be co-located on the site of Kingston CofE
Secondary School.

3

An evident and tangible theme that was identified during the 4-week
representation period was that the establishment of Kingston CofE Secondary
School would furnish greater choice among local parents/carers as to the type
of secondary education their child(ren) could access.

4

Support for the establishment of Kingston CofE Secondary School repeatedly
aligned to a recognition (from stakeholders, including local residents) that the
Kingston locality was experiencing an expansion in dwelling numbers (for
example, at the Cambridge estate) and therefore an associated increase in
the number of resident local families.

5

Support for the admissions policy was denoted by two-thirds of the
respondents to the on-line survey – however, the theme of localised
geography and which families could access the proposed school (aligned to
an area of residence) was evidently a subject which was recurrently
highlighted by such respondents.

6

An objection to the establishment of Kingston CofE Secondary School was
most frequently qualified – by a relevant respondent to the on-line survey –
as being due to an opposition to faith schools. Although analysis of the
qualitative feedback suggested that some responses may have been part of a
co-ordinated and systematically organised ‘call’ to respond in this way, it was

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A46

ANNEX B

also evident that a number of such concerns were genuine, thoughtful and
based on a personal aversion to faith schools.
7

Objections to the proposed site of Kingston CofE Secondary School5 were
most frequently aligned to environmental issues and themes, including the
fact that it was a green space hosting trees, and the fact that it evidently
hosted a population of slow worms for which successful translocation to
another site could pose challenges.

8

A number of respondents opposed to the establishment of Kingston CofE
Secondary School challenged its need aligned to (their perception of) likely
forecast increases/changes to pupil numbers for the Royal Borough.

5

Subject to full feasibility and formal relevant local authority committee approval in due course, the Royal Borough
of Kingston upon Thames (Council) will lease part of the Kingsmeadow site for the school. That location will
enable the school principally to serve future cohorts of children living in Kingston and Norbiton - the areas where
some children have been unplaced at the initial offers stage for the last few years.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A47

ANNEX B

Annex 1 – Qualitative responses
The following Table presents the responses that were provided to the Question:
Do you have any additional comments or suggestions you would like us to consider?
Name
Geraldine
Burgess

Supportive Qualitative Feedback: In my opinion…
The need for a secondary unit for children and young people is very
welcome. I am also pleased a percentage of pupils will need to be part of
a worshipping community. St Peter's Church would like to be considered
as a ‘link Church’ to the school, being involved in communal worship and
opening the church to welcome families.

Clive Clarke

With the approved expansion of the Cambridge Estate I feel our
community will be in dire need of additional educational locations.

Tina James

We need to preserve Christian beliefs. I am very proud of the education
that I received from CofE schools.

Sarah
Lusznat

A new secondary school is very much needed in the area.

Pam Davies

Owen Wild

I believe that the provision of a Church of England Secondary School in
Kingston will not only provide necessary additional places but will also
give more choice to parents and pupils.
I believe the admissions policy is a good balance of local need and
ensuring the school has a Christian core. I assume the metric would be
similar to others with a vicar signing a form of regular church attendance
for two years. We desperately need a mixed school in this area (and an
additional option for boys). I live in KT3 (postcode area) and the two
nearest schools are both for girls. Next is a Catholic boys school I cannot
access as it is oversubscribed by Catholics. Then a boys comprehensive.
There is no mixed school option for my children. The location in the
borough seems sensible, as is the sizing. I would like to see some
certainty around access to the neighbouring sports facilities. My one
concern is the same as with any new school - the first kids to join are
always the oldest. From year seven onwards they have no older peers.

Elizabeth
Smart

I agree that a secondary school is much needed in this area. Currently
there is lack of choice for children in Surbiton who are not Catholic or who
do not meet entry requirements for the selective grammar schools.
What I am less sure about is whether any new secondary school should
have any admissions criteria/restrictions according to religion?

Catherine
Carey

Perhaps to consider foundation places for CofE pupils. To ensure there
are some grounds to allow for sports/recreation.

Emily Evans

As the headteacher of a local Church of England Primary School, I think
that our parent community would be very positive about having the
opportunity to send their child on to a Church of England Secondary
School, which is not something that is currently available to them.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A48

Name
Name not
given

ANNEX B

Supportive Qualitative Feedback: In my opinion…
I am a parent of a daughter in Year 11 at Christ's School Richmond.
It is a fabulous school caring for the whole child with a real emphasis on
family. She has had so many great opportunities to grow academically
and as a person. Not only do they treat my daughter as an individual, they
have time for parents too! I receive great feedback, and appreciate the
genuine interest which they take in my child. I'd want every child and
parent to experience school like this! We were fortunate to get a
foundation place living in KT1 postcode area. How amazing would it be to
have a provision like this on our doorstep! I wholeheartedly support this
proposal.

Michael
Hartley

I am involved with the governance of the Southwark Diocesan Board of
Education (SDBE). The experience and resources of the SDBE make it
an excellent sponsor, giving the school a very good foundation.

Sarah
Roberts

That it be open to all children in the borough no matter where they are
resident in the borough.

Daniela
Sprange

A school such as this is much needed in the community/area. Families
are leaving the area due to concern over secondary school places and
leaving the local church and local community which is such a shame.

Eils Osgood

As the minister at St John's Church in New Malden, very close to the
proposed site of the school, I am excited by the proposal and would hope
to take every opportunity for supporting and working together in
partnership.

David
Greenfield

1. There are a number of Church of England primary schools in the
borough but no secondary schools, so I think this would fill a gap in the
choice of schools for parents;
2. The new school would be helpful, given the increase in the local
population.

Isobel
Robinson

I am delighted that Kingston's much-needed new secondary school is
going to have Voluntary Aided status; also that it will offer provision for
pupils with social communication skills and autism.

Josh
Chamberlin

This school sounds amazing and I fully support the proposal.
As a headteacher at a local Church of England Junior School, I am very
aware of the lack of variety of Church of England secondary schools
locally. The proposal sounds appropriate and the ethos and plan for the
school sounds really exciting. The special resource provision is especially
exciting, both fitting with the school’s Christian vision and meeting a need
for greater SEN provision locally.

Lydia Rhodes

Can it open earlier in 2023 to match the increase in demand for that year?

Julia
Loveland

I think it is very important it is open to all faiths or none equally. I would
like there to be an intention to have a sixth form.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A49

Name
Peter Jeens

ANNEX B

Supportive Qualitative Feedback: In my opinion…
With work due to start in June/July 2021 on the proposed phased
demolition and densification of the Cambridge Road Estate, the new
estate will see a predicted 5-8 fold increase in its current population over
the 10 year build plan. This proposed Church school represents a very
real lifeline to future youth of school age with little other evidence being
presented to show any solid commitment to the large increase in
infrastructure required to support this increase in population, with
developers partnership already emphasising the increase in family
dwelling units of two, three, four and even five bedroom units inevitably
leading to a corresponding enlarging of the estates school age
population. The provision of a new school must be seen as an essential
future provision for this Parish. As a former Norbiton parish youth worker,
and current chair of the Cambridge Road Estates Residents Association i
have to tell you that the Cambridge Road estate lies wholly within the
Parish of Norbiton and is classified as the most deprived area of the
Borough of Kingston Upon Thames falling as it does, within 20% of the
most deprived areas of England. This proposal, if it succeeds, with the
weight of the Church of England behind it and its associated experience
and specialist expertise to drive it forward is an altogether much more
serious proposition than a recent failed attempt at establishing a school in
the Parish. A church school offering a faith foundation across its curricula
will also help pupils bridge the personal socio economic gaps between
them that will be a reflection of coming from a Parish containing
Cambridge Road Estate as discussed above, and the lower reaches of
Kingston Hill being one of the most affluent areas in the entire Capital - all
within the small area of the Parish boundary - and adding up to an area of
staggering socio economic diversity. My experience as a Parish youth
worker in a Church youth club that drew its members from across the
Borough (but predominantly from within my estate), lead to the personally
surprising finding that young people from the estate suffered from various
degrees of dyslexia that was undiagnosed by their school, with a
reluctance founded perhaps in the notion that such diagnosis would have
required extra financing that they did not have, in order to enable
specialist support staff allocations to any such diagnosed pupils.
So is the allocation of the seemingly arbitrary figure of only 20 places
available for pupils with social communication needs enough, and how
was this figure obtained? In closing, the former vicar of the local Parish
Church of St Peters in Norbiton was a sad and unexpected victim of the
current Covid pandemic. As well as spending much time in his over 20
year incumbency campaigning and arguing for the establishment of a faith
based school in his Parish, one feels that his elevation to a higher, albeit
more ethereal plane, places him much closer to the ear of those with true
authority to determine this matter. Meanwhile in the more corporeal world,
the two hundred plus people who lined the streets of the route of the
funeral cortege in order to pay their socially distanced respect and due
reverence to him and his work for the people of the Church and the
Borough, along with his dear and more immediate family of a
schoolteacher wife and four children would be delighted at the
benevolence of any authority who chose to name a Norbiton Parish faith
based school after the Reverend Peter Holmes, as a legacy of a man
whose vocation helped so many achieve the potential he had seen in
them.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A50

ANNEX B

Name
Martin
Brecknell

Supportive Qualitative Feedback: In my opinion…
I agree with the proposed new VA School with the proviso that the
admission numbers going foreword for the next 10 years support the
requirement for an additional Secondary School within the catchment area
of the proposed school.

Gary Quinn

I feel there is a huge gap in secondary Church School education in the
area.

Peter
Haddock

Rosaria
Winstone

I support the proposal for the new Church of England Primary School for a
number of reasons: Firstly, I am a member of the congregation of Saint
Peter's Church in Norbiton, Kingston, which I believe will be the Parish
church for the new school. In April 2020 our vicar, Reverend Peter
Holmes, sadly died after contracting Covid-19. For many years he
campaigned for a new Church School in the Kingston area and felt that
Kingston is well served in terms of CofE Primary Schools but there has
been a lack of choice regarding a faith secondary school. His passion for
the project was infectious and I too believe a church secondary school
would be a real benefit to the local community, for families from a faith
background and those who are not as well. I also live in the Norbiton area.
I have step children who have attended local single sex schools but really
in terms of mixed secondary schools there is only Holyfield within a close
distance which my step son attends - this is a good school but it would
have been better to have had more choice in terms of mixed gender
schools. My young son is currently in primary school and my wife and I
would definitely send him to a local faith secondary school within our
parish. I am currently a headteacher in the Merton Local Authority in a
church primary school within the Southwark Diocese. I can see how well a
faith ethos supports children in their personal development and I think the
possibility of a Church of England School within our parish in Norbiton,
Kingston would be of huge benefit to the young people growing up in what
is a relatively deprived area of Kingston. I think a Church of England
Secondary School in the proposed area of Kingston would be life
changing for many of the local children, many of whom will be affected in
the coming years with the re-development of the Cambridge estate, as
well as catching up from the effects of the covid pandemic on their
education. I therefore fully support the proposals and I would also hope
my local church, St Peter's which will be the Parish church of the new
school, will also be supportive of this exciting development.
A church school will bring the core values required to ensure a better
rounded individual will come through the school process. There isn’t
enough of this in non-Religious schools. Volunteering, respect, grounded
core values. Over the last few decades this has been stripped from
schools and at a cost to society.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A51

Name
Susan
Mcdonnell
Ysanne
Rickards

Simon
Osborn

ANNEX B

Supportive Qualitative Feedback: In my opinion…
I fully support the proposal and admissions system.
I fully support this proposal to build a Church of England Secondary
School in Kingston. Having worked at 2 Church of England primary
schools in the Borough, I am acutely aware of the desires of parents for
their children to continue with a Church of England education through to
secondary school.
I am supportive of a new school in principle. I would be very keen to see
my children go to a Church of England school and we live on the edge of
Kingston borough in an area where there is poor secondary school
provision. However, I think you should provide more details of the site on
which the school is proposed to be built. The statutory proposal does not
say. It is not clear what part of Kingsmeadow but this implies it is a
greenfield site in which case I am not so keen, as we need to preserve
our green space. There must be so many Brownfield sites that could be
used. Retail demand is collapsing and large stores are closing such as
Homebase on Kingston Road. Use those for a school rather than a
Greenfield site. So, very keen in principle, but it depends where it is.
Let's not tarmac and concrete over more green space.

Anne
Knowles

As a parent of children who attended a Church of England primary school
in the area and received a first class education, I am strongly in favour of
a secondary school.

Margaret
Tulloch

If the school is to go ahead I think it should have all places open to the
community without any reserved places for CofE applicants.

Reverend
Derek Holbird

Virginia
Holden

I served as Diocesan Director of Education in Guildford Diocese, and am
therefore aware of the excellent service to their all their communities of
RBK and SDBE schools. I am extremely positive about the establishment
of a C of E VA Secondary School to augment the existing high standard of
provision. The budget seems extremely reasonable for a secondary
school building and I am delighted to see that plans include Specialist
Resource Provision. I am assured that there is an identified need for this
provision and wish the scheme every success.
Much needed, especially the Special[ist] Resource Provision.

Emma Crowe

It would be wonderful to have another secondary school as there is
pressure and anxiety about good secondary school places.
The ethos of this proposed school sounds excellent.

Andrew
Williams

I strongly support this proposal to develop a Church of England
Secondary School in the Kingston area.

Jo Rice

More schools the better. Great idea.

Olga
Vysotska

Thank you!

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A52

ANNEX B

Name
Dr Anthony
Pullen

Supportive Qualitative Feedback: In my opinion…
As a former foundation governor of Malden Parochial School (CofE
Voluntary aided Primary School) I welcome the addition of a CofE
Secondary School in Kingston. It would widen parental choice in
secondary education and complement the existing RC secondary schools
(Richard Challenor, Holy Cross). It would satisfy a need, insofar it would
provide a secondary school choice other than the RC schools for CofE
families wanting a Christian ethos for educating their family.
Inclusion of a specialist resource for secondary level pupils with
communication needs is particularly welcome and would provide an extra
resource to complement statuary speech and language therapy services
which are in high demand.

Elizabeth
Pullen

As a local resident, church member and retired speech and language
therapist working with children with social communication difficulties, I am
delighted that this school proposes to have a specialist resource for
students with ASD. As the primary ASD provision is directly over the road
at King's Oak School, this would make transition to the secondary
provision very much easier. Thank you.

Sarah
Thomas

All areas must be fully accessible with suitable disabled toilets
Why is there not a sixth form? There are big problems with further
education. This may well be particularly difficult for SEND children.
I agree totally with caring ethos of the school, but some parents of other
faiths or no faith may be put off by the strong Christian atmosphere of the
school.

Alison Venn

Andrew
Fursland

Rhys Pullen

I am a former teacher and lay representative trustee on the Southwark
Diocesan Board of Education and as such I am fully supportive of the
proposal to establish an inclusive, non-selective, co-educational school in
the borough of Kingston-Upon-Thames.
All publicly funded schooling should be secular. I do not agree with
continuing this out-dated model of education in the UK, especially where
new schools are being considered.
This school is very much needed, especially because (i) there is a
shortage of local secondary school places in the northern part of the
borough and (ii) there are a number of CofE primary schools but not at
secondary level. This new school will help address this lacuna.

Bart Erlebach

It is a very exciting plan to have a Church of England Secondary School in
an area where there is no such provision currently. I want to commend the
involvement of the charity Insight in the new school. Insight are so good at
being involved with both primary and secondary schools in the borough.
http://www.insightinkingston.com

Sheena
Evans

Brilliant to hear that a traditional secondary school with Christian values
will be there for Kingston's children.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A53

Name
David Hill

Abigail
Tresise

ANNEX B

Supportive Qualitative Feedback: In my opinion…
There is a need in this Borough for a Secondary School with a Christian
ethos of inclusiveness and service to the community and respect for all of
its members, especially the weakest and less privileged among us. It
would be important that this school is not exclusive and is open to
residents of all faiths or none. Whilst academic achievement would of
course continue be very important, hopefully a similar emphasis would be
placed upon the ethos of good citizenship and ethical behaviour within the
family, the school and the wider community service and involvement - as
part of the curriculum.
I LOVE the idea of an autism department. I am a student in Year 11 at
Christ's School, looking to go into teaching, perhaps SEND in a special
school. I would 100% consider coming to work here - Christ's is absolutely
fab and has been the best experience, I want that for my future kids, and
others in my area!

Keith Keen

A Church of England Secondary School at Kingsmeadow will be a
welcome addition to secondary school choice in Kingston. It will be
geographically well located in the borough.

Janice Price

Church of England schools have a high reputation and educational
standards at secondary level. Such a school will be welcome in Kingston.

Robert
Stanier

I think this would be a fantastic addition to Kingston schools: the first
CofE secondary while we have nine CofE in the primary sector.

Rebecca
Munoz

I think this is good forward planning and that a new secondary school will
be a good thing for Kingston.

Gareth Jones

Much needed.

Eileen
Perryer

I think that it is excellent that the area is to have a Voluntary Aided CofE
Secondary School in Kingston. It will fulfil a long-standing need.

Michael
JohnsPerring

As the parent of an autistic child the proposed Specialist Resource
Provision is really wonderful news.

Karen
Wellman

My plea as a member of clergy is that the school has provision for places
for clergy children as in year admissions. As priests we are called where
we are called but that calling should not be at the cost of our children's
wellbeing when they have to travel long distances as the local schools are
now oversubscribed.

Priscilla
Chadwick

This is a long overdue proposal.

Suzan Baker

Excellent idea - much needed.

Abigail
Macfarlane

Please do include children from the south of the borough.
St Paul's CofE Chessington is a superb church school. Having a church
school as an option for secondary is an unexpected piece of good news.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A54

ANNEX B

Name
Paul
Thompson

Supportive Qualitative Feedback: In my opinion…
I strongly support this. A Church of England school in Kingston is long
overdue.

David Cryer

Whilst I welcome another secondary school in the area I do not believe
that there should be provided by faith based schools whatever the
admission policy, and believe that this would reduce the pressure on the
council to provide high quality secular education which is something I
should oppose.

Name not
given

What a great chance to develop our Kingston boroughs education system.

Paul
Thompson

I strongly support this. A Church of England school in Kingston is long
overdue.

Lorna Barks

Dawn Procter

Ken Morrison
Tom Davies

Peter Evans

We would be thrilled for there to be a Church of England state secondary
school. We will wholly support this proposal. Our children are currently at
a Church of England primary school in the borough and there is a real gap
for good state Church of England secondary provision.
The choices especially for boys are very limited currently.
I do believe that Kingston needs another Secondary school but I am not in
favour of grammar or faith schools. I believe in a comprehensive system
where children of all abilities and faiths learn together to develop
understanding, empathy and tolerance. I am in favour for further SEND
provision and would support a provision of autism.
A secondary school which is able to cater effectively for children with
social communication needs and autism would be very welcome in our
borough.
I support any development of secondary education in the borough; the
current choices are not broad enough.
More school places are required in the Borough. However, Religion and
education are separate matters and it is inappropriate for the Church of
England to impose further constraints on the ethos of education in the
area by taking an active interest in a new secondary school.
Personal experience from CofE led primary schools in the Borough
suggest that children not linked to the CofE will be marginalized by the
policies and behaviours of the school and its leadership in favour of those
children from families that have Christianity as their faith.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A55

Name
Sivi
Sivanesan

Jane
Colombo

Patricia
Brown

Sonia
Lodge
Alex Roe
Vanessa
Sinet

ANNEX B

Supportive Qualitative Feedback: In my opinion…
While I have no issue with a school being built in the community, and
support the need for it, I do have a problem with the proposed location for
the school as it will further displace a local important population of slow
worms. As a species we are building on every scrap of green space and
killing and displacing the species that rely on those spaces. In your role as
a church and in the leadership as an educator, you should lead by
example and not build on green space to create this needed resource.
Instead you should look for a location which does not negatively impact
local biodiversity and reduce valuable green space for wildlife and people.
Lead by example by ensuring that your plans do not lead to the continued
loss of biodiversity in this area, making the area poorer for the species
that try to survive in this world alongside us. Kingston Council could have
placed this school in the Eden Walk area etc. where there were derelict
buildings, instead, the choice to build on more public green space is
indicative of the continued acidic erosion of space needed for people to
breath, forcing them into smaller and smaller green islands, which are
only protected due to other species. The end result of this destructive
cycle is the destruction of those areas for the very species they are
supposed to protect, as we take over spaces for our amenity.
We can't afford to keep losing publicly accessible amenity space and the
CofE should take a stance to ensure that they are not adding to the
destruction of the local natural environment by being complicit in the
removal of public amenity space for development.
It would be nice to see this school being underpinned by Church of
England values but also having a fair admissions process, accepting
anyone possibly just by distance and offering high quality education to all,
regardless of background.
As a local resident and parent, and ex-teacher and current Governor of a
local primary school, I am aware of the need for further secondary school
places in Kingston. I think this would be a great opportunity for the
increasing number of potential secondary pupils in the Borough.
The proposed admissions criteria would allow places for children from the
local faith schools, but encompassing all from the area. I would also
welcome the community engagement and use of facilities that might be
available.
I have small concerns about the potential increase in traffic to the area,
but welcome the identification that students would have a good service of
public transport.
I would suggest consideration be made for adequate car parking for staff,
the best candidates may not all live locally.
I hope that we in Wimbledon will be able to gain places at the school.
A CofE secondary school in Kingston is long-overdue.
SEN provision within Kingston is needed so I fully support this.
There are already a number of great schools which need more support
from local residents by enrolling their children there, these schools are
also offering/can offer a SRP and a 6th form. There is no need for another
school in Kingston, there is a need for more support for existing schools.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A56

ANNEX B

Name
Susan
Hawker
Anna
Edwards
Lauren

Supportive Qualitative Feedback: In my opinion…
It would also have been desirable to have a faith characteristic sixth form.

Catherine
Young

Can you open for 2023 please? The Borough of Kingston has a large
number of CofE primary schools and then the current secondary provision
is severely lacking (unless you are Catholic). This is a much-needed
school.

Name not
given

The special resource provision shouldn’t be reliant on EHCP as some
children need extra support despite being autistic but apparently not
‘autistic enough’ to get an EHCP.

Adam Rylett

It will be great for this school to be available as a resource to bless the
local community out of school hours too.

None, but whole heartedly support, its much needed.
I support the need for an SRP but feel further discussion needs to be held
with the local authority as to gaps in need for SRP as ASD is quite well
supported at Hollyfield and Kingston Academy.

Dr Jo Taussig I am very pleased to support the creation of this school as a local
resident, school governor and local parent - this will bring more choice for
local parents and also much needed provision for pupils with autism.
Marilyn
Mason

I understand the admission policy but do not support it. I do not think that
religious beliefs should be any part of admission or employment policies.
Nor do I think that a school (or any other development) should encroach
on open space, of which we already have too little in Kingston.

Sharon
Moughtin

This would be an extremely valuable addition to the area's secondary
schools. The Specialist Resource Provision for pupils with additional
communication needs and autism would be particularly welcome.

Richard
Cheetham

As the former Chair of Southwark Diocesan Board of Education, as well
as being Bishop of Kingston, I am strongly in favour of this proposal.
This is particularly as (1) Kingston is one of very few boroughs which does
not already have a Church of England secondary school (2) I have seen
St Cecilia's School, Wandsworth, develop from a new build and, 18 years
later, it provides real evidence that Southwark Diocesan Board of
Education has the capacity both to develop and to run a very successful
secondary school.

Brenda
Mitchell

I am a retired ex-Headteacher of a Kingston School and a Governor of a
local school. i have always been surprised that there has been no
Secondary School for families that wish to continue their education in a
CofE school. We have many 'faith' primary schools in our small Royal
Borough and believe that a new CofE Secondary school will be an asset
to pupils in the years to come.

T Rutter

I believe this provision would be of great benefit to the community of
Kingston and therefore I am in favour of the proposal for the Kingston
Church of England Secondary School.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A57

Name
Name not
given

Sandra
Holdsworth
Reverend
Annie Kurk

David

Olga

Alison Pope

ANNEX B

Supportive Qualitative Feedback: In my opinion…
I disagree that 60 of the 180 entry slots each year will NOT be free to all
regardless of faith. Taxpayer funded schools are funded with secular
funds and as such should have no faith-based requirements. Were it not
for this requirement, I would whole-heartedly support this school being
opened - we need it desperately.
As a governor of a Church of England primary school I have seen firsthand the ethos of such a school. This would be a welcome addition to the
borough.
The pandemic has brought into focus the need for pastoral provision for
young people and this school, as a Christian place of education, will show
Kingston's determination to support and increase its commitment in that
respect.
I would like to see the applications criteria linked more to those who are
practicing a faith. I also believe that the requirements of children with
special educational needs are best served at specialist facilities and not
combined with ‘main stream’ schools.
I don’t have any suggestions but in my opinion a new secondary school is
needed in Kingston borough. Demand for both primary and secondary
places is high.
The local area is in need of a secondary school so this proposal is
welcome, however the lack of a Sixth Form is disappointing. I suspect as
a result it would not be a first choice for those who anticipate their children
will do A levels and would prefer a 11-18 consistent provision.

Helen
Hancock

This is an exciting new development for many in the Borough of faith and
no faith and I strongly support it.

Catherine
Tebb

It is inequitable to reserve 1/3 of the places for churchgoing C of E
Christians as they do not form a third of our population (except when
suddenly attending church in order to get a school place).

Lucille Bethell I would like the school to ensure that the number of places for SEN
students is high enough to support the boroughs needs. I would also be
interested in knowing if the school will have a specialism.
Rachel
Valero

I feel it is a shame there will not be a sixth form provision. Although I’m
assuming a sixth form may be added as the pupils progress through the
years. Clarification on this would be appreciated. The Norbiton area is in
desperate need of an outstanding secondary school- in particular for
boys. As Norbiton residents and parents of both a boy and a girl, we feel
with Coombs Girls we have excellent secondary provision for our
daughter but there is no outstanding provision for our son.
We are extremely keen for a secondary school to be established which
will provide outstanding education for boys too.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A58

Name
Janet
Lightfoot

Peter Organ

John
Dewhurst

Alun Hughes

Amanda
Blackburn

ANNEX B

Supportive Qualitative Feedback: In my opinion…
It is important for parents to have the option of selecting a Church of
England secondary school education for their child.
I'm a parent of an autistic child who went to a similarly set-up secondary
school in the London Borough of Bexley and this model enabled him to
access GCSE level learning with the support he needed, and he now
been able to move on to college as a result. Having children on the
spectrum in the school, sharing classes had a positive effect on the
children who weren't as well.
As Lay Chair of the Kingston Deanery Synod, I fully support this proposal.
The addition of the CofE secondary school to the RBK school offer to
parents and their children will be a very significant benefit. The proposal
to include a Special Resource Provision for pupils with autism is
especially welcome.
In addition to the physical location of the SPRP within the building that a
truly integrative policy would be adopted to include such pupils,
where/when appropriate in school wide and year wide curriculum and
extra curriculum activities.
I fully support the proposal for a Church of England voluntary aided
Secondary School in Kingston. There are no other church secondary
schools in the area and this should be an offer to parents who wish to
apply for a foundation place. I also feel that having a specialist resource
base for secondary aged pupils that require it would be extremely
beneficial for the local area.

Christina
Coroyannakis

There is serious need for more secondary schools.
Please support this proposal.

Name not
given

Much needed requirement for the area.

Name not
given

Religion has no place in modern education admissions criteria.
Please make sure it is mixed sex.

Lisa Rickerby
Penny SmithOrr

There is an identified need for additional secondary school places in the
Borough and currently no Church of England secondary provision choice
for parents and pupils in this area. This proposal gives parents the choice
of a church of England education.

Kate Priestley I would fully support this application.
Lucinda
Fletcher

London as a whole desperately needs new secondary schools!
I think it needs to clearer that pupils from all faiths would be welcome.

Nerrissa Bear

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A59

Name
North
Kingston
Forum
(via letter to
SDBE)

ANNEX B

Supportive Qualitative Feedback: In my opinion…
I am writing to you on behalf of the North Kingston Neighbourhood Forum,
which represents the residents of Canbury and Tudor wards in Kingston
upon Thames. The NK Forum is in the process of preparing a
Neighbourhood Plan for the area, which is due to be submitted for Reg.14
public consultation shortly. Once formally adopted, the North Kingston
Neighbourhood Plan will sit alongside the Council’s statutory planning
policies. Although the NK Forum area does not include the location of the
proposed Kingston Church of England Secondary School, our proximity to
the proposed site at Kingsmeadow in the adjacent Norbiton ward, means
that families in Canbury ward in particular, would potentially be able to
access the school. The North Kingston Neighbourhood Plan notes that
forecast demand for secondary school places remains high and in the
short term is managed through temporary expansions. However, there
remains a requirement for additional secondary school places to meet the
needs of existing and future residents of North Kingston - as indicated in
Achieving for Children’s School Place Planning Strategy (November
2020). Current GLA population projections indicate an ~11% increase
borough-wide by 2030, potentially placing further strain on school
placements. The Forum has been monitoring the progress of the
Southwark Diocesan Board of Education’s bid to establish a new
voluntary-aided secondary school in the Norbiton area, and believes this
proposal currently represents the best opportunity to meet the needs of a
growing population in North Kingston. The NK Forum notes that the
proposed Kingston Church of England Secondary School will be:
• a non-selective, co-educational inclusive school, open to all children
from all backgrounds. Children from families of any faith or no faith will be
able to gain admission;
• six forms of entry with 30 pupils per form. 120 of the 180 places per year
group will be ‘open’ places with no reference to faith;
• a maximum of 60 places will be offered to pupils who, with a
parent/carer, is a regular worshipper in an Anglican or other qualifying
Christian Church;
• in accordance with the law, children with an Education Health and Care
Plan will be admitted to the school where the Local Authority has
specifically named Kingston Church of England Secondary School as the
most appropriate placement.
So far as the proposed secondary school remains predominantly
nonselective and open to all children from all backgrounds and faiths, the
North Kingston Neighbourhood Forum supports this application.
The proposed site is outside of the remit of the NK Forum so we have not
formally assessed its suitability, other than to confirm that North Kingston
families will fall within its catchment area. However, we are aware that the
Kingsmeadow site currently includes mature trees and open grounds with
some biodiversity value, and therefore strongly urge the applicant to
undertake a robust biodiversity assessment using locally-based
consultants who understand the local environment, as well as Kingston
University and the Council’s Biodiversity Officer.
Yours faithfully Diane Watling Chair, on behalf of the North Kingston
Neighbourhood Forum Committee

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A60

Name
Rosemarie
Mallett

ANNEX B

Supportive Qualitative Feedback: In my opinion…
This is a school for local young people, looking to help strengthen local
connections and community cohesion. This is so necessary and I fully
support these objectives and the opening of this school.

Name not
given

There’s a huge shortage of school places in the area and an ever growing
population of children needing local education. As a church goer and a
parent of a child at Christ’s school I feel strongly that this new school is
essential.

Edward
Mountney

With the Kingston population growing, and substantial new developments
planned such as the CRE, now is the time to act and recognise the future
need for more education in the local area.

Absolutely brilliant idea - the area desperately needs more high quality
Rachel Taylor secondary schools which are available without paying fees or sitting
exams! A church secondary school would be a great addition - we have
so many church primary schools but no secondary school.
Jerry Field

I strongly support the proposal for this school and very much hope it goes
ahead.

Susan
Hegarty

I think it will be very good for the local community and will provide much
needed schooling for local families with a good church ethos.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A61

Name
Tom Wilks

Stavros
Denaxas

Vera

Ben Cohen

Suzannah
Dickinson

ANNEX B

Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…
This is just an extension of the malign influence of the Church of England
on education in the borough. We already have a divisive primary school
system where the CofE schools serve a middle class group of parents
and the borough has a small number of ‘sink schools’ - excellent schools
with a very diverse school population (my children attended them) - but
with many challenges associated with a substantially disadvantaged
group of primary school pupils.
The extension of these divides into the secondary sector is really
outrageous as it will create a further conduit to class based education
within the borough and will no doubt continue to exclude poorer families
from diverse backgrounds. What we need is support for current provision.
At the very least these proposals should be subjected to a through
equalities audit before anything else happens.
A taxpayer funded school should not discriminate between faiths for the
admissions process. There should be separation between church and
state. Every space in the school should be equal.
I do not think it acceptable that schools should be allowed to use the
criterion of a parent's professed faith when deciding who should or should
not be admitted to the school. Religious faith, or lack of, is a private
matter.
I understand the admissions policy but I do not support it.
The reason I do not support it is that potentially 60 places in each year
group will be selected by faith, which is discriminatory.
I believe schools should support all children regardless of their religious
beliefs and be fully inclusive. However, despite being fully funded by the
state this school will exclude children in this way in a third of cases.
The school's ‘distinctive Christian character’ of the school will involve
partisan RE and collective worship which will not be suitable for the many
non-Christian and non-religious families in Kingston. For these reasons I
wholly oppose the proposal. The discriminatory nature of this school will
be a divisive force in the community separating neighbours and friends on
the grounds of religious belief driving segregation in Kingston.
The cap proposed could be changed in future from 30% to 100%
increasing this divide. Preventing children from mixing freely in schools
that welcome children equally regardless of their faith does not reflect the
modern and inclusive nature of the Borough of Kingston.
I am a local parent who has experienced the challenge of finding
appropriate non-religious secondary education for my daughter this year
in 2021 and will face this again in 2025 with my youngest child.
The proposed school will not serve my child's needs and sends a
dangerous message that Kingston Council prioritised the needs of
Christian children over her and she is not entitled to equal opportunities
as a non-Christian. I call upon the Council to reject this proposal and
instead fund schools that support pupils from all backgrounds and faiths.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A62

Name

Pauline
Sagoe

Emma Knight

Nigel Duffin

ANNEX B

Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…
Whatever their family culture/religion, children should not be labelled in
school in a way that separates them from others. They must learn to think
rationally, develop self-awareness, have thought and care for others and
base opinions on fact and experience. School should be about developing
self-awareness and knowing you are part of the human race. School is
about guiding the young to live in community and not fear difference.
A Church of England school would not be representative of the diverse
cultures and beliefs of the local community, or the nation as a whole.
According to the 2011 census the overwhelming majority of UK residents
have no interest in attending church and the likelihood is that the 2021
census will show that an even larger percentage do not follow the Church
of England. If another secondary school is necessary within the borough,
it should not promote one ideology or set of beliefs over another,
particularly not one so out of touch with modern society, in relation to it's
stance on LGBTQ+ citizens; how can the school claim that pupils who
identify as such will be valued and respected when adults should not be
allowed to marry according to the CofE?
I am opposed to sectarian school provision. It seems that we learn
nothing from Northern Ireland. Of course, children need to understand
those of other faiths or no faith, but this can be done in an open
environment. We should be trying to encourage children to live and work
together irrespective of religion.

Georgina
Mellors

I feel strongly that no tax payer funded school should be allowed an
admissions policy based on ANY religion.

Helen
Crimble

I object to the provision of any school which is able to control admissions
on the basis of religion. This is not representative of the local area and
means children even if they live close to the school will be queue jumped
by children based on their parents religious persuasion. Due to the nature
of oversubscription in the Kingston area any choice of school is purely an
illusion and admissions are based not on your preference of school but
distance. As a non-religious parent of a child at a religious primary school
this was my experience with children living much further away getting
places over local children. The school is therefore not representative of
the community.
I also find the education received highly biased by religious viewpoints.
Parents should have the ability to send their child to a local school to mix
with children from a diverse cultural and religious and non-religious
background representative of their local area, not one artificially chosen
by religious privilege and receive inclusive education. Parents unless they
are religious, are not choosing a school based on anything but distance
yet they are forced if the closest is religious to have imposed religious
collective worship and a restricted curriculum. My child finds it confusing
to be constantly told about God when she knows her parents do not

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A63

ANNEX B

believe. I am happy to have conversations about different beliefs, but this
bias should have no part in an educational setting.
I object that a school funded by taxpayers is able to restrict the school
curriculum on the basis of religion.
Name
Tony
Lancaster

Andrew
Woodward

Dr Michael
Budden

Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…
I believe that state-funded schools should serve their local communities
equally and should not be able to turn any pupil away because of their
religious background. This entirely state funded school proposes to do
just that in a third of cases. In addition, the ‘distinctive Christian character’
of the school – which will include partisan RE and collective worship – will
mean that, even where places are available, the school will not be
suitable for many local families who are non-religious or have other faith
beliefs. For this reason, I entirely oppose the proposal. Religious selection
is discriminatory and seriously threatens social integration in the local
area. The Church of England has long claimed that its schools are not
faith schools for the faithful, but Church schools for the whole community.
Indeed, one Church primary school in Kingston has dropped the use of
faith-based criteria altogether. With this in mind, I see no reason a new
school funded entirely by the state should reserve any of its places for
children with a Christian background. All children, regardless of the school
they attend, have the right to receive a broad and balanced education free
from religious bias alongside peers from a diverse range of backgrounds.
On the basis of its proposed admissions policy and overarching Christian
character, I am not convinced that Kingston CofE Secondary School will
adequately meet this aim. Indeed, even if plans for the school were to
move ahead without any religious selection – which is the absolute
minimum standard necessary to be described as open to the wider
community – there is still very good reason to oppose the proposal on the
grounds of its partisan curriculum. I am, therefore, firmly of the view that
the Council should reject this proposal and seek only to fund schools that
adequately cater to pupils from all backgrounds equally.
I do not agree with 60 places being reserved for Faith pupils, which I find
to be unnecessarily divisive and discriminatory. This gives faith parents an
unfair advantage in gaining access to their local tax payer funded school,
and will result in children of non-faith parents losing places to children of
faith parents living further away. The school is being built because there is
a local need - surely all children deserve equal access to their nearest
state funded school? Sadly, having a CofE school in your borough
equates to Christian parents having an unfair advantage in accessing
school places – surely not the intention? How can this be justified in a
secular society or indeed any fair society?
Religion should have no place in state-funded education.
If a church or mosque or synagogue or temple wishes to establish a
school, all funding should come from those organisations. Although,
personally, I think there is a strong argument to ban all religious schools
as research has consistently shown that they are socially and culturally
divisive institutions. This is the 21st century, not the 19th. The very idea of
a religious school should be anathema to all but the most zealous
religionists.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A64

Fraser Miller

Name
Claire Butler

Dr Ruth
Dalton

Kellie
Gayton
Robert
Beasley

Susan Nice

ANNEX B

The education of children should be secular. In 2021, this is totally
unacceptable, keep it to Religious Studies. If the claim that the aspect of
the school being religious does not affect the standard of education, then
why does it have to be religious?
Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…
Thank you for the chance to comment. The reason that I am not
supporting the proposal to establish a new CofE voluntary aided
secondary school is because I am concerned about the plans to allow a
third of places to be selected on a faith basis as well as the focus on
Christian values and the compulsory Christian collective worship.
This school is taxpayer funded. Taxpayers are a wide range of faiths and
beliefs; the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames should celebrate
and embrace the diversity of its population. Our taxpayer services such as
schools should reflect this and should not discriminate on the basis of
faith. I am also concerned the faith based schools encourage a lack of
inter-faith integration; should the local Sikh children and the local Christian
children (for example) attend different schools that we encourage
segregation and miss an opportunity to bring people from diverse
backgrounds together to learn from each other’s experience?
I do not support the creation of another faith based school, and I do not
support any faith-based admissions tests.
I am against any faith-based education in principle as I think it has the
potential to lead to unfair treatment of some children. I feel it is
retrogressive to continue to allow religious institutions to be involved in
this and in politics, and a modern forward-looking society should be
entirely secular whilst allowing people freedom of worship without
provision of state infrastructure. In this case the proposals allow a
significant proportion of the children to be admitted according to their
religious background, and this percentage is open to alteration at any
point in the future to the point where it could even apply to 100% of the
intake. Offering 'a distinct Christian character' necessarily favours one
section of the school population over those of other faiths and none, and
risks inequalities amongst the pupil population or manipulating the intake
so that it does not reflect the ethnic and cultural mix of the population it
should be serving. The money for this school will come entirely from the
state and it should be properly inclusive. I am therefore of the opinion that
the Council should not favour the proposal and should seek a fairer
alternative that has no religious bias.
Recruiting teachers with specialist knowledge to teach dyslexic children.
All faith schools of any kind should not be allowed.
If one decides they want to pursue a religion then this should be decided
when in adulthood, not through being indoctrinated when at school.
There are so many things in life so much more important than wasting
time with religion.
I believe that this school will be unsuitable for children of families who are
non-religious or have other faith beliefs.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A65

ANNEX B

I completely oppose this proposal.

Claude
Green

Name
John Bungey

Richard
Linney

Peter
Schubel

Michael
Weinberg

Paul Curtis

It is quite unnecessary to establish faith based schools anywhere. when
the chips are down, admissions policy will be driven by faith beliefs,
despite the school being funded by taxpayers. Separation of church and
state is essential.

Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…
I'm against this proposal because I believe all schools should cater for
every section of their community. I don't think in 2021 that schools should
be allowed to select pupils because their parents, to put it bluntly, profess
to believe in an omnipotent supernatural being, Noah's Ark, miracles and
a lot of ideas that originate in the Bronze Age. Parents who choose to be
sceptical of virgin births and angelic hosts should have equal access to a
nearby school. There's plenty of research from around the world to show
that selecting pupils by "faith" is divisive. Let's have good secular,
inclusive schools for all pupils that foster rational, evidence-based
knowledge. In an age of "post-truth", conspiracy theories, anti-vaxxers
and religious fundamentalism we need them.
Any school, especially a new one, should be inclusive. In 2021 few people
have any religious affiliation and to open a school which seeks to operate
an admissions policy of segregation is wrong in every way. Education
should be open to all regardless of race, sex, gender etc, etc.
I think that state funding should not be used to support faith schools,
especially if they have admission policies that can select based on faith.
A state funded school should serve the local community equally without
discrimination and without requiring local pupils and parents to adapt to
faith practices.
Taxpayer money should NEVER fund schools that select pupils on their
religious background. If there is money available to build and support a
school, it must be spent upon building a school that ANY child can attend
and which does not discriminate. It is abhorrent to me that the populace
would pay through taxation, without choice, for a school their child may
not be entitled to attend.
I firmly believe that state-funded schools should serve their local
communities equally and should certainly not be able to turn any pupil
away because of their religious background. However, despite being fully
funded by the state, this school proposes to do just that in a third of
cases. In addition, the ‘distinctive Christian character’ of the school –
which will include partisan RE and collective worship – will mean that,
even where places are available, the school will not be suitable for many
local families who are non-religious or have other faith beliefs.
For this reason, I entirely oppose the proposal. As a non-religious family
we had great difficulty finding schools in the area untainted by religious

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A66

ANNEX B

teaching and this will exacerbate the problem. What we need in this area
is more totally secular schools. I also greatly object to my taxes funding
religious indoctrination.

Margot Ducat

Name
Paul Hay

Fran HardyPhillips

Andrew
Mendelson

Tony
Williams
Helen
Mendelson

I think all faith schools should be abolished! Faith schools are divisive,
they have no place in the modern world. Religion and education should be
entirely separate, like government and the Crown. Whatever families wish
to teach their children about religion should be a matter for them alone
and should be conducted outside school, it should not be part of the
curriculum. Religion should only be taught in the context of the history of
religion as a sociological concept, much like the teachings of classics, not
as fact.

Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…
[I] Believe all schools should be secular and not prioritise admission on
the basis of religious belief.
Faith schools are discriminatory and unnecessary.
To admit a child based on faith alone does not provide wider opportunities
for children from all backgrounds. Kingston is a diverse place and we
should celebrate that not divide it by children of the same faith attending
school together. No one particular faith has any benefit towards
education, if anything it hinders it when you can’t learn about other
religion and cultures.
(I say this with experience as being taught at a faith school).
I believe all schools should be religiously inclusive and not religiously
discriminate in pupil admissions and staff employment.
Religious discrimination should not be a part of the life of a state funded
school because it is unnecessary, unfair and promotes segregation.
Please explain how the curriculum and assemblies of the proposed school
would be accessible and inclusive for all, regardless of people or their
family’s religious or non-religious beliefs?
I believe education should be inclusive and that the widest experience of
other cultures is beneficial to us all. My view is that education should be a
secular experience and that faith, and choice of faith, should be
something which individuals are free to do outside the education system.
It is an essential part of a child's education that they grow up in an
inclusive environment that allows them to be who they want to be, and
accept others for who they want to be. Kingston is a diverse town, and all
the town's schools should reflect that. My daughter could not go to her
nearest secondary school because it is a Catholic school and she did not
qualify. Indeed, she actually thought that Catholics were a different
religion to Christianity because all the Catholic children in Kingston go to
Catholic schools. However, she went to inclusive schools and had the
privilege of learning with children from all genders, religions, backgrounds
and race, and is a much better and tolerant person as a result.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A67

ANNEX B

Modern Kingston has no need for another faith school. It has need for a
school which opens its doors to children who live nearby, and do not need
to be driven from a distance because they qualified on faith not proximity.
How can we tell our residents to reduce their use of cars if we make their
children travel a greater distance because they cannot attend the nearest
school because they don't follow the "right" faith?

Carole
McLoughlin

Name
Ann Griffiths

This is a step back in the wrong direction whereby you are even
considering an individual School that does not provide a cross section of
religions in one establishment in a Borough in Greater London.
Segregation is divisive and just creates barriers. How much better to have
non-religious schools which still allow for parents' own choices in religion.
Part of the weekly curriculum is given over to separate cultural sessions of
teaching and prayer if desirable, but with the appreciation that children
love to live, play, develop, understand and make decisions and that
religion is just a small part of life.

Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…
I am strongly opposed to the establishment of a faith school in the
Borough - I can see no justification for it in this day and age and in the
diverse area that we live in. There are surely other perfectly effective
education providers that can be granted permission to build a new school
here? so it makes no sense to opt for one that is allowed to exclude local
children because they happen to have been born into the wrong family.
I live between two CofE primary schools and in the case of one of them
(St. Lukes) we would not have been able to secure a place for our son
even though it's extremely close due to their strict faith based admissions
criteria. Luckily we were able to get a place for him at Latchmere School
but it's actually further away than either St Luke's or St Paul's.
If we had been unsuccessful we would have had to travel much further to
find somewhere for him to go to school as both the Church schools would
have been able to exclude him due to us not being Christian. Like all
schools in this area, this new school is likely to be oversubscribed which
means they can prioritise those who meet their faith criteria - potentially
over and above serving children who live in the surrounding community.
I also strongly object to the use of public funds to support the
establishment of faith schools - there is absolutely no basis upon which it
is acceptable to use taxpayers money to build a school to which only
some students will be eligible to attend. It seems to me quite wrong that
the Department for Education is prepared to fund such an exclusive faith
school but not allow the LA to set one up or make provision for other
potential providers. Faith schools are inherently divisive - they are allowed
to actively exclude those who are not of the right background, but also to
exclude by default those who do not wish to attend a school promulgating
Christian values - either because they are of a different faith or indeed of
none. Publicly funded educational establishments should be open to all,
they should be secular and they should be inclusive. I fail to see how
giving permission to a school that is none of these things can be a serious
option in a modern, diverse city such as London and a Borough such as
Kingston - there has to be another way to provide the much needed
additional secondary education places in the Borough?

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A68

Andree
Frieze

ANNEX B

The Diocese of Southwark should be seeking to guide its schools towards
being religiously inclusive, not opening a new state funded school that can
religiously discriminate in pupil admissions and staff employment.
Religious discrimination should not be a part of the life of a state funded
school because it is unnecessary, unfair, and the conduct of schools
should be exemplary.
Religious discrimination is also undesirable because it is segregatory,
which is ultimately bad for social cohesion and the needs of our
increasingly diverse society. The Diocese has not demonstrated how the
curriculum and assemblies of the proposed school would be accessible
and inclusive for all, regardless of people or their family’s religious or nonreligious beliefs.

Name
Rebecca
Kennedy

Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…
Use this section to highlight your objections to the proposal using
personal experiences (see tips on adapting your response above).
I firmly believe that state-funded schools should serve their local
communities equally and should certainly not be able to turn any pupil
away because of their religious background. However, despite being fully
funded by the state, this school proposes to do just that in a third of
cases. In addition, the ‘distinctive Christian character’ of the school –
which will include partisan RE and collective worship – will mean that,
even where places are available, the school will not be suitable for many
local families who are non-religious or have other faith beliefs.
For this reason, I entirely oppose the proposal. Religious selection
Religious selection is not only discriminatory it seriously threatens social
integration in the local area. What’s more, there is nothing to stop
Kingston CofE School from changing its proposed admissions policy to
make the school up to 100% religiously selective in the future.
So the Council should be careful not to place too much weight on the selfimposed cap the Diocese is currently proposing. There is a great deal of
robust evidence showing that religiously selective schools separate pupils
along ethnic and socio-economic lines, as well as by religion.
This is because religious selection enables oversubscribed schools to
discriminate against non-religious pupils as well as those of other faiths,
and, by so doing, allows selective schools to become unrepresentative of
the demographics in their local areas. In addition, research suggests that
insufficient opportunity to mix with those from differing backgrounds robs
individuals of the meaningful interactions necessary to build sustainable
inter-communal relationships. The DfE funding for this new school
requires it to ‘attract applications from all parts of the wider community’
and ‘equip pupils with the skills, values and knowledge to become active
citizens in wider society’. However, the sorts of measures that would be
required to do this (e.g. school linking programmes) simply cannot replace
living and learning alongside those holding other beliefs and worldviews
all day, every day. The Church of England has long claimed that its
schools are not faith schools for the faithful, but Church schools for the
whole community. Indeed, one Church primary school in Kingston has

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A69

ANNEX B

dropped the use of faith-based criteria altogether. With this in mind, I see
no reason a new school funded entirely by the state should reserve any of
its places for children with a Christian background.
Further, although the Diocese maintains the school will be ‘inclusive’, the
statutory proposal does not demonstrate how the curriculum of the
proposed school will be made accessible to all pupils regardless of their
religion or belief. This will be particularly difficult given the emphasis
placed on the school having ‘a distinctive Christian character’ with a
curriculum ‘underpinned by Christian values’, as well as the delivery of
Christian collective worship. All children, regardless of the school they
attend, have the right to receive a broad and balanced education free
from religious bias alongside peers from a diverse range of backgrounds.
On the basis of its proposed admissions policy and overarching Christian
character, I am not convinced that Kingston CofE Secondary School will
adequately meet this aim. Indeed, even if plans for the school were to
move ahead without any religious selection – which is the absolute
minimum standard necessary to be described as open to the wider
community – there is still very good reason to oppose the proposal on the
grounds of its partisan curriculum.
Name
Steven
Pearson

Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…
I have had two children go through the School system in Kingston, we
struggled to get our children into a local school due to lack of school
places in none religious schools. There are too many religious schools in
Kingston already. I firmly believe that state-funded schools should serve
their local communities equally and should certainly not be able to turn
any pupil away because of their religious background. However, despite
being fully funded by the state, this school proposes to do just that in a
third of cases. In addition, the ‘distinctive Christian character’ of the school
– which will include partisan RE and collective worship – will mean that,
even where places are available, the school will not be suitable for many
local families who are non-religious or have other faith beliefs.
For this reason, I entirely oppose the proposal.
Religious selection Religious selection is not only discriminatory, it
seriously threatens social integration in the local area. What’s more, there
is nothing to stop Kingston CofE School from changing its proposed
admissions policy to make the school up to 100% religiously selective in
the future. So the Council should be careful not to place too much weight
on the self-imposed cap the Diocese is currently proposing. There is a
great deal of robust evidence showing that religiously selective schools
separate pupils along ethnic and socio-economic lines, as well as by
religion. This is because religious selection enables oversubscribed
schools to discriminate against non-religious pupils as well as those of
other faiths, and, by so doing, allows selective schools to become
unrepresentative of the demographics in their local areas. In addition,
research suggests that insufficient opportunity to mix with those from
differing backgrounds robs individuals of the meaningful interactions
necessary to build sustainable inter-communal relationships. The DfE
funding for this new school requires it to ‘attract applications from all parts
of the wider community’ and ‘equip pupils with the skills, values and
knowledge to become active citizens in wider society’. However, the sorts
of measures that would be required to do this (e.g. school linking
programmes) simply cannot replace living and learning alongside those
holding other beliefs and worldviews all day, every day. The Church of
England has long claimed that its schools are not faith schools for the

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A70

ANNEX B

faithful, but Church schools for the whole community. Indeed, one Church
primary school in Kingston has dropped the use of faith-based criteria
altogether. With this in mind, I see no reason a new school funded entirely
by the state should reserve any of its places for children with a Christian
background.
Distinctive Christian character of the school
Further, although the Diocese maintains the school will be ‘inclusive’, the
statutory proposal does not demonstrate how the curriculum of the
proposed school will be made accessible to all pupils regardless of their
religion or belief. This will be particularly difficult given the emphasis
placed on the school having ‘a distinctive Christian character’ with a
curriculum ‘underpinned by Christian values’, as well as the delivery of
Christian collective worship. All children, regardless of the school they
attend, have the right to receive a broad and balanced education free
from religious bias alongside peers from a diverse range of backgrounds.
On the basis of its proposed admissions policy and overarching Christian
character, I am not convinced that Kingston CofE Secondary School will
adequately meet this aim.

Name
Mark Garland

Giles
Henderson

Thomas
Gibson

Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…
As a parent of a child of primary school age in New Malden in Kingston
Borough, I strongly object to this proposal. The schools available to my
family should be inclusive and open to all irrespective of faith and it is
immoral that public funds should be used to privilege one group in our
society over others, this proposal does exactly that. While the proposal
claims that only 33% of children will be admitted on the basis of faith this
is clearly a self-imposed limit and could be changed based on demand for
places. In addition to my concerns over admissions, faith schools such as
the one proposed also raise important questions over curriculum design
and employment practices. In our increasingly secular society it is simply
not appropriate to be increasing the influence of religion in our state
school system.
Why CofE? The discrepancy between number of religious parents in the
UK and schools insisting on it is ridiculous, and gives kids a very warped
sense of faith, when their parents have to pretend to be Christian. I
t's especially weird given the separation of church and state we enjoy in
this country.
While the opportunity to open a new faith school in Kingston which is 90%
funded by central government is very attractive. The key question is do
the projected numbers justify a new 180 six-form entry school. Are the
figures robust? While this school may prosper what will the impact be on
local schools? Year groups, that are not full? Leading to budget
challenges and a decline in the quality of provision. The increased
provision available in local boroughs coupled with a new six-form entry
school in Kingston may question the viability of some schools in ‘the
RBK’. The secondary pupil 'yield from new developments is not an
established science and the impact of Brexit and the pandemic is as yet
unclear. Therefore a prudent course of action may be to press the pause
button and reconsider?

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A71

Lucy
Standing

John RivettCarnac

Name
Christopher
Moore

Andrew
Duncan

ANNEX B

As a parent of children living in a multicultural and multi faith based
society, I strongly oppose any affiliation of religion with school. Some
parents indoctrinate their children and the only ‘free’ space to meet, mix
and understand people from different backgrounds and faiths is at school.
I believe all should seek to being religiously inclusive, not opening a new
state funded school that can religiously discriminate in pupil admissions
and staff employment. Religious discrimination should not be a part of the
life of a state funded school because it is unnecessary and unfair
Religious discrimination is in my mind wholly undesirable because it is
segregatory, which is ultimately bad for social cohesion and the needs of
our increasingly diverse society. It isn’t clear how the curriculum and
assemblies of the proposed school would be accessible and inclusive for
all, regardless of people or their family’s religious or non-religious beliefs.
It is wrong that any places in a state-funded school are allocated on the
basis of faith. Discrimination on the basis of religion by a state-funded
institution is divisive and morally indefensible. It would not be tolerated in
any other state-funded body such as social services or the NHS and
should not be tolerated in education either.

Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…
I firmly believe that state-funded schools should not be able to turn any
pupil away because of their religious background. However, despite being
fully funded by the state (with 90% of capital funding coming from the DfE
and the remaining 10% from the Council) this school proposes to do just
that in more than a third of cases. This is not only discriminatory, it
seriously threatens social integration in the local area. What’s more, since
there is nothing to stop Kingston CofE School from changing its proposed
admissions policy to make the school up to 100% religiously selective in
future, the Council should be careful not to place too much weight on the
self-imposed cap the Diocese is currently proposing. There is a great deal
of robust evidence showing that religiously selective schools separate
pupils along ethnic and socio-economic lines, as well as by religion.
This is because religious selection enables oversubscribed schools to
discriminate against non-religious pupils as well as those of other faiths,
and, by so doing, allows selective schools to become unrepresentative
of the demographics in their local areas. In addition, research suggests
that insufficient opportunity to mix with those from differing backgrounds
robs individuals of the meaningful interactions necessary to build
sustainable inter-communal relationships. The Church of England has
long claimed that its schools are not faith schools for the faithful, but
Church schools for the whole community. Indeed, one Church primary
school in Kingston has dropped the use of faith-based criteria altogether.
With this in mind, I see no reason why a new school funded entirely by the
state should reserve more than a third of its places for Christians.
I believe that religious groups should not have access to public funds to
establish religious schools. As an atheist, I believe that schools should
teach a range of beliefs and mortals that represent our varied and diverse
society. Children should not be excluded from education because of their

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A72

ANNEX B

beliefs, or non-beliefs. We should be teaching our children to be tolerant
of all beliefs and attitudes rather than focusing on one particular belief
system over another. I have no issues with people following their own
beliefs, but feel that the state should play no place in encouraging,
supporting or endorsing any particular religion. Bit like France.

Ricarda
Micallef

Speaking to colleagues who are involved in local secondary schools there
is no requirement for additional places based on current numbers.
Numbers used in the initial proposal are no longer valid. Whilst I would be
supportive of a faith secondary school, I don't believe the environmental
impact on the local area from more building, plus an increase in traffic etc.
is not needed where numbers of pupils do not justify it. Taking pupils from
other schools just leads to unstable environments in those schools due to
potential redundancies etc.

Kim Monro

The Diocese of Southwark should be seeking to guide its schools towards
being religiously inclusive, not opening a new state funded school that can
religiously discriminate in pupil admissions and staff employment.
Religious discrimination should not be a part of the life of a state funded
school because it is unnecessary, unfair, and the conduct of schools
should be exemplary.
Religious discrimination is also undesirable because it is segregatory,
which is ultimately bad for social cohesion and the needs of our
increasingly diverse society.

Name
Joanne
Merritt

Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…
I do not believe that the Diocese should be seeking to open a new school
that is not fully inclusive to all faiths & none.

Secondary school provision should be made on a secular basis, not on a
religious basis. Anyone wishing their children to have a religious
Adam Tickner education should fund it themselves. Providing a new secondary school
operated by the CofE, which however I will continue to pay for, reduces
my choice as a parent, not increases it.
Sarbjit
Bakhshi

Religious segregation of children is socially undesirable and should not be
supported by state funds.

Graham
Williams

It is quite inappropriate to propose a Church of England based school for
this area. First, Kingston is highly multi-cultural so that a Christian-based
school cannot fail to be discriminatory. Second, schools based on any
kind of religion are undesirable in themselves. There should be no kind of
religious test involved in entry to a publicly funded school.
Schools with a religious test as a requirement for entry are discriminatory
in themselves.
Schools need to be open to all young people regardless of the beliefs of
their parents. The only worthwhile part of this proposal is the support for
children with disabilities and that can be provided by a community school
and not one based on religious discrimination.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A73

J Beatty

Emma
Francis

Name
John Gallop

ANNEX B

It appears that your proposal would set aside 33% of the intake for
children of parents that regularly attend church – a far larger percentage
than is evident within the local community and hardly commensurate with
the 10% contribution towards capital costs . This will effectively
discriminate against many local children. Such discrimination is illegal in
virtually all publicly funded institutions but continues to be pushed by
major religious institutions (the Roman Catholic Church being one of the
prime movers in pressing for exclusivity) No child is responsible for its
parents’ beliefs or actions. If the Church of England is committed to its
faith, then that message is one that should be reaching out not shutting
out. An argument which is frequently put forward is that Church schools
are popular with parents. This is due, in part, to the fact that a significant
proportion of the children are likely to come from ‘families like ours’ i.e.
nice people.
As Chair of Governors at Hollyfield school, I want to formally register how
disappointed I am that our school (and our Multi-Academy Trust) were not
consulted on how additional places could be provided. We believe that by
working with other schools in the borough, we could find a way to deliver
them, especially if the RBK has funds available. A new, selective,
religious school is not what local families want and is not the most efficient
or inclusive way of providing more places. We would welcome a pause on
the plans so that local schools can be involved in discussions with RBK
about alternative ways of delivering the places.

Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…
I am very surprised that this state funded school would be allowed to give
more favourable admissions criteria to a very substantial number of
students, whose parents profess the Christian faith. This represents a
major part of the school intake. The distortion to the ethos of the school
which may be expected from this form of religious selection is entirely
inappropriate in present day SW London. It seems to be aimed at dividing,
rather than uniting, our currently rather fractured community.

Jo Power

Why must this be a CofE school? Such schools are divisive and do
nothing for community cohesion.

Terry Pocock

I believe all schools should be inclusive. I am against one faith education
from any faith. This does nothing for social integration and community
harmony.

Shaun
Whitfield

The school should not be able to select any of its pupils on religious
grounds. Also my understanding of the law was that the religious body
has to contribute 10% of the capital costs of the school. Instead, that
amount will be made up by the Council. This means that the Diocese will

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A74

ANNEX B

contribute nothing to its costs, making any religious admissions criteria
even more unjustifiable.

John Hide

Nick
Dumonde

Dr Matthew
Brown

Name
Angela
Kilenyi

Emma
Alleyne
Sarah
Weinberg

Wrong, wrong, wrong for another divisive faith school after the bitter taste
left by Richmond Council steamrollering through the Richard Reynolds
Catholic school c7 years ago.
There should not be any religious based discriminatory admissions policy
for any school funded by the government and/or local authority. You have
already (hidden in Q&A) said 1/3rd of places are only available to children
of "religious commitment and affiliation" - and you say you will follow the
School Admissions Code which means you could raise this further. This
is blatantly unfair when 100% of the funding is coming from the public
purse and it is biased against those people who do not share and/or
practice the same faith as you. Further this serves to create bigger
divisions in our society, not bring people together. So this is discriminatory
and should not proceed.
1) In every other aspect of life in the UK it is legally and morally wrong to
discriminate on the basis of religious beliefs. Education should be the
same and the church should give up its exception to that law;
2) Segregating children on the basis of religious beliefs (most likely on the
basis of their parents religious beliefs) is bad for society. They grow up
thinking religious discrimination is a reasonable thing; when the reality is
that it creates conflict;
3) It propagates a message of religious exceptionalism which is wrong;
4) It is unfair that children of parents who will have funded this school
through their taxes are effectively excluded from it due to having a
different, or no faith. This is an inevitable situation even with 120 "free"
places;
5) To my mind it casts the church and established religion generally in a
bad light.

Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…
Less than 10 percent of the population profess to being Christian.
If the Church of England wants a CofE Church they should pay for it, not
the taxpayer. This is the opposite of diversity in my opinion. Furthermore,
it encourages parents just to go to church for hypocritical reasons.
Admission should be open to all with no quota for "Christian" children.
I feel religious schools are wrong in this age of inclusion - they are no
longer necessary and creates division within society. Please do not allow
another religious school to be opened in the borough.
Religious discrimination should not be a part of the life of a state funded
school because it is unnecessary, unfair, and the conduct of schools
should be exemplary. Religious discrimination is also undesirable

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A75

ANNEX B

because it is segregatory, which is ultimately bad for social cohesion and
the needs of our increasingly diverse society.

Mr D W Mills

Our country is already divided, why add to that division by faith based
admissions paid for, mostly, by all citizens.

Jane
Simmons

I am not against faith schools per se but think they should not be funded
at all by the government. A parent has every right to educate their child
based on faith but these schools should be privately funded.

Adam
Southall

Kathleen
Richardson

Susan
Williams

Name
L Patel

Discrimination of any kind but especially religious is anathema in today's
society. Religion has no place in schools and definitely must not be
funded by the taxpayer! It is outrageous that this is even being
considered. Faith schools actively encourage segregation and promote
social disharmony. Any claims that they offer superior education levels
have been debunked many times. It is ludicrous that a state funded
school would be able to deny access to local children based on religious
grounds. This must not happen!
We shouldn't be having discrimination on entry based on parents'
religious beliefs. It's discriminatory and divisive. In the same vein a school
with a CofE ethos discriminates against students of other or no beliefs
and serves to diminish their own beliefs. It cannot be "highly inclusive"
and "have a distinctive Christian character" as these two are mutually
exclusive. Consultation already held seems to have predominantly taken
place in CofE schools and churches. There is no explanation of
alternatives to Collective Worship for those who aren't Christian.
As a SACRE member this is of particular concern. My children went to a
CofE primary school and were discriminated against for not sharing the
Christian ethos. There should be no place in society for establishments
that serve to diminish social cohesion.
I object very strongly to the proposal to open a new Church of England
secondary school in Kingston. Despite being wholly taxpayer-funded
(capital and operating costs), it is proposed that this school will
discriminate in admissions between children whose parents take them to
church and those who do not, with a third of places allocated on a faith
basis if the school is over-subscribed, and no legal barrier to an increase
in that percentage in the future.

Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…
I am disappointed to hear that in this day and age another religious school
is being proposed. The Diocese of Southwark should not be seeking to
open a new school with state funds, as it is unethical and unfair to
discriminate pupil admissions and staff employment based on religion.
Religious discrimination within schools often disadvantages Black, Asian
and minority ethnic groups, who are more likely to follow other religions,
and most critically already face huge inequalities in society, economic and

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A76

ANNEX B

health. Let’s not perpetuate this and further add more and more schools
that these groups are less likely to benefit from. Every state funded school
should aim to be fully inclusive, regardless of family background and
religion.

Simon Broom

Philip Muir

Christopher
Poole

Laura
Gallagher

Name
Rupert Page

It is the right of any parent to raise their child in whatever faith they hold,
assuming the child really wishes it. If these parents are committed to this
then have the facility to do so through private education if they can afford
to do it or through teaching the faith at home or at Sunday school both of
which are free of charge. However, it is a greater right of all children to
have full access to the same choices regardless of faith and not be
excluded on the basis of their beliefs. It is also the right of tax payers such
as myself not to be forced to financially support the teaching of religious
based schools. This proposal encourages disingenuous efforts by many
parents wishing to give their child the advantage of greater by posing as
committed religious parents. This was amply demonstrated by the Richard
Reynolds school debacle in Twickenham whereby Catholic lobby groups
asserted education discrimination and the school was subsequently
embarrassingly under subscribed by so called "Catholic" parents.
In 2021 this kind of nonsense should give way to fairness. Those
purporting to be keen to educate their child into a particular religion should
not attempt to invoke political power or financial support. They have the
right to teach faith to their children at home or through their given church.
I am completely opposed to the segregation of children on religious
grounds. Having grown up in a city where this is commonplace I cannot
see how this leads to an integrated and tolerant society.
The proposal is for a 100% taxpayer funded, religiously discriminatory
school. As a non-religious taxpayer who is looking for a state secondary
school for my daughter starting in 2024, I strongly oppose this proposal.
The proposed school can religiously discriminate in both pupil admission
and staff employment. It's clearly unfair on principle and raises concerns
about segregation between groups in our society.
I don't believe it is fair or right for a state funded school to discriminate on
religious grounds in terms of pupil admissions and staff recruitment. As a
tax payer I am outraged that my daughter might not be eligible to attend a
school that my money funds and that our lack of religious faith might limit
her options for school. We have already found ourselves unable to get a
place at our nearest primary school because it discriminates on religious
grounds. State funded schools should be open, inclusive and welcoming
to all and religious faith or the lack of it should play no part in determining
whether someone can attend a school or not.

Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…
I do not support any school which discriminates. This is totally
unacceptable in 21st century and I cannot begin to understand why a

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A77

ANNEX B

local council, or wider authority would allow for progress in this project to
segregate a community. Please do not proceed.

Geraldine
Mitchell

I do not support spending taxpayers money on schools which discriminate
on the basis of religion. I see no reason for another religion based school
being maintained by the tax payer.

Mitch Phillips

I do not approve of Church-based schools that, by nature, discriminate
against local residents who don't follow that particular church's ideas.

Michael Day

In principle, I see any advance of segregated education as a retrograde
step, further enhancing divisions in our society.

S Ranade

Samantha
Taylor

I agree with the admissions policy as stated and at face value but it
appears deliberately vague. I would wish to see the wording changed to
indicate that the school's admissions policy would never include faith
based criteria of any kind for any number of places. As it stands, this does
not appear to ruled out. I am generally opposed to faith schools of any
kind but could support a CofE school provided its admissions policy was
fully inclusive of children of all faiths and backgrounds.
The admissions policy should explain how students are allocated places
should there be over-subscription to the school. It also doesn't explain
how the 60 faith places are allocated and in what priority eg Christian faith
(presumably), do CofE get priority over Methodist for example? any other
established faith - are they also given priority? (as I think they should if
there are not enough bone fide Christian applicants).

Anne
Middleton

We are a multicultural society. I see no reason to have faith based
schools of any religion. A state funded school should be open to all.
Church attendance is less than 100,000. This proposal forces people to
pretend to be something they are not and makes hypocrites of them and
the church.

David C
Read

No selection, must be open to any child. Your select ways cause a us and
them result. If you use public money, entry has to be for all. Segregation
has to stop.

Paul
Pettinger

Michael Judd

I am disappointed that the statutory proposal misleadingly states the
school will be inclusive but later reveals that it will seek to operate a
religiously selective admissions policy. The proposed approach is
unnecessary in order to uphold a CofE school's ethos and unfair.
Religion has no place in state funded educational institutions in a modern
secular society.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A78

ANNEX B

Lauren
Mercer

We don't need any more faith schools, there are too many in the borough
as it is.

Thomas
Wilson

I am strongly against state-funded religious education in principle,
whether it is exclusive or otherwise.

Name

Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…
As a parent who had to send both of my children to faith schools due to a
lack of sufficient local provision of non-faith school places, I cannot
endorse this wholly taxpayer-funded new faith school. Selecting any
proportion of intake on a faith basis is discriminatory and simply wrong.
And it is not right that children are subjected to compulsory Christian
collective worship and other religious dogma, when they are supposed to
be receiving a rounded education, even worse when this is being funded
by the tax payer. If we need a new school, let's have a new school.
But let's have it without the religious element, and selective admissions
policy (described as 'fair'!) that discriminates on the grounds of religion.
That I have to put that into words, that it needs to be said in this day and
age, is astonishing.

Ken Richman

Rachel
Peacock

Sandra Jane
Fayle

I believe it is very important that all schools should be secular and fully
inclusive to promote integration between all people of different
backgrounds and faiths, and that schools should not be allowed to select
on the basis of religion.
I am deeply unhappy and indeed disillusioned that a Liberal Democrat
Council is proposing to spend taxpayer funds (contributed by all taxpayers
regardless of religious affiliation), in order to allocate one third of places in
what may well be an oversubscribed school, exclusively for the benefit of
children whose parents are of one religion. We need more school places
for all our children from whatever background or religion and there is no
argument in logic to favour the children of parents who send their
offspring to Church by setting aside an allocation exclusively for them.
As a parent, from a non-Christian faith background, I cannot over
emphasise just how uncomfortable I would be sending my child to any
school that had a distinctive Christian character. I expect from any school
that it provide an excellent education and a grounding that will lead to
good, moral and kind citizens for the future. This is not a Christian
monopoly and there are already schools that cater for the children of
parents who want their offspring to attend a Church school. Moreover
there is no evidence that attendance at Church services is growing or that
the population of the local area is becoming more devoutly Christian.
The opposite is in fact the case with declining Church attendance.
The local authority should be catering to the needs and affiliations of the
actual population of the area not to the aspirations of the Church of
England to reverse its decline.

Haidi Jenkin
Please stop discriminating against non-religious parents - in Kingston we
are prevented from sending our sons to the otherwise excellent Richard
Challoner simply because we are not Catholic - despite our taxes going to
pay for this school! I am completely opposed to public funding for schools

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A79

ANNEX B

that discriminate against children and their parents, there is no place for
exclusion of this kind in our state school system.

Guy Shirley

Name
Laura Murria

Jeremy
Rodell

Having set up the Kingston fair admissions group to support the forward
thinking step of St Luke’s school moving away from faith based selection
I’m extremely surprised to see a new school propose this notion. Schools
supported by the church were originally set up for the entire community,
without bias towards those of a particular background.

Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…
Publicly funded school places should not be allocated according to faith
criteria.
This is a wholly taxpayer-funded new school in both capital and operating
terms, yet it proposes to discriminate in admissions between children
whose parents take them to church and those who do not - a third of
places are to be selected on a faith basis if the school is over-subscribed,
with no legal barrier to an increase in that percentage in the future, with
no upper limit. This cannot be morally right, and would be illegal in most
OECD countries. It runs counter to the proposer's claims about integration
and social cohesion, and to the Church's claim that its schools are not
faith schools for the faithful, but Church schools for the whole community.
And - on the basis of a lot of research - it will result in social, and probably
ethnic, selection. It also invites hypocritical church attendance, as the
case of St. Luke’s CofE primary in Kingston in 2015 illustrates, where the
local priest became so exasperated he refused to sign attendance forms,
and the admissions policy was changed to remove faith-based criteria.
The Kingston area is diverse. Surely any new school should aim to
maximise integration by religion/belief, socio-economic group, and
ethnicity to prepare pupils for the future in which they will grow up.
This is not only about the formal admissions policy, but will be made more
difficult by the emphasis placed on ‘a distinctive Christian character’ with a
curriculum ‘underpinned by Christian values’, as well as compulsory
Christian collective worship. If recent British Social Attitudes Survey
figures are even a rough guide to the situation in Kingston, the great
majority of people of parental age are not religious, and there is greater
diversity among the religious minority than ever before. It is up to all of us
to help make this work in as fair a way as possible. Quite apart from the
principle of faith schools, proposing to set up a new state-funded school in
which a third of the places are faith-based cannot be the way to go.
The area does not need a new faith school. But, if we are to have one, I
urge you to remove any faith-based selection in admissions.

Gill Murchie

The proposed location is too close to other secondary schools in Borough.

Ian Barton

I don’t think religion should have any involvement in school rolls, and
consider it extremely divisive.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A80

Alasdair
Reisner

ANNEX B

I do support the development of additional secondary school capacity, but
believe that it is not appropriate for there to be any form of discrimination
in terms of access to education. I understand that the school will have to
operate admissions within existing UK Government guidance, but the fact
remains that if the school is oversubscribed, those attending church will
have unequal and improved access to the school. I do not believe that this
demonstrates fairness to all.

Caroline
Dawes

The admissions criteria is selective if it prioritises CofE children for 60
places - this is not transparent or fair. The damage that this school will do
to other local school intakes because of its selective admissions criteria
could be very detrimental to their progress. I’m also concerned that
Secondary admissions numbers seem to have plateaued in Kingston so
where is the need for another 6 form entry secondary school?

Name

Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…
The claim in Section 5 of the Statutory Proposal that this will be "an
inclusive, non-selective Church of England secondary school" is
contradicted in Section 10 where "a maximum of 60 places [will] be
offered to pupils who, with a parent/carer, is a regular worshipper in an
Anglican or other qualifying Christian Church". The Church of England
has been declining for over a century. The Church of England "Statistics
for Mission 2019" (published October 2020) confirm that this is continuing:
https://www.churchofengland.org/media/21969 Indoctrinating pupils in
ANY "faith" or superstitious dogma, and subjecting them to "a daily act of
Collective Worship" is totally immoral, does NOT constitute meaningful
EDUCATION, and will NOT enable them to obtain meaningful
employment in today's rapidly changing world!
Some teaching ABOUT religions (plural) in history and geography lessons
may be useful. However, misogyny, homophobia, slavery, genocide, and
other biblical core values are no longer fashionable: even if happy-clappy
priests and primates at the Lambeth Conference disagree. Justin Welby
admitted two years ago that he prays "in tongues" every morning: now
interpreted as "a streaming babble of nonsense syllables". Will pupils be
taught this, instead of modern languages?

John Hunt

Ray White

K P Creswell

Dominic Bull

State schools should be secular - no specific religious affiliation. Religion
is personal and private and no concern of the state. The state should not
support a specific religion financially or otherwise.
As a former resident of SW London and appreciative of its diverse and
multicultural population, I feel that a school that has a discriminatory
admissions policy or employment policies in preserving places for any
specific religious group has no place in our society. Neither does this
proposal demonstrate how it can provide unbiased equal education to
those of any other or no faith.
What possible justification do you have for providing up to 60 foundation
places in your admission criteria? According to your Statutory Proposal

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A81

ANNEX B

document: "The Governing Body will designate a maximum of 60 places
to be offered to pupils who, with a parent/carer, is a regular worshipper in
an Anglican or other qualifying Christian Church".
This is not "inclusive" and you claim your admissions policy is "nonselective" when it clearly is! This is unacceptable and clearly
discriminatory. If my daughter was applying to your school then it is
possible she would not be selected due to her lack of faith!!! Absolutely
ridiculous!
Susan
Burningham
Fred
Mowbray

Name
Matt Little

Richard
Mobbs

No school should be limited to a percentage of people of any religious
faith. A school must represent all children and their parents many of
whom will have no faith whatsoever. Any other policy is discriminatory.
State funded religious discrimination has no place in our society.
The South of Ireland have learnt their lesson and so should we.
No local child should be discriminated against their local school.
Free access to all local children to their local school.
Creating extra and further journeys to school is unsustainable in a post
COVID world. Let's have less pollution not more.
Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…
I’m a Christian parent of three children and I object strongly to the
proposal that one third of admissions will be reserved for pupils with some
allegiance to faith. The policy markets 120 places as ‘open’. It even goes
so far as to say that the admissions process will be ‘inclusive, open, fair
and transparent.’ However, the admission policy is not any of these
things. It is not inclusive, because it excludes any potential pupils who are
not fortunate enough to make the first 120 ‘open’ places, in preference of
people who profess a faith (regardless of how that faith is evaluated and
despite the fact they may live much further away). It is not open - it is
based on a closed-minded view that people of faith should be privileged.
It is not fair, because someone who would normally be in the catchment
area for their local school has to compete with other local pupils because
people of faith can decide to send their child miles to school just because
they are ‘Christian’. And it is not transparent, because the policy does not
actually explain the basis for which those 60 places are awarded.
The Jesus Christ I read about in scripture and whom I follow did not prefer
religious people to those without faith. In fact, he said about the Roman
Centurion, ‘in all Jerusalem I have never seen faith like this’.
He spent his time with ‘sinners’ (a term that religious people used, not
him!). And his message and the salvation he professed was open to all.
Therefore I find offence that a school allegedly set up based on Christian
values could actively exclude local people from a good education.
There are other schools (like those in the Oasis Academy group of
schools) who run on Christian values but who do not discriminate on the
basis of faith in their admissions policy - they truly include everyone. I
think you should consider basing your admissions policy based on
Christian values.

A new 'faith' school would exacerbate division within the community,
cutting children off from normal contact with their peers from other
communities. Local parents of other beliefs will want to send their children

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A82

ANNEX B

to other schools, and will, quite rightly, feel that they are being
discriminated against by their own government.
Martin
Anthony

Peter
Houghton
Ricards
Lodge High
School

Jennifer
Hoxley

Name
Laura
Howarth

Carol
Buchanan

Religious discrimination should have no role to play at all in state school
provision.
Priority should be given to those who regularly worship at Church of
England churches: Richard Challoner School etc.
We do not agree that you have demonstrated a long term need for a new
school in this part of Kingston or considered the changes that are taking
place in the school population as a result of COVID. We believe there are
enough pupil places in this and the surrounding areas to manage pupil
places and that a joined up approach is needed to ensure that all local
school places are taken up before new provision is created.
I think all places should be open to all children, irrespective of the
religious affiliations of their parents. It is unfair that children could miss out
on a place based on their parents’ beliefs.

Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…
There are currently a number of local secondary schools which are not
full. There is also a decreasing number of children in Year 6 transferring
to local secondary schools and therefore the overall demand for an
additional school is not evident. Whilst I agree and welcome the
increased SEND provision I do not agree that another secondary school is
need in Kingston or to support the need for school places in its
neighbouring boroughs.
My main concern relates to the need for additional secondary places in
New Malden. There is need in North Kingston area, however. Located so
close to Merton there may well be an impact for Kingston families and
admission based on distance. Secondly the 10% requirement from the LA
would be a massive concern. The LA is already in financial trouble as are
the schools. I assume this proposal is for a mixed school 11-19?
An on-site SEN facility is a good idea. Finally if there is not a proven case
for more secondary places in New Malden the financial impact on other
nearby schools who may consequently have unfilled places is obvious.
New Malden is already well resourced for faith schools for both genders.

Beth Sanford

I think all schools should be secular.

Georgina
Holloway

Schools are not the place to force religion on children. It is bad enough
how many of our local primary schools do this; we need less of it, not
more. There are churches for families who wish to bring their children up
in the Christian faith; schools should be completely inclusive and not be
forcing the views of a minority of the population on children. I recently
watched a ‘virtual school assembly’ by the local vicar, who told primary

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A83

Charles
Deacon

Simon
Jackson

ANNEX B

school children they were “sinful people who made bad and selfish
choices”. This is completely unacceptable.
I would like to express my concern at these plans, this site was identified
as an area for mitigation for the large slow worm population present at the
Kingsmeadow site. This obviously will not be the case if a school is built
on it. The council admitted in an FOI request that the ecology report for
the Kingsmeadow site was not adequate to assess the well documented
slow worm population, leaving the consent given open to judicial review.
Slow worms are a protected species and at one time their presence would
stop development. The plans here must be considered in the cumulative
effect of the Kingsmeadow development and the lack of ecological
mitigation that may be over-turned.
At a time when there is huge change and diversity within the organisation
and management of schools, it is important that those children attending
Church of England Primary Schools at least have the option of applying
for a local Church Secondary School. The plan clearly identifies that the
offer would not just be for children from Christian families and would meet
the needs of the wider community. The Church of England has an
established track record of high quality education for communities dating
back over 200 years and this would be a great asset to the borough of
Kingston.

Name
Kerry
McQueeney

Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…

Simon James

We should not have admission criteria based on religion. Also I have
concerns about the impact of the school on the athletics facilities.

Nigel Grimes
Claire Mellish

I would like you to consider preferential applications from pupils already
attending CofE schools in the borough.

We should not support/need religious-biased education centre in the
borough.
1)I have no objection in principle to a Church of England school in
Kingston per se, BUT NOT on the site hinted at in the Statutory Proposal.
I have therefore been forced to answer 'No' to the first question, because
it is entirely biased to gain a 'Yes' response (few in Kingston would turn
down the offer of a school) but says nothing of the proposed site. Further,
there is no question in the whole survey asking whether one agrees with
this site specific proposal? You have to go to page 7 of the Statutory
Proposal to get a hint where it is, but even here it is not clear (just says
Kingsmeadow, an extensive area, which includes the proposed site);
2) This site is on Kingston Council leisure services land in Kingsmeadow.
Why is this fact not presented for the survey?;
3) No further open space, in this area of access deficit to open
space/nature, should be developed. Too much has been lost or degraded
by other permitted use already;
4) This development of a school at this site would deprive local people

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A84

ANNEX B

using the site for recreation;
5) There is an important and "good" population of slow worms in
Kingsmeadow (a protected species) which the Council know about.
This population will be impacted severely if this school goes ahead in
Kingsmeadow. Slow worms are thriving in this proposed site;
6) Planning mitigations, for another permitted planning application
20/02216/FUL, rely upon the proposed school site not being developed.
Land for 20/02216/FUL was taken from Kingsmeadow leisure services
land and transferred to Kingston Council's development company and
planning application granted in December 2020: to build housing as part
of the Small Sites programme). This site is contiguous with the proposed
school site. Mitigation for this other development relies upon moving
Kingsmeadow slow worms - from part of the same field, and from an
adjacent brown field site, to this proposed school site. Given the
proposed school site would occupy the remainder of the slow worm
habitat in Kingsmeadow, the Council appears to be doing everything it
can possibly do to eradicate them. A school is welcome, but not here.
Alison Fure

Name not
given

Name
K Bascombe

Tom Beaton
(response via
dedicated
email
address)

The Kingsmeadow site is leisure services land and will be a massive loss
to the community. There is a population of slow worms at this site and a
beautiful oak tree. This is not a suitable site.
Given the shortage of local school places, I absolutely do not support a
faith based school using funding paid by the entire community and then
limiting intake to those of faith. If the admissions policy were to change to
remove any prioritisation on faith, this would be appropriate in serving the
local community’s needs.
Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…
Just practicalities of traffic and severe congestion around that area near
Kingsmeadow. New build of 300+ flats on old Homebase site will
definitely increase traffic congestion on an already really busy road.
There are obvious safety issues for secondary children going to school
independently, negotiating traffic on a really busy stretch of road.
More safety measures need to be put in place before the school opens.
There are many parents & children going to Kings Oak primary every day
as well & the pavement is very narrow, so some sensible planning needs
to happen. Also start and finish school day times would absolutely need to
be staggered to not clash with Kings Oak primary or Holy Cross, Richard
Challoner & Coombe Boys schools, as the buses are already packed and
all these schools in close proximity. It would be disastrous to have all
schools starting & finishing at the same time due to bus capacity, traffic,
pavement congestion etc so please consider this.
It is so depressing that you want to divide society according to
religion. Why not support a system of education that provides education
equally for all children, so that when neighbouring children step out of
their front doors to go to school they can set off together to their excellent
neighbourhood school instead of turning left or right according to the
religion their parents have told them they belong to?
The damaging effects of religiously segregated schooling are now being
widely recognised in Northern Ireland. How bad will the divisiveness have
to have become in Kingston before those responsible for our children's

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A85

ANNEX B

education realise that it can be bad here too. Why not stop the rot now,
instead of waiting until it is nearly too late? Specifically:
1) I oppose the setting up of any new schools that are faith-based,
including the proposed Kingston Church of England Secondary School
2) If a new school is faith-based its admissions policy should not make
reference to the faith of parents or prospective pupils (I understand that it
is currently proposed that faith will be one of the criteria to be used in the
event of oversubscription to the proposed Kingston Church of England
Secondary School).
Eric
McMaster
(response via
dedicated
email
address)

As a local resident with grandchildren in state schools, I would like to
object to the proposed new school perpetuating the historical links
between education and religion. There are clearly reasons why such links
have existed in the past, but we now live in the twenty first century and
must make decisions based on the needs of today, and the kind of
education the children of this area need for their future.
We live in a multicultural secular society in which freedom of religious
belief is generally accepted, despite repressive voices that wish to
exclude and suppress certain religious views. Such tolerance must be
promoted in our schools, especially where the general population is
required to pay through taxation, once a decision to proceed has been
made. It is unjust that a diverse population should have to fund a school
that is biased in its admissions towards one religious group. Education in
such schools is also diminished by narrowing diversity in classrooms, by
limiting the breadth of selection in recruitment of teaching staff, and
thereby promoting ideas of insiders and outsiders, not equality.
We need to promote diversity in education and establish schools that are
more inclusive not less.

Name

Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…
As a resident of the Borough, I refer to the proposal for a new academy to
serve 11–16-year-olds in Kingsmead, Kingston Upon Thames.
I strongly object to this proposal on the grounds outlined below and ask
the deciding committee to reject it.
I urge the committee to proceed with due haste to adapt this proposal so
that it can be followed through by a non-denominational, secular group
base in the Borough.

Damien Dyer
(response via
dedicated
email
address)

Rejection Grounds A: Process
I suggest that Kingston Borough Council has behaved in a prejudicial
manner in collaborating with a single provider, Southwark Diocesan Board
of Education whose stated aim is to “Develop Church of England
Education”. It has given advantage to this provider without enabling an
alternative provider to emerge. The decision is, therefore, likely to be
predicated on the work already done, and as such may not meet the
standards required of an independent assessment of this proposal.
Notwithstanding rejection grounds A, I also object on the basis of the
detail of this proposal as outlined below – Rejection Grounds B and C.
Rejection Grounds B: Religious, social, community divisiveness
Social Division:
The increasingly multi-cultural, multi-faith, and no-faith nature of the
Kingston Upon Thames community indicates that a new faith-based

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A86

ANNEX B

school is not consistent with the needs of the population and should not
be given public money at this time.
Discriminatory Effect:
The proposal is to use 100% public money to fund what is admitted as
100% a Church of England based institution. Some half of the people of
Kingston identify as Christian (2011) and this includes all denominations.
Public funds should not be used in this discriminatory way even if the law
allows for it. Just 3% of London born babies were baptised in the Church
of England in 2019 (the national figure is less than 10%).
This school proposed to make 33% of its places available for this 3% in
future. This is disproportionate. If the school is academically successful it
becomes liable to become a means of recruitment into the faith.
No public funds should be provided for what would be a back-door
method of recruiting new faith members. More importantly, such an
outcome creates rather than diminishes social division in the community
and it has been argued in other Boroughs that it increases social division.
The proposal declares that it will admit pupils from all background, but
that up to 33% of applicants from Church of England faith will be admitted
as priority. It is also possible for the School to alter this cap of 33% at its
own discretion. It is inequitable that a publicly funded school should be
given such discretion into the future.
Cont.
Name

Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…
The Christian Ethos referred to is not clarified. While there is no basis to
question the bona fides of the proposers, there are some aspects of the
CofE faith belief system which should not be unwittingly visited upon
young people in the view of many in the community, both of other faiths
and no faith. In particular the Church of England’s belief in the inherent
sinful nature of humans, (Article IX of the Articles of the Church of
England) and its adherence to the belief that the founder Jesus Christ was
the son of God and gave his life for the redemption of the sins of mankind.
These are not trivial social beliefs: they are at the very core of Church of
England theology and inform what are called Christian values or such an
ethos.
The proposer also advances its determination to advocate British Values.
It does not clarify what these are, or its position on them. Given the
manner in which this term has been appropriated by radical political
movements in recent years, no school governance should be
contemplated which is not crystal clear on what this might mean.
Further details on the above objections are include in an Appendix
outlining rebuttal of the statements made by the proposer in the
Admissions Policy.
Rejection Grounds C: Focus on educational needs in change and
pedagogical considerations
The proposal lacks detail on the broader (as opposed to the religious)
educational thrust of the school. Beyond stating that it would be “broad
based” it presents little analysis of the detailed educational requirement of
a cross section of the Kingston community in terms of education for the
future. It lacks detail on the educational or pedagogical philosophy it
would adhere beyond some broad anodyne statements. It appears to
pay no attention to pedagogical underpinning for the integration of

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A87

ANNEX B

technological, social and humanity demands in the emergent socioeconomic context of Kingston. In this respect it might have been written
anytime in the past 50 years whereas a new school now should not be
instituted without due attention to the rapid process of social and
technological change Kingston is experiencing. It claims an aspiration to
be biased towards preparing students to “be the future professional
workforce for the area”. It appears to be light on technological, and nonprofessional requirements in an integrated community of Kingston.
Given that it claims to be a community cohesive force these gaps are
worrying.
Further, the proposal lacks details on how it would integrate with the
tertiary and primary sectors; what special skills or perspectives it would
bring to pedagogy; and how it might add value to the education of the
physical, moral, and spiritual person in its tutelage. Beyond saying that it
already runs good schools there is no compelling reason advanced as to
why this provider should be favoured over any other.
I suggest that ‘Kingston Upon Thames’ should aim higher in its aspirations
for its future generations than is evident in the current proposal.
For all the above reasons I urge the Council to reject this proposal
Name
Dennis Lynch
(response via
dedicated
email
address)

Vivienne
Donnithorne
(response via
dedicated
email
address)

Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…
I write as a resident of Kingston upon Thames and an ex-governor at both
secular and faith based primary and secondary schools and as an ex
chair of governors at the secular secondary school.
I have always actively supported the best possible education for our future
generations. As such I would not oppose any new school in principle if it is
able to provide good education for local young people.
The proposed resource centre may well be beneficial to inclusiveness.
However, I object to this, or any other school’s proposal to select entrants
on religious grounds. This is particularly so now with the impact of
COVID-19 on this age group’s current educational provision.
It is paramount that educational opportunity should be available to all in
this age group and not just those with a claimed or actual religious
inclination.
I also object to this, and any other faith based school, being funded by
local and/or national government. This is unfair to those of us with no faith
as our taxes are effectively subsidising other’s religious inclinations. I
suspect that the same may apply to others in different faith groups.
If the C of E, or indeed any other faith, wishes to open, or continue to run,
a faith based school then they should have to raise the funds from within
their own faith group. If they are unable to do so, then that is that.
It is not for me, or others of no faith, to subsidise such faith schools,
directly or indirectly.
Born and bred in the Kingston area, I was as a child discriminated against
on the basis of my beliefs, something which has emotionally scarred me
to this day, so I find it hard to believe that schools are still being planned
in the area, which in admission terms, will do the very same thing!
I understand that at the new school, a third of the places are to be
selected on the basis of faith with no legal barrier to increase that
percentage in the future. This cannot be morally right, and would be illegal
in most OECD countries! What is proposed is in effect a form of
sectarianism which runs counter to the proposer's claims of integration
and social cohesion – most people and by far the majority, no longer have

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A88

ANNEX B

religious beliefs - surely a school should reflect the diverse nature of our
society? Furthermore, the proposed new school is funded, both in capital
and operating terms, by the taxpayer i.e. ALL OF US… yet it will seek to
discriminate in admissions between children whose parents take them to
church and those who do not, which is simply not fair! Such a school and
all that it promotes, would also lead to hypocritical church attendance,
such as in the case of St. Luke’s CofE primary in Kingston, where the
local priest became so annoyed, he refused to sign attendance forms, and
the admissions policy was changed to remove faith-based criteria.
Christianity does not have a monopoly on moral values… we ALL have a
right to a fair and decent society in which ALL views are respected.
A school that selects its admissions on the basis of religion is negating the
views and beliefs of all those who are NOT of the Christian faith.
I firmly believe that schools should NOT segregate, rather they should aim
to maximise integration to prepare pupils for the future in a widely diverse
world. It has been shown that in Kingston upon Thames, the majority of
people are not religious, and within those who are, there is greater
diversity than ever before. If a new school is set up, it should reflect this in
as fair a way as possible… therefore, a proposal to set up a state-funded
school in which a third of the places are faith-based cannot be a solution
Name
Jacqueline
Bentley
(response via
dedicated
email
address)

Richard
Middleton

Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…
This is a wholly taxpayer-funded new school in both capital and operating
terms, yet it proposes to discriminate in admissions between children
whose parents take them to church and those who do not - a third of
places are to be selected on a faith basis if the school is over-subscribed,
with no legal barrier to an increase in that percentage in the future, with
no upper limit. This cannot be morally right, and would be illegal in most
OECD countries. It runs counter to the proposer's claims about integration
and social cohesion, and to the Church's claim that its schools are not
faith schools for the faithful, but Church schools for the whole community.
And - on the basis of a lot of research - it will result in social, and probably
ethnic, selection. It also invites hypocritical church attendance, as the
case of St. Luke's CofE primary in Kingston in 2015 illustrates, where the
local priest became so exasperated he refused to sign attendance forms,
and the admissions policy was changed to remove faith-based criteria.
The Kingston area is diverse. Surely any new school should aim to
maximise integration by religion/belief, socio-economic group, and
ethnicity to prepare pupils for the future in which they will grow up.
This is not only about the formal admissions policy, but will be made more
difficult by the emphasis placed on ‘a distinctive Christian character’ with a
curriculum ‘underpinned by Christian values’, as well as compulsory
Christian collective worship. If recent British Social Attitudes Survey
figures are even a rough guide to the situation in Kingston, the great
majority of people of parental age are not religious, and there is greater
diversity among the religious minority than ever before. It is up to all of us
to help make this work in as fair a way as possible. Quite apart from the
principle of faith schools, proposing to set up a new state-funded school in
which a third of the places are faith-based cannot be right.
Jacqueline Bentley
Brentford
Education should not be subject to religious discrimination.

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A89

ANNEX B

Qualitative Feedback with an Objection(s): In my opinion…

25th February 2021
Dear Mr Powell,
We write on behalf of the Coombe Academy Trust in response to the SDBE Kingston VA
Secondary School Proposal. We were very surprised to read that the consultation had
reached the formal statutory proposal stage of the process. As regards your
requirement to carry out a sufficient consultation, we do not recall having received any
communication from you detailing the initial consultation period that you describe. In the
formal statutory proposal paper you reference the SDBE having facilitated three parent
information events about the wish to establish Kingston CofE Secondary School and you
list events at just two primary schools: St. John’s CofE Primary School, in the heart of
Kingston upon Thames, and St Andrews and St Marks CofE Junior School. Perhaps, we
have missed a communication, but we do not recall, or have any record of, an invitation to
join these information events. We suggest that as a multi-academy trust representing 5
schools in the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames and therefore a key stakeholder,
a direct invitation should have been sent to us and the slides disseminated.
Nor to the best of our knowledge, did SDBE hold an initial consultation event at that time
with the existing secondary schools in Kingston to provide an opportunity for discussion of
the forecast numbers for 2024 entry onwards, which might have been helpful.
We have therefore not been allowed the opportunity for intelligent consideration and
response to the proposal during the consultation period and consequently, we have been
advised that your consultation has not been carried out correctly or lawfully for the
following reasons:
-

-

As set out above the SDBE has not followed due process by failing to involve
the right consultees (specifically Coombe Academy Trust) in its consultation which
was not sufficiently widespread and did not ensure the opportunity for informed
response from all key stakeholders. The formal statutory proposal has therefore
not been informed by a full range of up-to-date feedback as specified in Stage 2 Publication (page 21) of the statutory guidance on Opening and closing maintained
schools ; and
The SDBE has also conflated the consultation phase with the proposal phase of
this process by carrying out its e-consultation session on Wednesday 10 February
2021. Legally, the SDBE must not consult during the representation period on the
final proposal: the latter should take place after consultation has concluded.

Despite the defects in this consultation process, the Coombe Academy Trust is willing to
provide robust feedback. However, we require more information from the SDBE to be
sufficiently informed to take part in this process effectively and would also like to review

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A90

ANNEX B

the surveys and consultation feedback with regard to the proposed site of the school once
these have been completed.
For example, there is presently no reference in your statutory proposal document to the
excessive surplus capacity that the opening of the proposed six form entry school will
result in. The Year 7 pupil forecasts summary table updated in October 2020, presented to
the Council meeting on 10 November 2020 and adjusted to reflect the correct PAN for
Coombe Boys (180) shows the following surplus places in Kingston without the proposed
Kingston VA Secondary School:
Year of entry
Total Year 7 places
available
Year 6 leavers
Surplus/Shortfall

2024

2025

2026

1965

1965

1965

1914

1919

1946

+51

+46

+29

On the basis of these figures which show a consistent surplus, there is no evidence of a
requirement for any additional school places: and therefore no need for the proposed VA
Secondary School.
When the figures above are adjusted after applying the LA’s conversion rate, as
suggested in the table updated in October 2020, the shortfall of places without the
proposed Kingston VA Secondary School is:
Year of entry
Total Year 7 places
available
Year 6 leavers
Year 6 leavers with
conversion rate
Shortfall

2024

2025

2026

1965

1965

1965

1914

1919

1946

2023

2028

2046

-58

-63

-81

This potential shortfall of places does not justify the addition of a 6 form entry school.
The impact of including the 6 form entry school shows the following oversupply of places:
Year of entry
Total Year 7 places
available
Year 6 leavers
Year 6 leavers with
conversion rate
Shortfall
New 6FE school
applied
Surplus places

2024

2025

2026

1965

1965

1965

1914

1919

1946

2023

2028

2046

-58

-63

-81

180

180

180

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A91

+122

ANNEX B
+117

+99

It is clear that there is insufficient evidence of demand for a 6 form entry school and that
its presence will compromise the efficient and effective educational provision across the
secondary sector in the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames. The statutory
documents on opening a new school are clear that a proposal should not create an
oversupply of places in the area and should detail how the full cost of the school
represents value for money for the taxpayer. As the SDBE statutory consultation process
to date has not addressed this requirement, we would appreciate a full response to this
point before the Trust provides its final response to this proposal.
Finally, there is no reference in your statutory proposal document to the fact that the
oversupply of places, caused by the opening of the proposed 6 form entry school, will
result in a loss of grant funding of approximately £500k per year from 2024 which is likely
to be spread unevenly over several schools and will increase over the 3 year period to
approximately £1.5m. Yet, this loss of grant funding shared between several schools will
have a devastating impact on their ability to provide efficient and effective education.
Furthermore, it is highly likely that this surplus capacity and the loss of associated grant
funding will cause existing secondary schools to have to make redundancies, decrease
their PAN to remain financially viable or possibly close.
The Coombe Academy Trust would like a full response on what mitigation the SDBE
proposes to put in place to protect the existing Kingston secondary schools from the
considerable financial impact of this proposal.
Yours sincerely,

Derek Morgan

Neil Williams

Chair of Trustees
on behalf of the Board of Trustees
Governing Body Coombe Academy Trust

Chair of Governors
on behalf of the Coombe

Deborah Walls
Executive
Headteacher
on behalf of Coombe Girls’ School and Coombe Boys’ School, Coombe Academy Trust

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A92

ANNEX B

Annex 2 – On-line response format
The screen shot below shows the on-line response format that was accessible on
the Kingston CofE Secondary School website during the period Friday 29th January –
Friday 26th February 2021, via: https://www.kingstoncofesecondary.org.uk/statutoryproposal/

Pre-publication
Consultation
Questionnaire

You can also complete it online at
www.kingstoncofesecondary.org.uk/consultationquestionnaire.
You can also email us at
consultation@kingstoncofesecondary.org.uk

1. Do you support the Southwark Diocesan Board of Education’s proposal to establish a new Church of
England voluntary-aided secondary school in the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames?
 Yes

 No

 Undecided

2. Do you understand and support Kingston Church of England Secondary School’s proposed admission
arrangements?
 Yes

 No

 Undecided

3. Do you agree with the proposal to establish a specialist resource provision for 20 pupils who have
social communication needs and autism?
 Yes

 No

 Undecided

4. Do you have any additional comments or suggestions you would like us to consider?

5. Please let us know in which capacity you are principally responding to this proposal?
 Parent/carer of child(ren) due to start secondary school in September 2024
 Parent/carer of child(ren) due to start secondary school at a later period
 Parent/carer of primary age child(ren) (Please specify your child(ren)’s school(s)):
 Member of staff at a local primary school (please say which one):

 A representative of the local clergy
 A representative of a community or youth group (please say which one):
 A local resident
 A local employee/employer/business owner
 Other (please specify):

Register your Interest
If you would like to be kept up to date with the secondary
school’s progress, please complete the online form at
www.kingstoncofesecondary.org.uk/register

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

A93

Annex 3 – e-session Presentation slides

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

ANNEX B

A94

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

ANNEX B

A95

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

ANNEX B

A96

Appended to CACE Agenda 18/03/21

ANNEX B

B1
Children and Adults’ Care and Education Committee

Appendix B

18 March 2021
Achieving for Children Reserved Matter Ownership Decisions
Report by Executive Director, Corporate & Communities
Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor Diane White, Portfolio Holder for Children’s Services
(including Education)
Purpose of Report
This report seeks approval of the following reserved matters:
● Approval of the Company’s strategic direction through the adoption of the updated
Business Plan
● Approval of the Company’s budget for 2021/22
● Approval of the Company’s arrangements for managing cashflow through the
adoption of the Financial Plan (known as the Treasury Plan) for 2021/22
● Approval of arrangements for the appointment/ recruitment of Non Executive
Independent Board Directors over the coming year

Recommendation(s)
The Committee is asked to RESOLVE that:
1) AfC’s Business Plan 2020-24 (attached at Annex 1 to the report), including the
Business Development Strategy (Annex 2) and Medium Term Financial Strategy
(Annex 3) be approved;
2) The detailed 2021/22 budget (Annex 4) be approved;
3) The Treasury Plan (Annex 5) be approved;
4) Authority be delegated to the Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader of
the Council to reappoint/recruit the Non Executive independent Directors of the
Company.

Benefits to the Community:
The Achieving for Children ‘vision is to provide children and their families with the support
and services they need to live safe, happy, healthy and successful lives’. The proposals
outlined in this report outline how the council and AfC plan to work towards this vision.

Key Points

B2

A. The Royal Borough of Kingston Upon Thames is a joint owner of the Achieving for
Children Community Interest Company (AfC). Kingston owns a 40% share of the
company together with Richmond who also own 40% and Windsor & Maidenhead
who own 20%. AfC was set up by Kingston and Richmond in 2014 to deliver
children’s services on behalf of the owning Boroughs and Windsor and Maidenhead
joined in 2017 as the third council owner. The three council owners retain
significant control over AfC and as such are responsible for making a number of key
reserved matter decisions.
B. The AfC Joint Committee considered and approved a number of changes to the
ownership governance of AfC in March 2020. The three councils’ constitutions have
now been updated to reflect those changes. The previous Joint Committee, which
was the mechanism used for the councils to make joint decisions about AfC
reserved matters, has been repurposed as a dispute resolution mechanism and
meetings will be arranged only if required. The reserved matter decisions
(Reserved Matter Band 3 see C below for more details) that would have been
previously made by the Joint Committee will now be taken by each of the three
owning councils individually as part of their established committee processes.
Councillors from each owning council still meet twice yearly via an Ownership
Board to discuss strategic direction and performance. The governance changes
were approved by the Full Council of this authority in December 2020.
C. The following table contains a summary of the reserved matters and the new
decision making body:
Reserved Matters

Band Decision Making
Mechanism

Permit the registration of any New Member of the
Company

1

Council/Cabinet

Vary, in any respect, the Articles

2

Chief Exec/Leader

Pass any resolution for the winding up of the Company or
present any petition for the administration of the
Company, other than where the Company is insolvent.

2

Chief Exec /Leader

Appoint or remove the Chief Executive of the Company
in consultation with the AfC Board

2

Chief Exec/Leader

Change the name of the Company

2

Chief Exec/Leader

Form any subsidiary of the Company or acquire shares in
any other company or participate in any partnership or
joint venture with a view to providing services to third
parties without being subject to the Trading Opportunity
Evaluation Process as prescribed by the Members.

2

Chief Exec/Leader

Sell or dispose in any way whatsoever, any part of the
business of the Company.

2

Chief Exec/Leader

B3

Amalgamate or merge with any other company or
business undertaking.

2

Chief Exec/Leader

Enter into any arrangement, contract or transaction
resulting in expenditure either with a capital value greater
than £10,000 or revenue value greater than £10 million.
Any expenditure of such revenue by the Company being
less than £10 million shall be subject to the Company’s
own financial regulations and shall be subject to prior
approval within the Business Plan and operating revenue
budget, which shall be approved by the Members in
accordance with the Reserved Matters.

3

Children’s and
Adult’s Care and
Education
Committee

Enter into any arrangement, contract or transaction
where the Company is providing services to third parties
without following the Trading Opportunity Evaluation
Process as produced by the Members. Such
arrangements, contracts or transactions shall also be
subject to prior approval within the Business Plan, which
shall be approved by the Members in accordance with
the Reserved Matters.

3

Children’s and
Adult’s Care and
Education
Committee

Enter into any borrowing, credit facility or investment
arrangement (other than trade credit in the ordinary
course of business) that has not been approved by the
Members under the Financial Plan.

3

Children’s and
Adult’s Care and
Education
Committee

Appoint or remove any auditor of the Company.

3

Children’s and
Adult’s Care and
Education
Committee

Adopt or amend the Business Plan in respect of each
financial year, which for the avoidance of doubt shall
include the adoption and amendment of an operating
revenue budget for the financial year to which it relates.

3

Children’s and
Adult’s Care and
Education
Committee

Adopt or amend the Financial Plan.

3

Children’s and
Adult’s Care and
Education
Committee

Enter into any arrangement, contract or transaction
within, ancillary or incidental to the ordinary course of the
Company's business or is otherwise than on arm's length
terms.

3

Children’s and
Adult’s Care and
Education
Committee

Deal with any surpluses of the Company.

3

Children’s and
Adult’s Care and
Education
Committee

B4

Appoint or remove any Company Directors [from the
Achieving for Children Board].

3

Children’s and
Adult’s Care and
Education
Committee

Agree any terms for any Directors (but for the avoidance
of doubt this does not include the terms and conditions of
employment of Executive Directors as defined in the
Articles of Association of the Company).

3

Children’s and
Adult’s Care and
Education
Committee

Agreeing changes in employment terms and conditions
which would be inconsistent

3

Children’s and
Adult’s Care and
Education
Committee

D. This report seeks approval of the following reserved matters:
● Approval of the Company’s strategic direction through the adoption of the
updated Business Plan;
● Approval of the Company’s budget for 2021/22;
● Approval of the Company’s arrangements for managing cash flow through
the adoption of the Financial Plan (known as the Treasury Plan) for 2021/22;
● Approval of arrangements for the appointment / recruitment of Non Executive
Independent Board Directors over the coming year.
Reserved Matter Decision 1: Approval Of Strategic Direction Via The Business Plan
1.

The AfC Joint Committee approved a five year Business Plan in December 2019.
This plan is the overarching strategy for AfC. It describes the organisation’s
strategic priorities for the coming years and details non ‘business as usual’ planned
activity. The Plan was put together following extensive engagement with council
colleagues, partners, staff and young people. The full engagement process and
plan was outlined in the December 2019 Impact Report available on the AfC
website [ https://www.achievingforchildren.org.uk/reports/ ]. The Plan sits alongside
the company’s Medium Term Financial Strategy.

2.

The AfC Board considered and approved the Business Plan in December 2020 and
in refreshing the plans AfC officers have sought feedback from:
●
●
●
●
●

3.

AfC Board
AfC Leadership Teams
Council Joint Ownership Board
Council contract commissioners
Council Chief Executive Officers

The Council’s Chief Executive Officers (CEOs)/Managing Director (MD) have
specifically asked that AfC better define the organisation’s Business Development
Strategy and a specific strategy and associated plan has now been appended to the
Business Plan.

B5

AfC Business Plan - Achieving More for Children
4.

The updated afC Business Plan is attached at Annex 1. The Plan defines AfCs
overarching vision as:
‘our vision is to provide children and their families with the support and
services they need to live safe, happy, healthy and successful lives’

5.

The Plan outlines six strategic priorities for the Business Plan period as follows:

Strategic
priority

What will we achieve for
children and young people?

Why is this important?

Stronger
families

We will have a relentless focus on
safeguarding children and young
people across all our services.
The services we deliver will be
high-quality and will protect and
promote the wellbeing of children
and young people by promoting
family resilience. We will work
collaboratively with our key
partners to ensure we are able to
realise the benefits of joint
working to support our children,
young people and families.

“Ensuring children and young people
are safe from harm is our core
business. We want to build resilience
in our families and communities so
that they are better able to help,
support and protect children without
the need for statutory intervention. As
part of this we want to ensure our
relationships with key partners are
strong and that our families really
benefit from collaboration and joinedup working”.

Positive
futures

We will invest and work
collaboratively to improve our
local education, health and care
offer to children and young people
so that they have access to high
quality services, are able to stay
close to their families and friends,
achieve well, and develop their
skills for independence.

"It is crucial that we provide the right
support at the right time, this will
enable us to help children and young
people to develop their
independence and prepare for
adulthood. Putting in place local
provision means children and young
people can stay close to their families
and essential support networks and
they can benefit from our integrated
services giving them the best chance
for a positive future”.

Excellent
workforce

Our workforce will be
experienced, talented,
empowered and motivated to
deliver the best possible services
and outcomes for children and
young people; we will invest in the
recruitment, retention and
development of our workforce and
reward their achievements.

“Feedback from children, young
people and families always
emphasises the importance of a
consistent, skilled and motivated
workforce. We want to make AfC a
place where people want to come
and work and a company that they
are proud to tell their family and
friends that they work for.”

B6

Financial
stability

The services we deliver will
provide excellent value for money
and we are trusted by our
commissioning Councils to deliver
the best possible services within
the agreed contract price,
including the efficient delivery of
our financial savings plans.

“Given the financial context, both
nationally and locally, it is essential
that we are focused on delivering
efficient, cost-effective and financially
sustainable services so we are able
to support those most in need.”

Commercial
success

We will secure the sustainabilIty
of the community interest
company through contract
renewal, business development,
fundraising and good growth, so
that we are able to reinvest in the
services we deliver directly to
children and their families.

“Greater commercial success will
enable us to generate a profit to
reinvest in our services thereby
benefiting the children and young
people that we support.”

Smarter
working

Our business processes will be
efficient, cost-effective and
supportive to frontline
practitioners so that they are able
to spend as much time as
possible working directly with
children, young people and their
families to improve outcomes for
them.

“Better business processes, and
effective use of new digital
technologies, will allow our workforce
to reduce the amount of time they
spend on unnecessary paperwork
and bureaucracy, freeing them up to
spend more time with the children,
young people and families we
support.”

6.

The Plan contains high level detail in relation to specific programs which will be
progressed over the coming years through a business case and then where viable
implementation phase. The programmes are divided into cross company projects
and borough specific programmes to support alignment with each councils service
and financial priorities.

7.

There are a number of key themes that apply to the whole organisation as follows:
● Strengthened approaches to quality assurance and better defining AfCs
approach to children’s services practice
● Strengthened approaches to placement commissioning to support improved
outcomes and value for money
● Programmes that support local placement sufficiency and support improved
outcomes and value for money
● Supporting families and young people to reach their potential and live as
independently as they are able
● Developing the organisation’s culture and refining support services to
improve recruitment/retention and efficiency through digital innovation.

8.

The Kingston specific programmes are outlined on pages 20-25 of the plan
attached in Annex 1.

B7

Business Development Strategy and Plan
9.

A Business Development Strategy has been developed this year to better define
AfCs Business Development ambitions.

10.

The Business Development Strategy outlines the organisation’s objective to grow
as a specialist children's services provider over the coming years. It outlines a
structured approach to identifying, evaluating and agreeing which opportunities are
right for AfC and the owning councils.

11.

At the heart of the strategy is an ambition to improve the lives of children and young
people by providing affordable and outstanding children’s services support to the
young people of Kingston, Richmond and Windsor & Maidenhead. Services may be
extended to other organisations supporting children outside of our three AfC
Boroughs where there are clear ethical, financial or developmental benefits.

12.

This strategy complements the main AfC Business Plan and the priority areas for or
further work and development will be key themes within the overarching five year
Business Plan.
The strategy outlines three key areas for development as follows:

13.

SUFFICIENCY STRATEGY - These projects should emerge from the Sufficiency
Strategy and look to address growing business placement and support needs in a
cost effective way. AfC will develop more local provision (education, social care,
health) and maximise use of this provision. This will improve the quality of local
provision and reduce the cost of supporting AfC children. Where there is surplus
capacity / a mismatch of short term need to provision, vacancy rates will be managed
by selling to other boroughs using a cost plus profit margin model.
BEST PRACTICE APPROACHES - Development of internal best practice that can
be scaled up and used to generate income. These projects provide an opportunity to
improve local services, generate income as well as contribute to a wider social good.
There will be a specific focus on developing and marketing the emerging digital offer
over the coming years.

B8

GRANTS / RESEARCH - AfC is uniquely positioned to undertake research across
three LA areas which puts it in a good position to bid for funding and research grants.
This activity not only provides an opportunity to access money for AfC projects and
initiatives but also provides an evidence base for developing best practice approaches
which can be scaled up to generate income in the future. AfC is also well known as a
Partner in Practice and for successfully bidding for grant income to trial / develop
innovative practice.
14.

A draft Business Development Plan has also been attached at Annex 2. The plan
outlines the projects that have either already been evaluated and implemented or
that will be evaluated over the coming years. Over the next 12 months there will be
a specific focus on programmes in two key areas:
● Developing affordable local provision in line with the recommendations of the
Placement Sufficiency Strategy and in partnership with the councils. This will
support better management of the local placement market and support the control of
placement costs, which are the biggest financial risk for the organisation. This is
specifically likely to include development of more supported accommodation for care
leavers across all three boroughs and development of the Independent Fostering
Agency.
● Development of the organisation's digital competence and service offer to both
improve and modernise practice within AfC services and also to generate external
income from the sale of this technology and advice.

15.

In the short term business development will be undertaken within existing resources
but as projects yield additional income and cost avoidance / savings it is
recommended that some of this money is reinvested back into business
development activity to grow the potential to achieve greater medium term financial
benefits.
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)

16.

The draft Medium Term Financial Strategy is attached at Annex 3. The strategy sits
alongside the Business Plan and is produced as part of the budget process. It is
reviewed and updated at least annually.

17.

The 2021 strategy will continue to focus on achieving financial sustainability for the
Company in the context of escalating financial pressure in the specific delivery of
children’s and education services as well as in Local Government generally. The
organisation will be following three overarching principles:
● Delivery of value for money services that are low cost and high
outcome
● Maximise resources available to front line services
● Shared budget responsibility

18.

The strategy prioritises ensuring services are affordable as follows:
● Ensure there is a mutual understanding of what is affordable for each
council in terms of funding and quality
● Achieving value for money

B9

● Achieving challenging cost reduction targets
● Generating income to support services
● Ensuring available funding is directed at priority areas
● Ensuring that the financial interest of each owner is safeguarded
● Planning for financial sustainability over a medium to longer term
period
19.

The strategy recognises that AfC is achieving good value for money currently but
that there is still an affordability gap for services and room to improve particularly in
relation to SEND. The next couple of years will be hugely challenging for AfC and
the strategy draws out a number of themes and activities from the Business Plan
that will be a key focus to achieve sustainability over the coming year:
Priority Activity To Control Costs

How Will It Be Delivered?

DEMAND MANAGEMENT
Supporting the prioritisation of services to
young people most in need and demand
management through the application by
service teams of consistent thresholds.

Core services have well established
threshold guidance that is periodically
reviewed both internally and externally
through inspections or specific requests for
independent review. The Directors of
Children's Services are responsible for
ensuring there are arrangements in place
to monitor compliance and support staff to
understand the threshold guidance.

DEVELOPING LOCAL PROVISION
Delivering the recommendations of the AfC
Sufficiency Strategy at pace in terms of
using
commissioning
opportunities
effectively and developing more local
provision where it makes financial sense to
do so.

The draft Sufficiency Strategy and
associated recommendations has been
considered by the AfC Board and will now
progress through council approval
processes. There will be a focus in the
coming months to identify those
programmes that are likely to have the
most positive financial impact and to
develop these into business cases for
agreement by the councils as appropriate.

COMMISSIONING/PROCUREMENT
COMPETENCE
Building commissioning and procurement
capacity and competence in the
organisation to ensure that placement and
other procurement activity is as effective as
possible in finding solutions and driving
down cost.

The organisation will continue to build
competence and capacity within the
commissioning team to ensure that the
improved practice from the last three years
in relation to placement commissioning
continues and that we get the best price

B10

when undertaking procurement activity.
The Director of Commissioning will
continue to develop the commissioning
strategy to ensure that we are making best
use of our market share and where
appropriate planning ahead with providers
to get preferable rates. We will also
continue to link in with commissioning
partnership arrangements for SEND and
social care.
REVIEW
The effective review of placements, plans
and working models is key to ensuring that
we are promoting independent, resilient
families and that we are prioritising the
funding we have in an effective way.

The company has established practices to
ensure that plans and placements are
periodically reviewed to support the
continued alignment of funding and support
to the changing needs of young people. It
is important that we continue to work to
improve these practices particularly in
social care and SEND where the financial
pressure and scope for changing need is
most significant.

MODERNISATION OF WORKING
PRACTICES
Review of how we work to ensure that we
are making best use of technology, flexible
working practices and that support services
offer value for money.

The company will reflect on learnings from
Covid to ensure we build back better in
terms of efficient use of buildings,
homeworking, digital technologies and
reduced travel / printing.
A key priority will also be on improving the
current HR arrangements to lead to a more
consistent offer across AfC and in time
improvements in recruitment and retention.

FINANCIAL MONITORING & PLANNING
Detailed monitoring of all high risk areas on
an ongoing basis and consistent reporting
internal, to the AfC Board and to the
Councils.

20.

The finance team will continue to monitor
budgets and report performance to budget
managers, leadership teams, the board
and councils regularly. The finance team
will also work to further improve budget
awareness and confidence in managing
budgets across the organisation.

The Committee is asked to discuss and approve the AfC Business Plan and
associated strategic documents set out at Annex 1

B11

Reserved Matter Decision 2: Approval Of The Afc Budget 2021/22
21.

The approval of the AfC budget is a reserved matter decision and provides the
three owning councils with a significant amount of control over AfCs finances.
Annex 4 to this report contains a copy of the AfC Budget Report which was
considered and approved by the AfC Board in December 2020, subject to final
approval by AfCs three owning councils.

22.

AfC fully engages in Kingstons’s budget setting process each year and the
proposals outlined that relate to Kingston mirror the proposals outlined for children's
services in the council's own budget paper. This is also the case for Richmond and
Windsor & Maidenhead.

23.

A net revenue operating budget of £152m is proposed for AfC in 2021/22. The
following pie charts break that down between the three boroughs and between
General Fund and DSG Funding:

24.

The budget report contains more detail about how these base contract prices have
been agreed. The Kingston elements are planned to be spent as follows:

B12

25.

The provisional Dedicated Schools Grant allocations were released for all three
boroughs on the 17th December 2020. AfC is responsible for administering the
Dedicated Schools Grants but the income and expenditure forms part of each
council’s retained budget. Some DSG funding is used to pay for services that are
delivered by AfC on behalf of each council and this is the amount included in the pie
chart above. The detail of how the grant will be spent is available as part of each
council’s detailed budget setting papers. The Kingston paper is available at the
following link. The DSG amount within the AfC contract price above relates to high
needs and central education funding that either funds teams or support that is
commissioned by AfC staff (e.g. SEN Team). The DSG not included in the contract
price relates to amounts that are passported to education providers in accordance
with a pre-determined formula.

26.

The Committee is asked to approve the 2021/22 budget as part of the councils role
as joint owner of AfC.

Reserved Matter Decision 3: Treasury Plan
27.

The approval of the Treasury Plan for AfC is a reserved decision for AfCs three
owning councils. The plan is approved annually and when events require a review
and was last reviewed and approved by the AfC Joint Committee on 2nd March
2020.

28.

The Treasury Plan outlines how AfC is permitted to borrow and invest for cashflow
purposes in the coming year. The Plan also provides assurances to the Councils
around the procedures in place for banking and treasury management in AfC and
for monitoring by the Councils.

29.

The treasury management and banking functions in AfC are overseen by the Chief
Operating & Finance Officer and carried out by suitably experienced staff with

B13
appropriate training. Treasury transactions are undertaken on the basis of formal
proposals and authorisations requiring at least two members of staff and following
the current treasury procedures and policies of the Company. Physical transactions
are carried out using a secure internet banking system. AfC plans and reviews its
treasury activities on a regular basis and longer term plans are reviewed at least
annually in line with AfC’s business planning process.

30.

The councils monitor AfC’s borrowing through the formal borrowing and repayment
requests and they have access to all AfC’s financial records on request. Proposed
changes to the Treasury Plan are agreed at officer level prior to reporting to the
Committee. AfC will take advice from the councils on all aspects of its treasury
management function and will comply with any instruction or direction from the
councils, acting jointly, with regard to its treasury activities and investments.

31.

The Treasury Plan is attached at Annex 5.
Borrowing

32.

Although the Inter Authority Agreement (IAA) provides for AfC to seek finance or
debt funding from third party sources (subject to agreement by the councils), the
primary funding for AfC is provided by the councils through the Revolving Credit
Facility (RCF) because the cost of any borrowing undertaken directly by AfC will be
higher than for the Councils. As AfC is unlikely to seek funding from third parties for
the foreseeable future no provision for this is included in the current Plan.

33.

The RCF sets out the terms on which AfC can borrow from the Councils. The total
amount of loans made available by the Councils is £45million and the shares are
split in accordance with the value of each councils base contract price. The
Revolving Contract Facility should be used to support operational cash
requirements in the delivery of children's services for the three councils. Interest is
set at 0.5% above base rate and applies to borrowing in relation to the ‘Qualifying
Expenditure’ to comply with State Aid rules. The table below summarises the
current RCF borrowing and the recommended % splits for 2021/22:

Council

Current
borrowing
(Dec 20)

Max Borrowing
2021/22

£000

%

£000

%

LB Richmond upon
Thames (LBR)

£8,724

38.1%

£17,469

38.82%

RB Kingston upon
Thames (RBK)

£8,221

35.9%

£16,106

35.79%

RB Windsor and
Maidenhead (RBWM)

£5,954

26.0%

£11,425

25.39%

B14

Investment
34.

There are no specific provisions in the legal documents governing AfC’s activities
that deal with investments apart from the reference in the IAA that decisions in
relation to investments by AfC are a Reserved Matter.

35.

The only use that AfC has made, and is likely to make, of investments for the
foreseeable future, is in relation to treasury management where AfC needs to
maintain sufficient funds on deposit and with instant access in order to meet its
regular payments. The alternative would be for AfC to borrow from the Councils on
almost a daily basis to fund its payments, which is not realistic in terms of the
administration and bank costs involved.

36.

The banks that AfC can use to hold deposits, and the amounts that it can hold in
each, will require specific approval from the Councils because as ‘guarantors’ for
AfC the Councils will ultimately bear the risk of AfC’s investments. Thus AfC will
only make investments in banks/institutions that are included in each Council’s list
of counterparties and to the amounts that the Councils advise AfC.

37.

The current Plan includes the following limits:
BANK
Barclays Bank
Nationwide
NatWest bank
Svenska
Handelsbanken
Total Investment

LIMIT OF
INVESTMENT
£4,000,000
£3,000,000
£5,000,000
£2,000,000
£14,000,000

38.

AfC’s main operational bank accounts are with NatWest and the limit for this bank
includes both the operational current accounts and deposit account.

39.

The Plan allows a degree of flexibility to deal with events that may arise during the
course of the year that could impact on the risk of approved banks and investment
limits, and provides for the councils (through their s151 officers or nominated
deputies) to agree such urgent actions as required with subsequent reporting to the
Committee for retrospective amendment to the Plan as a Reserved Matter.

40.

The Committee is asked to consider and approve the 2021/22 Treasury Plan.

Reserved Matter Decision 4: Appointment Of Non Executive Independent Directors
41.

The AfC Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring the good governance of AfC
as a company, setting the company’s strategic aims, supervising the management
of AfC as a business and holding the management team to account. The Board is
composed of Council Directors, with each owning council eligible to appoint two
directors, three Non-Executive Independent Directors (NEIDs), and up to two
Executive Directors.

42.

B15
In March 2020 the Board commissioned a review into the Board’s effectiveness with
the aim of ensuring that the Board was operating effectively and had good
engagement with the three owning Councils. The report made 24
recommendations, the majority of which have now been implemented, with
remaining actions relating to the updating of the Board’s articles of association and
reviewing internal audit arrangements. As a result, over the past six months the
relationship between the Board and owning Councils has been strengthened
through increased communication and visibility. The Board has appointed a Chair
who has provided improved stability and leadership. The Chair has established
regular meetings with the Chief Executives, met with Lead Members from each
owning Council and voluntary and community sector groups, and led three Board
development days. Kingston has appointed the Council’s Assistant Director
Contracts and Commercial to the Board and has one vacant Non Executive Director
post.

43.

Each NEID is appointed for up to a three year term and is eligible to serve two
terms; with all three NEIDs current terms due to expire in 2021. It is proposed that
the owning Councils take this opportunity to review the make-up of the Board to
ensure it meets the needs of the company, ensuring that the overall composition of
the board is reflective of the community AfC serves, has the broad range of skills
and expertise required, and maintains stability of leadership. A recent skills audit
completed by the Board showed that the Board lacked diversity with no BAME
Directors, gender imbalance and no directors with a declared disability. Where new
NEIDs are required a nomination panel will be established to oversee the
recruitment and appointment, with representation from each owning Council.

44.

It is recommended that the Committee delegates authority to the Chief
Executive, in consultation with the Leader and Lead Member for Children’s
Services, to appoint NEIDs taking into consideration the recommendations
from the nomination panel. This will allow the prompt appointment of NEIDs
following the recruitment process and effective coordination between the three
owning Councils. Details of those appointed to the Board will be reported to the
subsequent meeting of Children's and Adults' Care and Education Committee.

NEXT STEPS

45.

The Committee will receive further updates on Reserved Matter decisions over the
course of the year including progress against the plans outlined in this report. The
next planned items are:
● JUNE - Approval of the Free School Meal contract tender
● JULY - Confirmation of appointment of Non Executive Independent
Directors
● JULY - AfC Annual Report and Statement of Accounts
● JULY - AfC Annual Impact Report

Resource Implications
46.

The detailed financial implications are detailed in the report and associated
appendices. AfC has worked with Council officers to reach a proposed 2021/22
budget and the budget detailed in this report is also reflected in the Council’s draft
budget proposal. It is clear that there will continue to be significant financial

B16
pressures in relation to children's services moving into 2021/22 and it is important
that the Council continues to gain assurance on what AfC is doing to proactively
manage those pressures.

47.

The Council is operating in an increasingly challenging financial environment.
Kingston faced a number of financial challenges in the medium to longer term even before the COVID-19 outbreak, which has further added to these challenges.
The economic and financial consequences of the pandemic, growing demand for
services, and limited government grant funding make it difficult to find adequate
funds to meet the borough's needs.

48.

The future of local government finance faces a significant level of uncertainty. The
impact of the Fair Funding Review and a future review of business rates is currently
unknown, and the lasting effects of COVID-19 on our residents, local businesses
and the Council itself remain uncertain.

49.

Despite these challenges the council has a drive and commitment to ensure it is
doing the best for residents and communities

Legal Implications
50.

With regards the recommendations concerning approving the Business Plan
(including the Business Development Strategy and Medium Term Financial
Strategy, the detailed 2021/2022 budget and the Treasury Plan, these are band 3
Reserved Matters which require approval by the Children's and Adult’s Care and
Education Committee.

51.

The recommendation with regards the Committee delegating to the Chief Executive
in consultation with the Leader the reappointment and/or recruitment of
Non-Executive Independent Directors is permissible under S101 of the Local
Government Act 1972.

Consultation and Engagement
52.

In putting together the Business Plan AfC has consulted with a wide range of
stakeholders including young people, families, partners, the councils and AfC staff.
AfC and the Council will work together to consult on specific proposals in the
Business Plan as required as part of the implementation plans for each project.

Risk Assessment
53.

The specific risks are outlined in the various annexes to this report. The three key
risks are summarised below:
● Risk that the strategic direction of AfC becomes misaligned with that of its
three owning councils - The approval of the strategic direction and budget for
AfC is a decision reserved for the three owning councils. This governance
approach provides the three councils with a mechanism to directly control
AfC's strategic direction. In putting the various strategies and plans together
AfC has engaged with the Ownership Board which includes representation
from all three councils as well as the council’s Managing Directors,
commissioners and a number of other key council officers. The AfC Board
also consists of two representatives from each council who are responsible

B17
for representing the views of the council in strategic decision making
throughout the year.

● Risk that Covid 19 delays implementation of key programmes or causes
additional budget pressure - AfC will be monitoring progress against the
Business Plan and budget throughout the year and will report progress, risks
and opportunities to commissioners as part of the monthly contract
monitoring meetings. Where pressures arise these will be identified at the
earliest possible opportunity so that alternative action can be identified and
agreed between AfC and the Council.
● Risk that the cost of delivering services exceeds budget - AfC has well
established systems to ensure that financial or demand led pressure in one
local authority area does not adversely impact on other AfC boroughs. There
are plans detailed in the Business Plan and Medium Term Financial Strategy
that support the development of placement sufficiency and commissioning
strategies to improve AfCs ability to drive value for money and control costs.
The budget is monitored on a monthly basis and where needed mitigating
actions are discussed within AfC and with the councils to reduce the scope
for overspends and reach a mutually agreed position. The Council also
holds a Demography Fund to provide for anticipated growth pressures within
demand led budgets as they arise.
Equalities Analysis
54.

AfC produces an Annual Equalities Report which is published on its website and
sets out a position statement as well as an action plan to address any issues
identified. The refreshed business plan has also been updated with a renewed
commitment to equality and diversity.

55.

AfC has a staff led Equalities and Diversity Forum with a staff elected Chair and
Vice Chair. The Forum has a direct link through to the Company Leadership Team
and the AfC Board and will be taking a ‘grassroots’ approach to developing a clear
strategy and plan.

56.

The most recent AfC Board Skills Audit also identified that a number of groups were
underrepresented at Board director level and the proposal regarding director
recruitment will start to address this.

57.

AfC will undertake individual Equality Impact Assessments (EIA) for the projects
outlined in the Business Plan as part of the business case process. An overarching
EIA for the contents of this report has also been undertaken and is attached at
Annex 6.

Sustainability Implications
58.

The updated Business Plan now includes a commitment to the environment and
tackling climate change. AfC also has an Environment Strategy which is being
updated for the new financial year.

Background Papers: None other than those referred to in this report
Author of Report: Lucy Korpus, Chief Operating & Finance Officer, AfC

B18
(lucy.kourpas@achievingforchildren.org.uk)/Elizabeth Broadhurst, Interim Children’s
Commissioner, Royal Borough of Kingston Upon Thames
(elizabeth.broadhurst@kingston.gov.uk)

Achieving for Children’s

ANNEX 1

BUSINESS PLAN

2020/24

B19

Achieving more for Children

ANNEX 1

CONTENTS
Introduction

1

02

About Achieving for Children

3

03

Our business plan

8

04

Our vision and values

10

05

Our ambition

12

06

Our strategic priorities to 2024

14

07

Delivering our strategic priorities in 2020/21

16

08

Our financial plan

36

B20

01

01

INTRODUCTION

ANNEX 1
We are delighted to introduce Achieving more for
Children - our business plan for 2020/24.
This is an ambitious plan that builds on our
success over our first five years of operating,
and explains how we will achieve even more for
children and young people so that they have the
best start in life and are able to have safe, happy,
healthy and successful childhoods.

The programmes in the business plan are based
on our conviction that, in order to maintain the
quality of our services and achieve the best
possible outcomes for children, young people and
families within the resources we have available,
we must truly focus our work on six important
priorities: building resilience in families, creating
inclusive local provision to meet increasing need,
investing in a skilled and flexible workforce,
taking a more commercial approach to service
development and innovation, implementing
smarter and more agile working practices, and
ensuring we deliver excellent value for money in
all that we do.

B21

It sets out the projects that the company will
deliver over the next four years to meet these
aims. A number of these projects will be delivered
across Kingston, Richmond and Windsor and
Maidenhead because they meet a common need.
However, some have been designed to meet
specific local challenges and circumstances or
to reflect the priorities of each individual council.
The business plan does not include our day-today business, but we will continue to maintain our
attention on providing those early help, education,
health and social care services that many families
rely on every day.

1

ANNEX 1
Our plan builds on our achievements over the
last five years where we have:
achieved an Ofsted ‘Outstanding’
judgement for our children’s social care
support services in Kingston and a ‘Good’
judgement in Richmond and in Windsor
and Maidenhead

•

developed our own local residential
provision, including supported
accommodation for care leavers, short
break care for children and young people
with disabilities, and a new residential
children’s home

•

secured over £7 million from the
Department for Education as part of the
Partners in Practice initiative to develop
innovative ways of supporting children and
young people on the edge of care

•

implemented the Signs of Safety model
across all our services which has enabled
practitioners to better work in partnership
with children and families, building on their
family strengths to promote their safety
and wellbeing

•

become a national leader in the delivery
of the Troubled Families programme
with over 650 vulnerable families being
given the additional support they need to
improve the care and support they provide
to their children

2

estalished a Staff Council in Kingston and
Richmond and Staff Voices in Windsor and
Maidenhead to provide staff with a means
of influencing the direction of the company
and working with senior leaders to make
Achieving for Children an employer of
choice

All three of our owning councils face
challenging financial settlements which
means that the company must operate within
its budget, including the delivery of planned
efficiency savings.
At the same time the need for our services
is increasing, predominantly in relation to
our need to support children and young
people with special educational needs and
disabilities, and to deliver our responsibilities
for children in care and those leaving care.
Our business plan must focus on ensuring the
company is able to better manage demand,
meet needs, deliver required efficiency
savings and achieve longer-term financial
sustainability, balanced with a drive to
maintain the quality of those services and
support innovation and creative solutions to
our challenges.

Since the business plan was developed, we
have experienced the COVID-19 pandemic
which has had a significant impact on our
service delivery. This impact is likely to
continue for some time and may result in
future changes to our priority projects over the
coming years.
For 2021/22, we have reviewed the plan and
made some amendments to priority projects
and their deadline for completion. Dealing
with COVID-19 took precedence over the past
12 months which has meant a number of the
projects have been delayed and timescales
have been amended to reflect this.
Our response to the pandemic and the impact
on our organisation and the children, young
people and families we support is set out
in Section 3. We have also included a new
priority action relating to the whole company
to demonstrate the importance we are placing
on ensuring we can mitigate the impact of the
pandemic as far as is possible.

B22

•

•

02

ABOUT
ACHIEVING FOR
CHILDREN

ANNEX 1
Achieving for Children was created as a community interest company in 2014 and is now
owned and commissioned by the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames, the London
Borough of Richmond upon Thames and the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead.
We now deliver services to more than 120,000 children and young people. We work closely
with our local authority owners and local strategic partners, such as schools, the police, health
services and voluntary sector organisations, to ensure that the services we provide are relevant
and responsive to the differing needs of children and young people in the three local areas, and
support the delivery of each council’s local strategic priorities. Where it makes sense to scale-up
and deliver services across all three areas, we do that in order to achieve better outcomes for
children and young people and deliver better value for money.
Our initial seven year contract with Kingston and Richmond councils comes to an end in March
2021. We are delighted that the councils have jointly agreed to extend our contract for a further
five years until March 2026. We also have a seven-year contract with the Royal Borough of
Windsor and Maidenhead which ends in 2024 with an option to extend for a further five years.

B23

We deliver the full range of children’s services for the three councils. Our service offer is based
on strong universal provision delivered through our children’s centres and youth centres,
alongside a targeted early help offer that provides support to families at the earliest opportunity
to prevent children’s and young people’s needs escalating and facilitate family resilience. We
expanded our universal services with the addition of health visiting and school nursing when
Windsor and Maidenhead joined the company. These public health services complement our
specialist nursing and therapy services for children with disabilities and complex health needs.
Our statutory offer includes child protection, support for children in care and leaving care, youth
justice and services for children with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND). Our final
service area is the support we provide to early years settings and schools to deliver high quality
teaching and learning. This includes planning school places, school admissions, advice on
school improvement and targeted support for vulnerable pupils.
To support the delivery of these services, we employ just over 1,100 professionals from a
wide variety of disciplines, including social work, teaching, nursing, occupational therapy,
physiotherapy and clinical psychology. Our performance and the quality of our early help,
health and social care services are good and this has been recognised by Ofsted and the Care
Quality Commission in their service and regulatory inspections. Inspection outcomes for special
educational needs services are less positive and are an area for continued improvement.

3

ANNEX 1

Service benefits
Achieving for Children has a single
organisational focus on services for children,
young people and their families. A single
organisation working across three local
authorities brings operational efficiency and
service resilience through a flexible workforce
that is skilled and able to manage peaks in
demands for services.
Our larger scale means that specialist
expertise, which may have been lost or
unaffordable in a single local authority, can
been retained and developed.

The joint company model provides increased
opportunities for employee engagement
and empowerment, enabling cost-efficient
decisions to be taken by practitioners working
directly with families and reducing the need
for more intensive work and interventions
further down the line.
The service benefits for Achieving for Children
are best seen in three areas.
First, our investment in systemic family
therapy to complement social work
interventions when working with families with
the most complex needs.

Second, our Virtual School where our larger
scale has enabled us to retain specialist
practitioners focused on improving
educational outcomes and destinations for
children in care.
Third, the development of a company-wide
independent fostering agency (IFA) to lead
on the recruitment and retention of a highlyskilled pool of local foster carers. The agency
was graded as good by Ofsted at its initial
regulatory inspection in 2019.

B24

The large majority of our funding comes from contracts with the local authorities that own us and commission us to deliver their children’s
services. The annual value of these contracts is £148 million. In addition, the company manages the allocation of £413 million in Dedicated
Schools Grant to early years providers and schools.
Since 2015, there has been a significant financial pressure on the high needs block of the Dedicated Schools Grant in Kingston and Richmond
due to increasing need and complexity of need and the associated costs of school placements for children with special educational needs and
disabilities.
There is the same emerging pressure in Windsor and Maidenhead, although not to the same scale.. There has similarly been an increase in
children in need of social care support and becoming looked after. Again, this follows a national trend and is placing significant financial pressure
on the three local authorities.
One contributing factor to this increased cost has been a lack of local provision to meet the increasing numbers of children needing support and
to meet their complexity of needs, leading to a reliance on external and independent provision which is often at a much higher cost.

4

ANNEX 1

Financial benefits
Our company model is designed to be flexible
enough to respond to the individual priorities
of each of our owning councils, but also to
deliver jointly across the two or three partners
where this improves outcomes and increases
efficiency, resilience and cost effectiveness.
We have a shared corporate management
structure and operating model which delivers
efficiencies from a single approach to
financial management and business services.

This model has reduced central costs by
just over £3 million since the company was
established.
There have also been financial efficiencies
from a more stable workforce and a reduced
reliance on more expensive locum and
agency workers. This has been achieved
through improved recruitment and retention
schemes and the increased opportunities for
career development and progression available
in a larger organisation.

In addition, we have increased our purchasing
power for placements for children in care,
care leavers and young people with special
educational needs and disabilities, and
we have invested in developing our own
residential provision for children in care and
supported accommodation for care leavers to
help meet their needs locally at a lower cost.
We opened a 17-bed unit offering 24 hours
supported accommodation in Kingston in
2017 and are due to open our first children’s
home during 2020. Overall we have reduced
the costs of delivering services for the
councils by £12 million since 2014.
B25

One of the reasons Achieving for Children was established as a community interest company was to benefit from increasing our commercial
and income-generation opportunities whilst maintaining our social focus on giving children the best start and improving their life chances.
In our first five years, we have successfully diversified our income by providing a consultancy offer to local authorities who are considering
alternative delivery models, or who require support to improve the effectiveness and impact of their children’s services. We have provided
in-depth support to eight local authorities in England since 2014 and, as a result of this success, we were named as a Partner in Practice by the
Department for Education in 2018 and have successfully provided improvement support to a further five local authorities.
Since 2014, we have also generated income from traded services, trusts and foundations, fundraising and corporate partnerships. This has
enabled us to innovate our service offer and implement creative solutions to meet families’ needs. Over the next four years, we intend to focus
our commercial efforts on this activity and reduce our consultancy offer as this is considered a more sustainable approach for the company.

5

ANNEX 1

Commercial benefits
As a community interest company, Achieving
for Children is able to trade its services to
other local authorities and public bodies,
through management consultancy and
the provision of services under contract, in
order to create a surplus for reinvestment in
frontline services for children, young people
and their families.

To ensure we take advantage of opportunities,
a Business Development Strategy has been
developed to sit alongside this overarching
Business Plan.

The AfC Business Development Strategy
outlines the organisation’s objective to further
develop as a specialist children’s services
provider and commissioner over the next five
years. It outlines a structured approach to
identifying, evaluating and agreeing which
opportunities are right for AfC and our owning
councils.
At the heart of the strategy is an ambition
to improve the lives of children and
young people by providing affordable and
outstanding children’s services support to
the young people of Kingston, Richmond, and
Windsor and Maidenhead. Services may be
extended to other organisations supporting
children outside of our three AfC boroughs
where there are clear ethical, financial or
developmental benefits.
The strategy and plan are appended.

Environmental aim
Achieving for Children will minimise the environmental impacts of its own activities to promote a sustainable environment for future
generations to enjoy
AfC is committed to taking proactive steps to minimise the environmental impact of our activities over the plan period. We will have a particular
focus on improving our carbon footprint through the use of digital technologies to reduce the use of paper and non sustainable forms of travel.
We will seek to deliver services in an environmentally friendly way and consider how this can be improved when developing policy, service
delivery models and in procuring assets.

6

B26

It also has the potential to expand the
range of services provided by the company
and to access funding opportunities that
are not open to local authorities, such as
charitable trusts and foundations and
corporate sponsorship that can be used to
fund or supplement funding for non-statutory
services. Since 2014, Achieving for Children
has generated £5 million in traded services
with schools and from our improvement
consultancy offer to twelve local authorities.

We have secured more than £10 million
in grant funding to develop our services,
including substantial funding from the
Department for Education to develop
innovative solutions for children experiencing
domestic violence, substance misuse and
parental mental health issues. This has
resulted in the development of a nationallyrecognised service which provides a multidisciplinary approach to building family
resilience to prevent children requiring child
protection interventions or needing to come
into care.

ANNEX 1
91% of families have improved the
care they provide to their children
following intensive support from
the Strengthening Families service.
The service has provided support to
265 families experiencing domestic
violence, substance misuse and
parental mental health concerns.

More than 1,000 children with
disabilities receive short break care,
including overnight respite care, from
Achieving for Children. 96% of parents
and carers rate the care and activities
that their children receive as good or
better.

More than 10,000 young people
regularly use our youth services to
take part in positive activities that
develop their interests and talents.
More than 1,500 young people
complete their Duke of Edinburgh’s
award each year delivering over
45,000 hours of volunteering to their
local communities with a social value
of more than £475,000.

We have delivered 9,074 additional
school places including expanding
SEND provision in mainstream
schools and co-developing five new
free schools. This means that more
of our children and young people
with special educational needs and
disabilities are now educated within
their local communities.

98% of education, health and care
plans (EHCPs) are completed within
the statutory timescale of 20 weeks
from the request for assessment. This
places our services among the best
in the country for the timeliness of
assessments and plans for children
with SEND.

We support 165 schools to deliver
high quality teaching and learning.
91% of schools in our three
boroughs are judged to be ‘Good’ or
‘Outstanding’ by Ofsted and are at
the top of the school league tables
for progress and attainment at all key
stages.

89% of children and young people
report improved mental health and
emotional wellbeing following support
from our emotional health services.
Our services include art therapy,
clinical psychology and systemic
family therapy.

More than 13,000 families attend one
of our children’s centres each year
for health appointments, to access
local childcare, and to attend activities
that help their children get ready for
school. 77% of children achieve a
good level of development in their first
year at school which is well above the
national average at 72%.

B27

Children’s social care services in
Kingston were inspected by Ofsted
in October 2019 and judged to
be ‘Outstanding’ in terms of the
effectiveness of the support we
provide to children in need of help and
protection, children in care and young
people leaving care.

7

03

OUR BUSINESS
PLAN

What is the business plan?

ANNEX 1

Achieving ‘more’ for Children - the business plan for Achieving for Children for 2020 to 2024 is
the company’s most important strategic document. It articulates our vision for the company
together with the most important outcomes that we want to achieve for children in partnership
with our owning councils and local strategic partners. It also sets out our objectives for what
we want the company to be and how we will change and develop in order to deliver these
outcomes. Against each of our strategic outcomes, the business plan sets out priority activities
that we will focus on delivering over the next four years. These are the key priorities that will
enable us to deliver our vision. Each priority includes targets and milestones so that the three
councils, our partners and stakeholders and children and young people can hold us to account.
The intention of our business plan is not to capture everything we do as a company. It is a
high-level strategic document which provides a clear framework for decision-making about our
services and how we prioritise and allocate our resources.

How we have developed our business plan

To make sense of all of this information we held a ‘Big Conversation’ in 2019. This involved a
series of listening events with children, young people, parents, carers, partner organisations in
the statutory and voluntary sectors, the councils and our own employees. These conversations
enabled us to hear about those issues that are most pressing and that should be our highest
priority, as well as identifying creative solutions and potential areas for innovation. The ‘big
conversations’ also enabled us to ensure that our plan is aligned with the strategic priorities of
our owning councils in their corporate plans and with our strategic partners, including the local
health and care plans developed by the clinical commissioning groups.

8

B28

The priorities in our business plan are based on a sound understanding of the local needs in
each of the three local authority areas. We have developed a strong evidence base for our plan
using demographic trends, performance data and the needs analyses produced by the councils
in their joint strategic needs assessments to better understand local needs, alongside more
qualitative feedback about the effectiveness and impact of our services.

How we will measure our progress

ANNEX 1

We will monitor progress in two ways. Firstly, by being clear about our priority activities, when we expect these to be delivered and monitoring our
progress against those delivery plans. Secondly, through a set of key performance indicators and quality measures. These have been set by the
councils as part of our contracts with them and by our Board of Directors to ensure the continual development of the company and the services
it delivers. There is regular monitoring and scrutiny of our performance by councils and the Board of Directors, with progress against the key
performance indicators reported publicly to each of the owning councils. All the success measures that we have used in this plan are reported to
the councils and published as part of our quarterly contract monitoring.

Annual review
Each year the business plan priority areas will be reviewed and updated. The annual review will be reported to the councils in public meetings.
The annual review will provide a self-assessment of our progress at implementing our priorities in the previous year, as well as refreshing our
priorities and activities for the year ahead.

COVID-19
B29

It should be noted that the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic will have an impact on our business plan. The pandemic has provided the
opportunity to be innovative and creative to develop new ways of delivering our services, for example, through the increased use of digital
solutions. Going forward, as part of our recovery planning we will be reviewing the lessons learnt and will apply best practice to our service
delivery so we can continue to effectively meet the needs of our children, young people and families. In addition, some projects set out in this
plan may be delayed because our response to COVID-19 has required a major programme of work and resources have been diverted to enable us
to continue to provide high quality services.

Our commitment to equality and diversity
Along with so many others both here in the UK and across the globe, all of us at Achieving for Children have been deeply affected by the tragic
death of George Floyd. We recognise that discrimination has a destructive impact on many people’s lives. The recent events have highlighted
the continued racial disparity, structural inequalities and systemic injustices experienced by many Black, Asian and minority ethnic (BAME)
communities across the world, and given us all the opportunity to reflect on ourselves, our society and our organisation. The powerful and
collective response of the Black Lives Matter movement and the feedback we are seeking from colleagues within Achieving for Children will help
us to better understand where we are as an organisation and where we would like to be. We have developed a plan based on feedback from
our staff and as an organisation we have committed to taking action to address any areas of concern within Achieving for Children and for the
children, young people and families we support. We now report on the impact of this work as part of our business plan reporting arrangements.
We will report on the impact of this work as part of our business plan reporting arrangements.

9

04

OUR VISION
AND VALUES

Our vision

ANNEX 1

Our vision is to provide children and their
families with the support and services
they need to live safe, happy, healthy and
successful lives.

Our values
Trust:

B30

We are reliable, others can count on us to undertake tasks and
deliver on what was agreed – we will do what we said we would
do. We will encourage open and honest communication, and
model clear and fair professional boundaries.

T

R

Respect:

We will listen to and value other people’s perspectives and
differences. We will show empathy and humility in the way we
communicate.

Empower:

We help others to realise their ability and potential, and show
emotional intelligence in our approach. We show appropriate and
respectful use of the power given to us in our jobs or positions
and we use this to encourage and enable others.

10

E

Who we are

How we work

At Achieving for Children, we champion
children and families, putting their wellbeing
and education first. As a social enterprise, we
take the values of public service and combine
them with a business approach to deliver
our social aims. We have the independence
and flexibility to tailor innovative solutions
to the needs of children and their families,
whilst maintaining our focus on delivering
priorities for each of the councils that owns
the company.

We put children and young people first:

ANNEX 1

We are passionate about ensuring the best possible outcomes for children and young people
and this drives everything that we do.

We embrace diversity and champion inclusion:
We are committed to valuing difference and diversity in our workforce and in the children and
families we work with, so that their identities are promoted and their individual needs are met.

We are resourceful, adaptable and dependable:
We find and create solutions that work well for children and their families. We build our
reputation based on our professionalism, our dedication, our flexibility, and by always delivering
what we promise.

We nurture strong, responsive and caring relationships:
B31

We build strong and productive partnerships with children, young people, parents, carers and
communities so that we can listen and learn from one another.

We lead and support partnerships to meet the needs of children and
families:
We build strong and effective partnerships with our owning councils, other statutory services,
schools, education providers, local businesses, as well as organisations in the voluntary and
community sector.

We value and invest in our staff to deliver innovative and quality services:
We know that our employees are our most important asset – they make our ambitions a reality.
We recruit and retain the best people, value their experience and expertise, and support their
professional development and personal growth.

We will work with our own councils to deliver the most effective solutions
for them:
We understand the requirements of each council that commissions us to deliver their children’s
services, and work closely with elected members and corporate leaders to help deliver their
plans and priorities.

11

05

OUR AMBITION

ANNEX 1
By 2024, Achieving for Children will be a strong and financially stable organisation. Children’s
services throughout England are facing unprecedented financial challenges, predominantly
because of the need to support more children and an increase in the complexity and longevity
of their needs.
This relates to services for children in need of help and protection, children in care and leaving
care, unaccompanied asylum-seeking children, and children with special educational needs
and disabilities. It is placing significant pressure on the three councils’ revenue budgets and,
in the case of support for children with special educational needs and disabilities in Kingston
and Richmond, is building a substantial in-year and cumulative financial deficit because the
allocated government grant is insufficient to meet the increasing need.
We will meet this challenge by having a relentless focus on outcomes for children and young
people based on local needs and priorities. Delivering our vision to give children the best start
in life and improve their life chances is not just a job for Achieving for Children, but is a shared
responsibility with the wider public and voluntary sector. By 2024, Achieving for Children will be
characterised by its strong and meaningful relationships with our partner organisations and our
whole-system approach to improving services and outcomes for children and young people.

12

We will focus our early help services on building resilience in families so that they are better
able to help, support and protect their children without the need for statutory interventions.
Our services will consistently use reflective, collaborative and strengths-based approaches to
working with the whole family so that parents are able to make positive and lasting changes
to the care they provide to their children. This means maintaining strong universal services,
such as youth services, and investing in targeted early help services based on evidence-based
interventions that are proven to work in supporting sustained change in families.

B32

We will have strengthened relationships with parents and carers, and our service offer will be
shaped by them and by the direct involvement of children and young people. The co-production
of effective solutions to local priorities, including financial challenges, will be evident in our
successful delivery of this business plan, as well as our response to emerging issues. We
will have invested in integrated services and joint commissioning with our partners, bringing
together our collective ideas, talent and resources to better meet the needs of children and
young people, especially those with the most complex needs. This will most be evident in our
delivery of children’s health services where we will have strengthened our integrated health
services for children with disabilities, and we will have expanded our offer to include health
visiting and public health nursing in schools.

ANNEX 1
Our services will be high quality. By 2024, our social care services will be judged to be outstanding by Ofsted in their inspection of local authority
children’s services or the subsequent inspection framework. Local area inspections of services for children and young people with special
educational needs and disabilities and for youth justice services will also have positive outcomes, as will inspections of our health services by the
Care Quality Commission. Most importantly, satisfaction with our services by children, young people and parents will also be high.
We will consistently get the basics right for families in terms of good quality assessments, plans, interventions and support packages that are
regularly reviewed, and use evidence of what works coupled with effective risk management that supports children and young people to remain
at home with their families as much as possible.
By 2024, we will have successfully invested in local provision so that children and young people can stay closer to their families and support
networks, and benefit from our local offer of integrated education, health and care services. We will have met the increasing demand for school
places and have maintained local choice for children and young people by working with government to create more free schools and by having
permanently expanded good and outstanding local schools.

B33

We will have invested in inclusive education so that more children and young people with special educational needs and disabilities can
be educated in local mainstream schools. We will have also opened more local special schools with a specific focus on autistic spectrum
conditions, speech, language and communication needs, and social, emotional and mental health needs. In the next four years, we will
also have increased the number of foster care families, opened our own residential children’s homes and increased our range of supported
accommodation for care leavers, and we will have joined-up this support to provide holistic support to children in care and on the edge of care.
All our services will be focused on promoting independence and developing the skills that young people will need in adulthood.
Achieving our vision for children and young people is reliant on a skilled, motivated and stable workforce. So, by 2024, we will be recognised as
an employer of choice for professionals working with children and young people. We will have reduced the number of vacant posts and agency
workers in our organisation, reduce our annual voluntary turnover, and increased our employee satisfaction rates to above 90%.
Our frontline employees will be able to spend the large majority of their time working directly with children and families because we have lean,
streamlined business process and have invested in new technology and digital solutions that enables more agile and smarter working. This
will include bringing in-house those support services that will enable us to provide better and more cost-efficient services for children and their
families.
We will also be more commercial in our approach. We will have strengthened our commissioning practices to foster innovation and achieve
higher quality services at a lower cost and we will have developed our residential care provision on a commercial basis enabling us to offer these
services to the market and reinvest any surplus in our early intervention services to prevent children needing to come into care. This will be the
focus for our commercial activity over the next four years, meaning that we will significantly scale-back our improvement consultancy offer to
other local authorities and reduce our original plans to expand the company to five local authority members. However, we will remain open to
opportunities to bring on board a partner local authority to work alongside our services in Windsor and Maidenhead.

13

ANNEX 1

06

OUR STRATEGIC
PRIORITIES TO
2024

What we will achieve for children and
young people?

Why is this important?

Stronger families

We will have a relentless focus on safeguarding
children and young people across all our services. The
services we deliver will be high-quality and will protect
and promote the wellbeing of children and young
people by promoting family resilience.

Ensuring children and young people are safe from
harm is our core business. We want to build resilience
in our families and communities so that they are
better able to help, support and protect children
without the need for statutory intervention.

We will work collaboratively with our key partners
to ensure we are able to realise the benefits of joint
working to support our children, young people and
families.

As part of this we want to ensure our relationships
with key partners are strong and that our families
really benefit from collaboration and joined- up
working.

We will invest and work collaboratively to improve
our local education, health and care offer to children
and young people so that they have access to high
quality services, are able to stay close to their families
and friends, achieve well, and develop their skills for
independence.

It is crucial that we provide the right support at the
right time, this will enable us to help children and
young people to develop their independence and
prepare for adulthood. Putting in place local provision
means children and young people can stay close to
their families and essential support networks and they
can benefit from our integrated services giving them
the best chance for a positive future.

B34

Strategic priority

Positive futures

14

Based on our vision and ambitions, we
have identified six strategic priorities for
our business plan for the next four years

ANNEX 1
What we will achieve for children and
young people?

Why is this important?

Excellent workforce

Our workforce will be experienced, talented,
empowered and motivated to deliver the best possible
services and outcomes for children and young
people; we will invest in the recruitment, retention
and development of our workforce and reward their
achievements.

Feedback from children, young people and families
always emphasises the importance of a consistent,
skilled and motivated workforce. We want to make
Achieving for Children a place where people want to
come and work and a company that they are proud to
tell their family and friends that they work for.

Financial stability

The services we deliver will provide excellent value
for money and we are trusted by our commissioning
councils to deliver the best possible services within
the agreed contract price, including the efficient
delivery of our financial savings plans.

Given the financial context, both nationally and locally,
it is essential that we are focused on delivering
efficient, cost-effective and financially sustainable
services so we are able to support those most in
need.

Commercial success

We will secure the sustainability of the community
interest company through contract renewal, business
development, fundraising and good growth, so that we
are able to reinvest in the services we deliver directly
to children and their families.

Greater commercial success will enable us to
generate a profit to reinvest in our services thereby
benefiting the children and young people that we
support.

Smarter working

Our business processes will be efficient, cost-effective
and supportive to frontline practitioners so that they
are able to spend as much time as possible working
directly with children, young people and their families
to improve outcomes for them.

Better business processes, and effective use of new
digital technologies, will allow our workforce to reduce
the amount of time they spend on unnecessary
paperwork and bureaucracy, freeing them up to
spend more time with the children, young people and
families we support.

B35

Strategic priority

15

ANNEX 1

07

DELIVERING
OUR STRATEGIC
PRIORITIES IN
2020/21
Strategic
priority

Priority project

Lead

How will know we have been
successful in 2024?

What will we achieve by March
2022?

Stronger
families

Implement a consistent practice
framework for early help and
children’s social care services,
including embedding Signs of
Safety and the systemic family
therapy model to promote a
strengths-based approach that
better supports families to make
sustainable change and reduce
risks to children and young people

Director of
Children’s
Social Care

A strength-based practice framework
will be established across all our
services. External reviews and
inspections of our services will
consistently demonstrate the success
of our practice in promoting resilience
in families so that children are safe and
well cared for. Ofsted will judge our
children’s services to be outstanding in
their overall effectiveness.

The practice framework will be in
place and implemented across all
services. Internal reviews of practice
will evidence that Signs of Safety and
systemic approaches are embedded.
Ofsted will judge services in Kingston
to be at least ‘Good’ or Outstanding’.

B36

16

Achieving more for children
across our whole organisation

ANNEX 1
Priority project

Lead

How will know we have been
successful in 2024?

What will we achieve by March
2022?

Stronger
families

Ensure Achieving for Children is
able to effectively respond to the
challenges posed by the COVID-19
pandemic by continuing to keep
our children and young people safe,
ensuring our families feel supported,
and helping our staff to adapt to new
working arrangements.

Chief Operating
Officer

The disruption to our services caused
by COVID-19 will have been minimised
by adopting a flexible and pragmatic
approach to service delivery. Children,
young people and families will have
continued to receive high quality
services, either face to face or virtually,
and our staff will have felt supported
throughout the pandemic. Our
accommodation strategy will reflect
new ways of working implemented
during COVID-19 with a stronger
focus on home working. There will be
a strong understanding of the longterm impacts of the pandemic on our
children, young people and families.

Service delivery will have returned to
normal, with best practice identified
during COVID-19 implemented that is
communicating with children in care
virtually. A new approach to working
arrangements will be in place which
recognises the potential for greater
home working. There will be a better
understanding of the immediate impact
of COVID-19 on the services we deliver
to children, young people and families.

B37

Strategic
priority

17

ANNEX 1
Priority project

Lead

How will know we have been
successful in 2024?

What will we achieve by March
2022?

Positive
futures

Continue to develop as a provider
of residential support for children
and young people in care and
as a provider of supported
accommodation for young people
leaving care so that more young
people are able to stay local and
closer to their support networks.

Associate
Director for
Provider
Services

90% of children and young people will
be living locally in high quality care
placements close to their friends and
family and will be effectively support to
full independence and adulthood.

We will have opened a new residential
children’s home and will have
completed business cases for two new
supported accommodation units for
care leavers leading to 60% of children
in care and young people leaving care
being in local care placements.

Strengthen compliance and the
quality of services delivered by the
independent fostering agency, so
that it supports the recruitment,
training, development and retention
of foster carers, enables more
children and young people to benefit
from in-house family-based care.

Associate
Director for
Provider
Services

Our IFA will be judged as outstanding
by Ofsted. We will have increased our
number of foster carers by 100 families
so that more children and young people
are able to benefit from family-based
care.

Our IFA will be judged as good by
Ofsted. We will have increased our total
number of foster carers by 25 families.

B38

18

Strategic
priority

ANNEX 1
Priority project

Lead

How will know we have been
successful in 2024?

What will we achieve by March
2022?

Excellent
workforce

Strengthen the approach to
recruitment and retention to attract
experienced and well-qualified
practitioners and managers, retain
a permanent workforce, and reduce
employee turnover and reliance on
a higher-cost agency workforce.

Associate
Director for
Workforce

We will have a strong and stable
workforce with a voluntary turnover
rate below 15% and an agency staff
rate below 10%. There will be clear
career development pathways with
more than 75% of our employees
saying that Achieving for Children is a
good place to work.

Our voluntary turnover rate will be
18% and our agency staff rate will be
16%. 60% of our employees say that
Achieving for Children is a good place
to work.

Develop the organisational
culture of the company, including
redefining and embedding values,
behaviours and ways of working
that are focused on achieving the
best possible support and services
for children and young people.

Associate
Director for
Workforce

75% of employees say that they
consistently experience our
organisational values of trust, respect
and empowerment from their senior
leaders to their frontline colleagues.
This has a positive impact on the
children, young people and families
that we support.

60% of employees say that they
consistently experience trust, respect
and empowerment within Achieving for
Children.

Review and strengthen
capacity and arrangements for
commissioning, procurement and
contract management, including
the joint commissioning of services
with the Clinical Commissioning
Group (CCG), to achieve quality,
value and improved outcomes for
children, young people and their
families.

Director of
Commissioning
and
Partnerships

We will have a robust and
comprehensive commissioning
arrangements including effective joint
commissioning with the CCG.
Procurement and contract
management has been strengthened
across the organisation.

A new commissioning framework
has been agreed with a focus on joint
commissioning, supported by a skilled
commissioning team.

Financial
stability

B39

Strategic
priority

19

ANNEX 1
Priority project

Lead

How will know we have been
successful in 2024?

What will we achieve by March
2022?

Commercial
success

Develop and implement a
commercial strategy for residential
care that enables the company
to provide additional placement
capacity to the market with any
income generated reinvested into
local services for children in care
and on the edge of care.

Associate
Director for
Provider
Services

£600,000 is reinvested each year into
local services for children in care and
on the edge of care from the income
generated from the commercial
strategy for residential care.

£150,000 is reinvested into local
services for children in care and on
the edge of care from the income
generated from the commercial
strategy for residential care.

Develop and implement a revised
fundraising strategy that brings
in grants and other income to
support the delivery of innovative
new services that promote positive
outcomes for the most vulnerable
children and young people.

Head of New
Business

The company generates £1 million
annually through fundraising for
investment in prevention and early
intervention activities for the most
vulnerable children and young people.

The company generates £250,000
through fundraising for investment
in prevention and early intervention
activities for the most vulnerable
children and young people.

Develop and implement a more
formalised approach to business
development through a new
Business Development Strategy
and Business Development Plan.

Chief Operating
and Finance
Officer

The Business Development Strategy
will be established and we will have
successfully put programmes in place
to improve impact on children and
young people, reduce average cost,
generate income and improve national
reputation.

We have a clear process for approving
business cases for priority business
development areas with well
established mechanisms for assessing
viability of proposals. Construction is
underway for a number of sufficiency
programmes and we have successfully
implemented our fostering strategy.

Take opportunities to expand the
company by finding a children’s
services partner for Windsor and
Maidenhead that would enable
service effectiveness, operational
efficiency and resilience, and
longer-term financial sustainability.

Chief Operating
Officer

There is an integrated delivery model in
Windsor and Maidenhead with services
delivered in partnership with another
local authority, delivering financial
and operational efficiencies for both
partners.

Potential partners have been identified
and approached to ascertain their
interest in exploring an integrated
delivery model with services in Windsor
and Maidenhead.

B40

20

Strategic
priority

ANNEX 1
Strategic
priority

Priority project

Lead

How will know we have been
successful in 2024?

What will we achieve by March
2022?

Smarter
working

Review and put in place
strengthened arrangements for
corporate support services so that
the company has the services it
needs to be efficient, effective and
deliver excellent value for money.

Chief Operating
Officer

The company benefits from effective
and cost-efficient corporate support
services. Employee satisfaction
rates with support services are high
because 98% of issues and incidents
are successfully resolved within agreed
timescales.

The service level agreements for ICT,
legal services and health and safety
have been revised and HR services
have been brought in-house delivering
£350,000 in efficiency savings. 94% of
issues and incidents are successfully
resolved within agreed timescales.

Implement digital strategies and
solutions to improve the operational
efficiency of frontline and corporate
support services, maximising the
time available to practitioners for
working directly with children and
young people.

Head of
Business
Support
and Digital
Transformation

Achieving for Children is a lean and
efficient organisation; 100% of routine
tasks, such as booking appointments,
have been digitised.

The digital transformation strategy
has been implemented leading to the
digitisation of at least 60% of routine
business support tasks.

B41

21

Achieving more for children in Kingston
Strategic
priority

Priority project

Lead

How will know we have been
successful in 2024?

What will we achieve by March
2022?

Stronger
families

Embed the strengthened approach
to the quality assurance of frontline
services so that they continue to
effectively safeguard children and
young people and promote their
wellbeing and achievement. This
will include strengthening the multiagency focus on quality assuring
EHCPs for children and young
people with SEND.

Associate
Director
for Quality
Assurance
and Review

Quality assurance practice informs the
continual development of our services so
that they are relevant and responsive to
changing local needs. 90% of casework
is judged to be good or better as part
of our quality assurance of practice in
early help, children’s social care, health
services and support for children with
SEND. Quality assurance processes
identify that the education, health and
social care contributions to the plans
for children with SEND are completed
within statutory timescales and to a high
standard. Positive feedback from parents,
children and young people reflects this
multi-agency approach.

Permanent appointments have been
made to increase capacity for quality
assurance in both operational areas.
A revised quality assurance framework
is in place following feedback from
recent inspections. 75% of casework
is judged to be ‘Good’ or better. The
strengthened multi-agency focus on
EHCPs results in an improvement
in the quality as evidenced through
audits.

Implement the revised early help
strategy and partnership offer,
operationalising the early help
resilience networks in 2021 with a
focus on developing a partnership
and community led approach
to early help that supports and
strengthens families at the earliest
opportunity, so that they can protect
and meet the needs of their children
without the need for higher tier
services or social work intervention.

Associate
Director for
Early Help

We have a strong partnership-focused
early help offer that provides coherent
and coordinated support to families
from the right service at the earliest
opportunity, led by the early help
resilience networks. Universal services
and targeted early help services are
effective at reducing the need for
statutory interventions meaning that
there has been a 20% reduction in child
protection planning and the number of
children coming into care.

The early help resilience networks
are operating effectively with strong
attendance from across partner
agencies and, as a result, there has
been an increase in partnership led
early help assessments. The networks
are also supporting the creation of new
practice and partnership innovation
including the development of targeted
youth work responses for adolescents
and the enhancement of community
led responses to contextual
safeguarding. There has been a 5%
reduction in child protection planning
and the number of children in care.

B42

22

ANNEX 1

ANNEX 1
Priority project

Lead

How will know we have been
successful in 2024?

What will we achieve by March
2022?

Positive
futures

Review and reconfigure the
future delivery of health services,
establishing an operating model
that promotes high quality and
integrated services that support
children and young people to
maximise their independence,
resilience and health outcomes.

Associate
Director for
Health Services

Public health nursing services are
integrated with other children’s
services providing effective universal
child health services and improved
support for children and young
people with more complex health and
wellbeing needs, thereby reducing the
need for more intensive interventions
such as EHC planning.

A First 1,000 Days service has been
implemented, bringing together
public sector and voluntary sector
organisations to improve outcomes
of young children aged 0 to 3 years
and reduce the longer-term need for
statutory services and support.

Deliver the SEND Futures Plan to
transform the experience of children
and young people with SEND and
their families, so that local, highquality education, health and social
care provision meets needs and
promotes independence for all
children and young people with
SEND within the resources available
in the Dedicated Schools Grant
(DSG) and pooled budgets with
the Clinical Commissioning Group
(CCG). This will include ensuring
intervention activity in mainstream
provision effectively supports
children and young people who are
on the SEN support register.

SEND
Programme
Director

The needs of most children and young
people with SEND are met at the
earliest stage in mainstream schools
without the need for an EHCP. 75% of
children and young people with a plan
are educated in local mainstream and
special schools with much reduced
reliance on independent and nonmaintained school provision outside of
the borough. The educational needs of
children and young people with SEND
are met within the funding provided in
the Dedicated Schools Grant.

There are fewer than 1,275 EHCPs.
60% of children and young people
with a plan are educated in local
mainstream and special schools.
The plan leads to cost avoidance and
mitigations of £2.5m per plan year.

B43

Strategic
priority

23

ANNEX 1
Priority project

Lead

How will know we have been
successful in 2024?

What will we achieve by March
2022?

Positive
futures

Work with the CCG and other
partners to implement the Written
Statement of Action for SEND so
that services are high quality and
respond better to the needs, views
and ambitions of children, young
people and their families.

Associate
Director for
SEND

Services for children and young people
with special educational needs and
disabilities are consistently high quality
with 75% of parents and carers rating
services as ‘Good’ or better.

The re-inspection of local area SEND
services by Ofsted and the Care Quality
Commission judges that sufficient
progress has been made in implementing
the Written Statement of Action and
that the overall quality of services has
improved. 60% of parents and carers rate
services as good or better.

Improve the provision of
occupational therapy, speech
and language therapy, and
physiotherapy through
the implementation of
recommendations identified in
the review of therapies across
Achieving for Children, the CCG and
key partners.

Associate
Director for
SEND

There is an enhanced local therapies
offer which is more accessible and more
responsive to growing demand. 75%
of parents and carers rate therapies as
‘Good’ or better. The revised staffing
model impacts positively on the
recruitment and retention of therapists
and develops wider expertise across the
whole SEND workforce.

25% of recommendations identified in
the therapies review are implemented.

Work with adult care and housing
providers to improve pathway and
transition planning for young people
with SEND so that services and
support are in place to meet their
needs, promote independence and
enable a positive experience of early
adulthood.

Associate
Director for
SEND

All young people with SEND have an
effective transition plan in place by age
15 that plans for their independence
and maximises their opportunities for a
positive experience of early adulthood,
including planning for their transition to
adult social care services where needed.

A revised transitions protocol has been
agreed between Achieving for Children
and adult social care services and is
embedded across SEND and leaving
care services.

B44

24

Strategic
priority

ANNEX 1
Priority project

Lead

How will know we have been
successful in 2024?

What will we achieve by March
2022?

Positive
futures

Expand vocational learning
opportunities for young people
through the development of work
experience, traineeships and
apprenticeships (particularly for those
leaving care or with SEND) to support
them to gain meaningful employment.

Associate
Director for
Workforce

98% of young people are in meaningful
education, employment and training
due to the availability of more
vocational learning opportunities.
There has been a 100% increase in the
number of young people completing
traineeships or apprenticeships.

92% of young people are in education,
employment and training. There has
been a 25% increase in the number of
young people completing traineeships or
apprenticeships.

Develop and implement a mental
health strategy that outlines
responsibilities for Achieving
for Children, CCG and partner
organisations, with clear pathways
and thresholds that are easily
understood by families and that
effectively meet the mental health
needs of children and young people in
universal and more targeted provision.

Associate
Director for
Emotional
Health

Children and young people are easily
able to access high quality mental
health services that have a strong
focus on early intervention and prevent
issues escalating to higher levels of
need. 75% of families will rate mental
health services as good or better.

The review of current mental health
provision at the universal level and tier
2 and tier 3 is complete with a clear
action plan in place for implementing
identified recommendations.

B45

Strategic
priority

25

ANNEX 1
Priority project

Lead

How will know we have been
successful in 2024?

What will we achieve by March
2022?

Smarter
working

Develop and implement a local
engagement strategy and service
that strengthens relationships with
children, young people and families
so that their views, wishes and
ambitions shape the delivery of high
quality, relevant and responsive
services that offer the best value for
money.

Director of
Commissioning
and
Partnerships

Collaboration and involvement is the
organisational culture within Achieving
for Children. Our whole workforce
(supported by a specialist participation
team) routinely engages with parents,
carers, children and young people to
ensure that our services are relevant,
responsive, focused on local needs and
deliver maximum value for money.

A new engagement strategy is
developed in collaboration with
parents, carers, children and young
people. A central participation function
is in place to create capacity to
improve involvement and collaboration.
Five collaborative activities have been
completed in significant service areas
agreed with parents, carers, children
and young people.

Develop and implement a new
approach to partnership working
that marshalls the skills, capacity,
resources and creativity of the whole
community to better identify and
meet the changing needs of children
and young people.

Director of
Commissioning
and
Partnerships

Achieving for Children is recognised as
an excellent partner that champions
the needs of children, young
people and families as part of local
strategic partnerships and by actively
contributing to the wider corporate
priorities of the council.

Achieving for Children makes
a positive contribution to local
strategic partnerships through active
involvement and leadership.

The priorities in our plan for Kingston are aligned with the Corporate Plan for 2019 to 2023: Making Kingston better, together - in particular
strategic outcome 3: Healthy, independent and resilient residents, with effective support to those who need it most.

26

B46

Strategic
priority

Achieving more for children in Richmond

ANNEX 1

Priority project

Lead

How will know we have been
successful in 2024?

What will we achieve by March
2022?

Stronger
families

Embed the strengthened approach
to the quality assurance of frontline
services so that they continue to
effectively safeguard children and
young people and promote their
wellbeing and achievement. This
will include strengthening the multiagency focus on quality assuring
EHCPs for children and young
people with SEND.

Associate
Director
for Quality
Assurance
and Review

Quality assurance practice informs the
continual development of our services so
that they are relevant and responsive to
changing local needs. 90% of casework
is judged to be good or better as part
of our quality assurance of practice in
early help, children’s social care, health
services and support for children with
SEND. Quality assurance processes
identify that the education, health and
social care contributions to the plans
for children with SEND are completed
within statutory timescales and to a high
standard. Positive feedback from parents,
children and young people reflects this
multi-agency approach.

Permanent appointments have been
made to increase capacity for quality
assurance in both operational areas.
A revised quality assurance framework
is in place following feedback from
recent inspections. 75% of casework
is judged to be ‘Good’ or better. The
strengthened multi-agency focus on
EHCPs results in an improvement
in the quality as evidenced through
audits.

Implement the revised early help
strategy and partnership offer,
operationalising the early help
resilience networks in 2021 with a
focus on developing a partnership
and community led approach
to early help that supports and
strengthens families at the earliest
opportunity, so that they can protect
and meet the needs of their children
without the need for higher-tier
services or social work intervention.

Associate
Director for
Early Help

We have a strong partnership-focused
early help offer that provides coherent
and coordinated support to families
from the right service at the earliest
opportunity, led by the early help
resilience networks. Universal services
and targeted early help services are
effective at reducing the need for
statutory interventions meaning that
there has been a 20% reduction in child
protection planning and the number of
children coming into care.

The early help resilience networks
are operating effectively with strong
attendance from across partner
agencies and, as a result, there has
been an increase in partnership led
early help assessments. The networks
are also supporting the creation of new
practice and partnership innovation
including the development of targeted
youth work responses for adolescents
and the enhancement of community
led responses to contextual
safeguarding. There has been a 5%
reduction in child protection planning
and the number of children in care.

B47

Strategic
priority

27

ANNEX 1
Priority project

Lead

How will know we have been
successful in 2024?

What will we achieve by March
2022?

Positive
futures

Review and reconfigure the
future delivery of health services,
establishing an operating model
that promotes high quality and
integrated services that support
children and young people to
maximise their independence,
resilience and health outcomes.

Associate
Director for
Health Services

There is an integrated health service
for children with disabilities in
Richmond that complements the
service in Kingston. Public health
nursing services are integrated with
other children’s services providing
effective universal child health services
and improved support for children
and young people with more complex
health and wellbeing needs, thereby
reducing the need for more intensive
interventions such as EHC planning.

Business cases have been developed
for an integrated health service for
children with disabilities and a First
1,000 Days service to bring together
public sector and voluntary sector
organisations to improve outcomes
of young children aged 0 to 3 years
and reduce the longer-term need for
statutory services and support.

Deliver the SEND Futures Plan to
transform the experience of children
and young people with SEND and
their families, so that local, highquality education, health and social
care provision meets needs and
promotes independence for all
children and young people with
SEND, whilst also delivering good
value for money.

SEND
Programme
Director

The needs of most children and young
people with SEND are met at the
earliest stage in mainstream schools
without the need for an education,
health and care plan. 75% of children
and young people with a plan are
educated in local mainstream and
special schools with much reduced
reliance on independent and nonmaintained school provision outside of
the borough. The educational needs of
children and young people with SEND
are met within the funding provided in
the Dedicated Schools Grant.

There are fewer than 1,646 education,
health and care plans. 60% of children
and young people with a plan are
educated in local mainstream and
special schools. The plan leaves to
cost avoidance and mitigations of £2m
per year.

B48

28

Strategic
priority

ANNEX 1
Priority project

Lead

How will know we have been
successful in 2024?

What will we achieve by March
2022?

Positive
futures

Develop a self-evaluation of SEND
services and an accompanying
action plan to ensure that services
are high quality and respond to
the needs, views and ambitions of
children, young people and their
families, and that this is recognised
in the local area SEND inspection.

Associate
Director for
SEND

Services for children and young people
with special educational needs and
disabilities are consistently high quality
with 75% of parents and carers rating
services as ‘Good’ or better.

The inspection of local area SEND
services by Ofsted and the Care
Quality Commission judges them to be
effective. 60% of parents and carers
rate services as ‘Good’ or better.

Improve the provision of
occupational therapy, speech and
language therapy, and physiotherapy
through the implementation of
recommendations identified in the
review of therapies across Achieving
for Children, the CCG and key
partners.

Associate
Director for
SEND

There is an enhanced local therapies
offer which is more accessible
and more responsive to growing
demand. 75% of parents and carers
rate therapies as good or better.
The revised staffing model impacts
positively on the recruitment and
retention of therapists and develops
wider expertise across the whole SEND
workforce.

25% of recommendations identified in
the therapies review are implemented.

Work with adult care and housing
providers to improve pathway and
transition planning for young people
with SEND so that services and
support are in place to meet their
needs, promote independence and
enable a positive experience of
early adulthood.

Associate
Director for
SEND

All young people with SEND have an
effective transition plan in place by age
15 that plans for their independence
and maximises their opportunities for a
positive experience of early adulthood,
including planning for their transition
to adult social care services where
needed.

A revised transitions protocol has been
agreed between Achieving for Children
and adult social care services and is
embedded across SEND and leaving
care services.

B49

Strategic
priority

29

ANNEX 1
Priority project

Lead

How will know we have been
successful in 2024?

What will we achieve by March
2022?

Positive
futures

Develop a high quality, in-borough
alternative education provision for
children and young people who find
it difficult to access mainstream
education to enable them to reach
their potential in the education
environment most suited to their
needs.

Director for
Education
Services

Children and young people who find
it difficult to access mainstream
education are provided with a
safe, supportive and stimulating
environment where they are
encouraged to have high expectations
and to take responsibility for their
learning and their school community.
Success will be measured not just
through academic performance but
through the children and young people
developing positive relationships, selfconfidence, resilience, and creativity.

A model of alternative provision has
been agreed with schools, and a long
term site considered for development
by September 2020.

Expand vocational learning
opportunities for young people
through the development of work
experience, traineeships and
apprenticeships (particularly for those
leaving care or with SEND) to support
them to gain meaningful employment.

Associate
Director for
Workforce

98% of young people are in meaningful
education, employment and training
due to the availability of more
vocational learning opportunities.
There has been a 100% increase in the
number of young people completing
traineeships or apprenticeships.

92% of young people are in education,
employment and training. There has
been a 25% increase in the number of
young people completing traineeships
or apprenticeships.

Develop and implement a mental
health strategy that outlines
responsibilities for Achieving
for Children, CCG and partner
organisations with clear pathways
and thresholds that are easily
understood by families and that
effectively meet the mental health
needs of children and young people in
universal and more targeted provision.

Associate
Director for
Emotional
Health

Children and young people are easily
able to access high quality mental
health services that have a strong
focus on early intervention and prevent
issues escalating to the higher levels of
need. 75% of families will rate mental
health services as good or better.

The review of current mental health
provision at the universal level and tier
2 and tier 3 is complete with a clear
action plan in place for implementing
identified recommendations.

B50

30

Strategic
priority

ANNEX 1
Priority project

Lead

How will know we have been
successful in 2024?

What will we achieve by March
2022?

Smarter
working

Review and reconfigure the
future delivery of health services,
establishing an operating model
that promotes high quality and
integrated services that support
children and young people to
maximise their independence,
resilience and health outcomes.

Associate
Director for
Health Services

There is an integrated health service
for children with disabilities in
Richmond that complements the
service in Kingston. Public health
nursing services are integrated with
other children’s services providing
effective universal child health services
and improved support for children
and young people with more complex
health and wellbeing needs, thereby
reducing the need for more intensive
interventions such as EHC planning.

Business cases have been developed
for an integrated health service for
children with disabilities and a First
1,000 Days service to bring together
public sector and voluntary sector
organisations to improve outcomes
of young children aged 0 to 3 years
and reduce the longer-term need for
statutory services and support.

Develop and implement a local
engagement strategy and service
that strengthens relationships with
children, young people and families
so that their views, wishes and
ambitions shape the delivery of high
quality, relevant and responsive
services that offer the best value for
money.

Director of
Commissioning
and
Partnerships

Collaboration and involvement is the
organisational culture within Achieving
for Children. Our whole workforce
(supported by a specialist participation
team) routinely engages with parents,
carers, children and young people to
ensure that our services are relevant,
responsive, focused on local needs and
deliver maximum value for money.

A new engagement strategy is
developed in collaboration with
parents, carers, children and young
people. A central participation function
is in place to create capacity to
improve involvement and collaboration.
Five collaborative activities have been
completed in significant service areas
agreed with parents, carers, children
and young people.

B51

Strategic
priority

The priorities in our plan for Richmond are aligned with the Corporate Plan for 2018 to 2022: Standing up for Richmond residents - in particular
the strategic outcome 4: a borough for everyone.

31

ANNEX 1

Achieving more for children in Windsor and Maidenhead
Strategic
priority

Priority project

Lead

How will know we have been
successful in 2024?

What will we achieve by March
2022?

Stronger
families

Embed the strengthened approach
to the quality assurance of frontline
services so that they continue to
effectively safeguard children and
young people and promote their
wellbeing and achievement. This
will include strengthening the multiagency focus on quality assuring
EHCPs for children and young
people with SEND.

Head of Quality
Assurance and
Principal Social
Worker

Quality assurance practice informs
the continual development of our
services so that they are relevant and
responsive to changing local needs.
90% of casework is judged to be
‘Good’ or better as part of our quality
assurance of practice in early help,
children’s social care, health services
and support for children with SEND.

Permanent appointments have been
made to increase capacity for quality
assurance in both operational areas.
A revised quality assurance framework
is in place following feedback from
recent inspections. 75% of casework is
judged to be ‘Good’ or better.

B52

32

ANNEX 1
Priority project

Lead

How will know we have been
successful in 2024?

What will we achieve by March
2022?

Positive
futures

Develop resources to support
assessment and early intervention
in mainstream early years settings,
schools and colleges so that they
are equipped to meet the needs of
children and young people with SEND
who are below the threshold for an
education, health and care plan.

Service Leader
- Education and
School

All mainstream early years settings,
schools and colleges are observed
to confidently and effectively support
children and young people with SEND
who are below the threshold for an
EHCP. An inclusion charter mark
has been developed to formalise
engagement in this scheme.

Resources to support assessment and
early intervention have been developed
and put in place. 80% of mainstream
early years settings, schools and
colleges are observed to confidently
and effectively support children and
young people with SEND who are
below the threshold for an EHCP.

Work with the clinical
commissioning group and other
partners to implement the Written
Statement of Action for SEND so
that services are high quality and
respond better to the needs, views
and ambitions of children, young
people and their families.

Service Leader
- Education and
School

Services for children and young people
with special educational needs and
disabilities are consistently high quality
with 75% of parents and carers rating
services as ‘Good’ or better.

Monitoring of local area SEND services
by the Department for Education judge
that services are effective and continue
to improve. 60% of parents and carers
rate services as ‘Good’ or better.

Develop alternative education
provision to better support the
educational progress, achievement
and wellbeing of children and young
people with challenging behaviours
who have been permanently
excluded or are at risk of exclusion
from school.

Service Leader
- Education and
School

New alternative education provision
has been developed to support the
needs of 36 children and young people
with challenging behaviours leading
to improved educational progress,
attainment and outcomes (no young
people are currently excluded from
primary school).

The local service is judged ‘Good’
or better by Ofsted. 12 alternative
education places are available. The
permanent exclusion rate has reduced
by 10%.

Work with adult care and housing
providers to improve pathway and
transition planning for young people
with SEND so that services and
support are in place to meet their
needs, promote independence and
enable a positive experience of
early adulthood.

Schools
Leadership
Development
Manager

All young people with SEND have an
effective transition plan in place by age
15 that plans for their independence
and maximises their opportunities for a
positive experience of early adulthood,
including planning for their transition to
adult social care services where needed.

A revised transitions protocol has been
agreed between Achieving for Children
and adult social care services and is
embedded across SEND and leaving
care services.

B53

Strategic
priority

33

ANNEX 1
w
Priority project

Lead

How will know we have been
successful in 2024?

What will we achieve by March
2022?

Positive
futures

Work with adult care and housing
providers to improve pathway
and accommodation planning for
care leavers so that services and
support are in place to meet their
needs, promote independence and
enable a positive experience of
early adulthood.

Associate
Director
Corporate
Parenting

All care leavers have an effective
transition plan in place by age 15
that plans for their independence into
adulthood including where they will
live.

Care Leavers are engaged in agreeing
their pathway plan and there is
suitable accommodation to support
young people of differing needs into
adulthood.

Expand vocational learning
opportunities for young people
through the development of work
experience, traineeships and
apprenticeships (particularly for
those leaving care or with SEND) to
support them to gain meaningful
employment.

Associate
Director for
Workforce

98% of young people are in meaningful
education, employment and training
due to the availability of more
vocational learning opportunities.
There has been a 100% increase in the
number of young people completing
traineeships or apprenticeships.

92% of young people are in education,
employment and training. There has
been a 25% increase in the number of
young people completing traineeships
or apprenticeships.

Work to reduce gaps in attainment
in reading, writing and mathematics
between children in receipt of the
Pupil Premium grant and their peers
to provide the foundation for all
children to achieve well and have
positive choices for their future
learning.

Associate
Director for
Inclusive
Education

The attainment for reading, writing and
mathematics (combined) at the end of
Key Stage 2 for pupils in receipt of the
Pupil Premium Grant is better than the
results of the statistical neighbour peer
group (summer 2024 results).

The attainment for reading, writing and
mathematics (combined) at the end of
Key Stage 2 for pupils in receipt of the
Pupil Premium grant and their peers
is better than the national average
(summer 2021 results).

B54

34

Strategic
priority

ANNEX 1
Priority project

Lead

How will know we have been
successful in 2024?

What will we achieve by March
2022?

Smarter
working

Develop and implement a local
engagement strategy and service
that strengthens relationships with
children, young people and families
so that their views, wishes and
ambitions shape the delivery of
high quality, relevant and
responsive services that offer the
best value for money.

Service Leader
- Education and
School

All mainstream early years settings,
schools and colleges are observed
to confidently and effectively support
children and young people with SEND
who are below the threshold for an
EHCP.

Resources to support assessment and
early intervention have been developed
and put in place. 80% of mainstream
early years settings, schools and
colleges are observed to confidently
and effectively support children and
young people with SEND who are
below the threshold for an EHCP.

Develop and implement a new
approach to partnership working
that marshalls the skills, capacity,
resources and creativity of the
whole community to better identify
and meet the changing needs of
children and young people.

Director of
Children’s
Services

Collaboration and involvement is the
organisational culture within Achieving
for Children. Our whole workforce
(supported by a specialist participation
team) routinely engages with parents,
carers, children and young people to
ensure that our services are relevant,
responsive, focused on local needs and
deliver maximum value for money.

A new engagement strategy is
developed in collaboration with parents,
carers, children and young people.
A central participation function is in
place to create capacity to improve
involvement and collaboration. Five
collaborative activities have been
completed in significant service areas
agreed with parents, carers, children
and young people.

Specify, procure and implement a
new case management system to
replace the existing PARIS system
that is used across children’s
services with the aim of improving
consistency of practice, reducing
the administrative burden on staff,
automating much of the standard
reporting needsand enabling
more effective collaboration with
partners, families and children.

Director of
Children’s
Services

The new case management system
is in place and is operating effectively
across all areas of the service.
Families, children and other partners
contribute to the system electronically,
improving the knowledge of a given
child, with data migration and staff
training programmes underway.

Following a successful business case,
approved by AfC and Windsor and
Maidenhead, the migration of the data
to the new system is complete and
core social work processes are live
on the new system. Statutory data
reports for social care are reliable and
run automatically.

The priorities in our plan for Windsor and Maidenhead are aligned with the Interim Strategy for 2020/21 and will align with the new
Corporate Plan due to be finalised in April 2021.

B55

Strategic
priority

35

08

OUR FINANCIAL
PLAN

ANNEX 1
Achieving for Children’s Medium Term Financial Strategy focuses on achieving financial
sustainability over the business plan period and explains how the business plan programmes
and business development strategy will help achieve financial sustainability. In setting the
medium term budget, we have focused on making informed recommendations that align with
our commissioning councils’ affordability objectives as well as making best use of available
funds to achieve the best outcomes for children and young people.
The six business plan principles align with the organisation’s financial objectives through the
promotion of family resilience, maximising independence into adulthood through supporting
young people to meet their full potential, investment in local borough resources and focusing on
efficient business processes and commissioning.
The organisation will be following three overarching financial principles over the coming years.

Achieving value for money

36

B56

All three of Achieving for Children’s commissioning councils have historically received relatively
low levels of funding for council services and as a result, services must be delivered at a
lower than average cost. Achieving for Children delivers good quality services for a relatively
low cost across general fund services. Education services that are funded by the Dedicated
Schools Grant are delivered at average cost and the organisation is working proactively towards
improving services in line with inspection findings. The programmes detailed in this programme
facilitate the improved use of resources.

Maximise resources available to
frontline services

ANNEX 1

Achieving for Children regularly reviews budgets to ensure that resources available to frontline
services are maximised and there is a sufficient balance to ensure that frontline services have
the infrastructure to ensure they can continue to support children and families.
The following four aspects are important in achieving this objective.
•

Adequate needs-led budget growth and achievement of savings

•

Maximise income generation

•

Periodic review of emerging priority areas

•

Business plan programmes must facilitate the effective use of resources

Achieiving for Chidren operates a culture of shared budget responsibility with all staff being
responsible for ensuring that every pound spent is maximising positive outcomes for children
and young people and is in line with budget control processes. Each of the programmes
identified in this business plan will have a project sponsor as well as project management
and finance support. Progress against the plan and on the associated spend and savings
implications will be monitored on an ongoing basis with the relevant leadership team having
overarching oversight.
The financial implications, in terms of spend and savings will be carefully monitored over the
plan period. It is clear that the coming years will be financially challenging for Achieving for
Children given the ongoing pressure on wider public sector budgets and national increases
in levels of need for children’s services. It is of paramount importance that the organisation
continues to work with commissioning partners to ensure a mutual understanding of existing
and emerging pressures and reaches agreement on the level of funding available and how that
funding should be prioritised to achieve the best possible outcomes for the children and young
people we support.

B57

Shared budget responsibility

37

ANNEX 1

B58

B59

ANNEX 2

Business Development Strategy

1. Purpose of strategy
The Achieving for Children (AfC)Business Development Strategy outlines the organisation’s
objective to grow as a specialist children's services provider over the next five years. It
outlines a structured approach to identifying, evaluating and agreeing which opportunities
are right for AfC and our owning councils.
At the heart of the strategy is an ambition to improve the lives of children and young
people by providing affordable and outstanding children's services support to the young
people of Richmond, Kingston and Windsor & Maidenhead. Services may be extended to
other organisations supporting children outside of our three AfC boroughs where there are
clear ethical, financial or developmental benefits.
This strategy complements the main AfC Business Plan and the priority areas for further
work and development will be key themes within the overarching five year Business Plan.
2. Context
There are a number of key contextual factors that have influenced the direction for this
strategy as follows:
➢

Financial context

AfC delivers children's services that are principally funded through local government,
education and health funding. It is well documented that there are funding pressures
across all three of these sectors with there being an ongoing focus on delivering services
with less money. This strategy will prioritise increasing the affordability of services for our
three AfC boroughs through both improvements in unit cost efficiency as well as income
generation. It is recognised that most organisations who are responsible for supporting
children and young people are focusing resources on essential and statutory services only

1

B60

ANNEX 2

and this will need to be reflected if AfC looks to market services externally. The impact of
BREXIT on the national and local finances is also still unknown but it could lead to an
increase in levels of need and associated cost coupled with further funding pressures.
➢

Market Environment

There are two key elements to the children's services market.
The first area relates to direct provision of care / support placements. National demand for
placements has outstripped supply for a number of years now and this has driven up the
price that organisations who support children pay across the country. This area of the
market is highly regulated but there is a clear opportunity to look at how local assets can
be used to drive down ongoing revenue costs for our three local authorities as well as a
need to maximise income where local places can not be used for our AfC borough children.
The second area relates to the provision of consultancy and advice services. AfC are
already actively engaging in this market with activity underway to support local schools as
well as other local authority partners. More recently the scope to generate income
through social care consultancy services has reduced as most local authorities who require
improvement to their services can access support for free through the Partners in Practice
programme run by the Department for Education. AfC provides some of this support on
behalf of the DfE as part of a grant funded programme. There is an emerging market for
digital advisory services and AfC is recognised and actively involved in this area.
➢

Covid Context

Covid has changed the way in which most organisations work and deliver services. It has
brought into sharp focus the importance of risk management, continuity planning and
having an organisation that has the digital infrastructure and competence to adapt to
different ways of delivering services. The development of digital competence has been an
area of focus in AfC for a number of years and we are now well placed to build on this
knowledge base. Covid has also broadened the geographical market place as it is now
generally accepted that a lot of support can be delivered virtually.
➢

Demography and Need

The need for children's services has been rising across the country as well as in our local
boroughs. Most local authorities have seen a rise in the number of young people requiring
social care and early help support as well as a rise in the number of young people requiring
additional support with their education in the past five years. This rise has meant that the
infrastructure to support young people via social care, health and education provision has
become stretched and the creation of local, affordable options is key to controlling costs
and supporting young people to avoid escalation in need where possible. This strategy

2

B61

ANNEX 2

aims to maximise AfCs placement options and improve ability to shape the local market
and control cost.
➢

Corporate priorities

AfCs core operational objective remains the provision of high quality and affordable
children's services for our three AfC borough areas. This strategy seeks to explore how the
development of AfCs core business can assist in the successful delivery of children's
services. AfC will need to work closely with our three owning councils in developing
proposals to ensure that there remains alignment between the four organisations’
corporate priorities. The annual Business Plan refresh and approval process ensures there
is dedicated time to focus on aligning objectives across the group at least once a year.
3. Children's Services Market Insight and Opportunities
This strategy looks at opportunities for AfC to further develop into the childrens provider
market space. AfC are well placed to assess the opportunities and difficulties in the market
as at present we both deliver children's services and also commission services from
external providers. This strategy looks at opportunities for AfC to further develop its
provider arm and it is important that this activity is informed by our information about
local needs as well as independent market insights.
Laing Buisson publishes a Children’s Services UK Market Report each year. The press
release for the June 2019 addition summarises the children's social care market as follows:
“As of 31 March 2018, LaingBuisson estimates that 95,855 children were being looked after
in care in the UK. This represents growth of 9% in the past 5 years, and 28% in the past 10,
with many children and young people presenting with complex and multi-layered needs.
This increase in demand came at a time when local authorities were asked by central
government to constrain budgets to reduce public sector debt, meaning that increases in
spending to meet rising children’s care and special education demand have come at the
expense of other services for children and young people, and other council services.
The main sectors of children’s and young people’s services in which the independent sector
is active are special education, residential care and fostering. In March 2019, there were
499 special schools and 106 special colleges operated by the independent sector in England,
and an average of 20-25 new school developments have been registered in both 2018 and
2017. The main driver for this is the prevalence of children with EHC (Education, Health and
Care) Plans or Statements, estimated at 2.9% of pupils in England as of January 2018.
Children’s care providers have also responded to the growing need for joined up care,
therapy and education.

3

B62

ANNEX 2

The number of children in foster care has risen by 8% in the past five years. One-third are
placed by independent fostering agencies. The Government has plans to get local
authorities and the independent sector working collaboratively to ensure sufficient
high-quality fostering placements, for example by providing seed funding for joint
recruitment drives.
The rise in the number of children cared for in residential settings is even sharper, at almost
17% in the past five years for the UK. Within this sector of the market, the independent
sector is sought out for innovation and new development and plays an important role in
providing specialised services in the right type of setting for more vulnerable children with
complex needs.One-third are placed by independent fostering agencies. The Government
has plans to get local authorities and the independent sector working collaboratively to
ensure sufficient high-quality fostering placements, for example by providing seed funding
for joint recruitment drives.
The rise in the number of children cared for in residential settings is even sharper, at almost
17% in the past five years for the UK. Within this sector of the market, the independent
sector is sought out for innovation and new development and plays an important role in
providing specialised services in the right type of setting for more vulnerable children with
complex needs.”
(direct quote from - Laingbuisson 14th June 2019,
https://www.laingbuisson.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Children%E2%80%99s-Servic
es-UK-Market-Report-Press-Release_June-14-2019.pdf)
Across Richmond, Kingston and Windsor & Maidenhead there has been increasing local
need for foster care, residential and SEND placements. Over time the amount spent on
procuring these placements has increased due to volume and complexity of placement as
well as a clear excess of demand over supply regionally and nationally. The AfC Sufficiency
strategy evaluates current and future levels of need and makes recommendations about
how AfC can work in partnership with the three owning councils and other partners to
develop local provision as a mechanism to manage costs.
In addition to the placement sufficiency opportunities, Covid 19 has brought opportunities
around digital development in children's services to the fore. AfC was already active in this
market pre-covid and Covid has increased opportunities for AfC to bid for grant funding to
further develop internal digital competence which can be used to develop AfC practice and
also provides opportunity to market digital innovation to other children's services
providers. AfC has been successful in bidding for a DfE grant of £250,000 to support this
activity in 2020/21.

4

B63

ANNEX 2

Conversely the market opportunities for children's services improvement consultancy
services has become more limited since AfC was first established in 2014. Most local
authorities requiring help can access free consultancy advice through the DfE Partners in
Practice programme. This has limited the potential for significant external consultancy
income but AfC is a recognised DfE Partner in Practice and continues to deliver and fund
consultancy advice through the programme.
4. Strategic Vision
The AfC vision, as outlined in the Business Plan, is to provide children and their families
with the support and services they need to live safe, happy, healthy and successful lives. As
an organisation we plan to embark on proactive business development to facilitate the
achievement of this objective.
AfC plans to be a key player in developing innovative children's services approaches and
will develop services and competency to:
➢ Develop cost effective approaches to support children and young people with a
particular focus on more affordable, high quality, local placement options
➢ Innovate to improve services and support children to achieve better outcomes. We
will be pioneers in the digital development space with a focus on improving
efficiency and using technology to better engage with young people and partners

5. Key Business Development Principles
It is important that AfC harnesses business development opportunities that will support
the organisation to achieve its core strategic objectives. Business development should not
distract from the primary priority of supporting our AfC borough children in the most
effective and affordable way. All opportunities will be evaluated against the following key
principles to ensure we only embark on ‘good’ growth.
➢ Opportunities must align with AfCs strategic objectives, ethos and Business Plan.
➢ Programmes should provide an opportunity to improve the lives and outcomes of
children and young people.
➢ Programmes should have the potential to improve services or reduce the net cost of
services through income generation / cost avoidance / efficiency.
➢ Programmes should be based on AfCs areas of strength and what we are already
doing well.

5

B64

ANNEX 2

➢ Programmes should not put the organisation at undue reputational risk.
➢ Programmes should prioritise positive impact on AfCs three borough services and
develop internal capability. They should not divert significant resources away from
service delivery in the three AfC boroughs without appropriate contingencies /
backfill.
➢ External charging should be undertaken on a full cost recovery plus profit model.

6. Development Areas
AfC will seek to develop under three overarching themes:

SUFFICIENCY STRATEGY- These projects should emerge from the Sufficiency Strategy and
look to address growing business placement and support needs in a cost effective way. AfC
will develop more local provision (education, social care, health) and maximise use of this
provision. This will improve the quality of local provision and reduce the cost of supporting
AfC children. Where there is surplus capacity / a mismatch of short term need to provision,
vacancy rates will be managed by selling to other boroughs using a cost plus profit margin
model.
BEST PRACTICE APPROACHES - Development of internal best practice that can be scaled up
and used to generate income. These projects provide an opportunity to improve local
services, generate income as well as contribute to a wider social good.
GRANTS / RESEARCH - AfC is uniquely positioned to undertake research across three LA
6

B65

ANNEX 2

areas which puts it in a good position to bid for funding and research grants. This activity
not only provides an opportunity to access money for AfC projects and initiatives but also
provides an evidence base for developing best practice approaches which can be scaled up
to generate income in the future. AfC is also well known as a Partner in Practice and for
successfully bidding for grant income to trial / develop innovative practice.
7.

Identifying development areas
All staff will be encouraged to identify new development areas and will be supported by
key Business Services staff in developing those ideas to a concept that can be evaluated via
a tollgate process. The following methods of identifying ideas will be key:
➢ Digital Strategy and Digital Innovation Group
➢ Recommendations of key strategies and reviews e.g. Sufficiency Strategy
➢ Proactive staff innovation events throughout the year to encourage staff at all levels
and disciplines to identify and submit ideas
➢ Periodic evaluation of feedback from service users, review of data and quality
assurance audits to understand what works and what needs improving
➢ Rolling programme of Business Process Re-engineering
➢ Annual evaluation of progress and new market opportunities

8.

Programme evaluation
Decisions about the development areas should be based on sound business cases that
consider staff capacity, resourcing, market viability, impact on the organisation and
financial benefit. Business cases will be supported by reliable data and needs assessment.
Ideas will go through a formalised tollgate evaluation process that will be commensurate
with the level of investment, risk and reward potential for the programme. This will:
➢ Provide a fair, transparent, consistent and reliable approach to evaluating proposals
➢ Ensure that evaluation resource is used effectively with unviable ideas not
progressed through an early tollgate
➢ Ensure a quality of business case that considers all relevant factors and involves staff
with relevant skills
➢ Provide a structured approach to evaluation and decision making and ensure that
decisions are made by the appropriate staff / governance body including where
relevant the council committees
Ideas will progress through three tollgates as follows:

7

B66

ANNEX 2

AfC will seek to engage with relevant stakeholders and partners when considering
development areas and also as part of the decision making process. The following key
stakeholders will be critical to the process:
Stakeholder

Input

Children, young people
and families

We will engage with children in young people to inform
how we develop services and to ensure that they remain
aligned to need and reflect what works

Staff and leadership teams We will seek ideas from staff across AfC as they are best
placed to identify opportunities and have first hand
knowledge about what makes a difference to the lives of
young people
AfC Board

The AfC Board will be part of the evaluation process and
have oversight of the overall strategy to ensure that plans
remain in line with strategic direction and risk management
expectations. The Board will also be a key source of ideas
and market intelligence.

Councils

We will work closely with the councils to ensure that
development opportunities align with council ownership
priorities. The councils will also be critical in the
development of proposals and decisions that require capital
investment or invest to save.

Department for Education
and other grant giving
bodies

AfC is a Partner in Practice and the DfE are a key source of
information and advice in terms of market need, upcoming
funding / innovation opportunities and national priority
areas for innovation.

8

B67

9.

ANNEX 2

Business Development Plan
The Business Development Plan will outline specific areas that will be evaluated and where
appropriate developed over the next five years. The most significant projects will also
feature as priorities within the overarching AfC Business Plan.

9

B68

ANNEX 3

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY
2021-2024

1.

INTRODUCTION

1.1

Achieving for Children’s (AfCs) Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) sits alongside the
Business Plan and is produced as part of the budget process. It is reviewed and updated at
least annually. This document outlines the company’s financial strategy.

1.2

There are a number of key factors that influence AfC’s finances:
●

Central government funding of children’s services, local government and specifically the
impact of this on the Councils that own and fund the majority of AfC’s costs

●

The relative financial positions of each of the commissioning councils

●

Central government’s policies and guidelines on children’s services

●

Changing demographics and levels of social need in our three boroughs that impact on
the number of children requiring support and the complexity of that need

●

Need for children’s services both statutory and preventative.

●

Income generation

●

The ongoing COVID 19 pandemic

2.

KEY OBJECTIVE OF THE MTFS

2.1

The 2021 strategy will continue to focus on achieving financial sustainability for the Company
in the context of escalating financial pressure in the specific delivery of children’s and
education services as well as in Local Government generally. The organisation will be following
three overarching principles:
●

Delivery of value for money services that are low cost and high outcome

●

Maximise resources available to front line services

●

Shared budget responsibility

1

B69
2.2

3.

ANNEX 3

The Strategy prioritises ensuring services are affordable as follows:
●

Ensure there is a mutual understanding of what is affordable for each council in terms of
funding and quality

●

Achieving value for money

●

Achieving challenging cost reduction targets

●

Generating income to support services

●

Ensuring available funding is directed at priority areas

●

Ensuring that the financial interest of each owner is safeguarded

●

Planning for financial sustainability over a medium to longer term period

FINANCIAL CONTEXT

3.1

This plan is being written in the context of continued and escalating pressure on children’s and
education budgets in our local boroughs and the rest of the country. This pressure has been
exacerbated in 2020/21 by the Covid pandemic which has increased the need for children's
services and could potentially have a lasting financial impact over the coming years. The
funding and demand pressures in social care and high needs education services has continued
to feature in national press and also in national findings reports undertaken by Local
Government representative groups. Need for these services has continued to increase during
the 2020/21 financial year and whilst there is a clear requirement to meet statutory need the
organisation must ensure that it continues to develop mechanisms to drive down average
costs of support if services are to remain affordable. The budgets of all three of AfCs
commissioning councils remain challenging and it is not acceptable to just adjust the level of
funding requested to match escalating levels of need.

3.2

The Local Government sector has seen significant funding reductions since 2010 and our
commissioning councils are all balancing borough priorities as well as increasing demand for
adult and children’s services. It is important that in the delivery of services there is ongoing
discussion with the commissioning councils regarding affordability, scope of services, service
models and quality. AfC must support each council to make decisions about how the funding
that is available should be prioritised between children’s services and this may lead to difficult
decisions. In addition it is important that AfC safeguards the individual financial resources of
each council where financial positions dictate a different level of service offer than can be
afforded.

3.3

Given the tightening financial envelope it is important that as an organisation we are clear
about what can be afforded and look to transform services to continue the quality journey
whilst delivering within the financial resources available. This may involve doing things
differently and challenging the way things have always been done. The Business Plan outlines
how this will be achieved over the coming years.

4. FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
4.1 Financial performance can be measured by looking at how our services benchmark based on
two key financial performance elements:

2

B70
-

ANNEX 3

Relative value for money
Ability to deliver services within what is affordable for each commissioning council

Value for money
4.2 AfC aims to deliver low cost and good quality services across all three council contracts. The
following research by Impower demonstrates that based on 2019/20 budgeted spend all three
AfC children's social care services perform well when comparing level of investment to
outcomes being achieved. There is a more mixed picture for high needs education.

source - IMPOWER index 201920 https://www.impower.co.uk/index
3

B71

ANNEX 3

4.3 When looking at the latest actual spend benchmarking data (2018/19) all three council
contracts continue to be delivered at a relatively low / below average cost.
4.4 When looking at social care, Kingston upon Thames was the third lowest cost in London at
£393.61 and Richmond upon Thames was the 8th lowest in London at £502.45 per head of 0 –
25 population. This compares to an average London spend per head of 0 – 25 population of
£621.05.

4.5 Windsor & Maidenhead had the seventh lowest spend per head of 0 – 25 population
on children's social care at £413.50 per head of 0 – 25 population. This compares to an
average for a unitary authority of £527.01.

4.6

When looking at education services (both DSG and non DSG funded) the results are more
mixed and although services are not high cost there are clearly lessons that could be learnt
from other Local Authorities who are achieving lower average costs. Kingston ranks eighth
lowest out of the London comparator group with an average spend of £1,814.10 compared
4

B72

ANNEX 3

to Richmond who ranks seventeenth out of 33 London boroughs at £2,181.77. Both are
below the London average spend of £2,249.35.

4.7

When comparing Windsor and Maidenhead education spend to other unitary authorities
there is an above average picture with an average spend of £1,628.72 and a rank of 30 out of
56 unitary authorities. This compares to the group average spend of £1,586.23 and Windsor
and Maidenhead is marginally below average when excluding the Isles of Scilly who are an
outlier due to area specific factors.

Commissioning Council Affordability
4.8

Although value for money benchmarks would indicate a relatively strong performance,
services are still costing significantly more than is provided within the base contract prices.
Overspends are occurring to different scales across all three contracts due to a number of
reasons:
-

Increasing levels of need for services beyond what can be accommodated within base
budget envelopes and current average costs

5

ANNEX 3

B73
-

Insufficient funding being provided within base contract price relative to annual growth
requested during budget setting process

-

Non funding of non-avoidable inflationary pressures e.g. pay increment / pension inflation

-

Systemic underfunding of high needs education services within the ringfenced DSG funds

-

Non achievement of some savings that were built in to the base budgets

4.9

5.
5.1

It is important that service quality and spending expectations are mutually agreed and
understood with each commissioning council to improve this position. The approach to this
has improved in recent years with AfC contributing at a more granular level to each
commissioning council’s budget setting process. The key ways in which a mutual position is
reached are as follows:
-

AfC staff and the DCS engage with the relevant council process in setting the annual
budget. The three councils have subtly different approaches but all include the
identification and agreement of growth and savings.

-

Annual AfC contract review as part of commissioning process to look at the budget and
performance targets for the following year.

-

Submission of monthly budget and performance monitoring data and periodic meetings
with the commissioner to discuss performance.

-

Input into each council’s political approval and monitoring process which dovetails with
AfC Board approvals and monitoring.

LINKS TO BUSINESS PLAN
Achieving a financially sustainable business model is one of the Company’s key priorities in
2021/22 and the medium term. The priorities outlined in the Business Plan look to balance
quality and affordability as well as achieve service improvement within a challenging financial
envelope. The Business Plan and budget has been produced with significant amounts of
engagement with staff, stakeholders and the councils. The Business Plan focuses on six
themes, which align with borough specific projects and objectives. The following table looks at
these strategic themes to identify how they can be aligned to the organisation’s financial
objectives.
Strategic
priority

What we will achieve for children and
young people?

Link to Financial Sustainability

STRONGER
FAMILIES

We will have a relentless focus on
safeguarding children and young people

This theme should help manage needs led
services through providing early
intervention support to prevent need and
costs escalating, reinforcing thresholds to
access services and manage need, ensuring
that funding is prioritised to those children
most in need and where possible reducing
the requirement for costly permanent
accommodation.

across all our services. The services we
deliver will be high-quality and will
protect and promote the wellbeing of
children and young people by promoting
family resilience. We will work

6

B74

ANNEX 3

collaboratively with our key partners to
ensure we are able to realise the
benefits of joint working to support our
children, young people and families.
POSITIVE
FUTURES

We will invest and work collaboratively
to improve our local education, health
and care offer to children and young
people so that they have access to high
quality services, are able to stay close to
their families and friends, achieve well,
and develop their skills for
independence.

This theme should have a positive impact
into adulthood. Focusing funding on
support that will increase independence
should both reduce average costs over
time but will also enable the councils to
attract increased funding through the
apprenticeship scheme. The support of
children locally will enable financial
resources to be focused on developing
local provisions rather than on costly
transport and out of borough independent
sector provision.

EXCELLENT
WORKFORCE

Our workforce will be experienced,
talented, empowered and motivated to
deliver the best possible services and
outcomes for children and young
people; we will invest in the
recruitment, retention and development
of our workforce and reward their
achievements.

This theme will ensure that staff are skilled
and retained which should reduce reliance
on the more expensive agency workforce
and ensure that staff are delivering
efficient and high quality services through
developing to their full potential.

FINANCIAL
STABILITY

The services we deliver will provide
excellent value for money and we are
trusted by our commissioning Councils
to deliver the best possible services
within the agreed contract price,
including the efficient delivery of our
financial savings plans.

This priority is at the heart of the
organisation’s sustainability model. We
will work with our commissioning councils
to agree an affordable funding envelope
and work to ensure that we achieve
maximum value for every pound spent.
We will learn best practice from other local
authorities who are delivering good quality
and relatively low cost services.

COMMERCIAL
SUCCESS

We will secure the sustainability of the
community interest company through
contract renewal, business
development, fundraising and good
growth, so that we are able to reinvest
in the services we deliver directly to
children and their families.

These activities will enable the continued
investment in services in the context of
challenging contractual financial
envelopes. We will also explore more
efficient service delivery models for some
services and generate income to provide
external investment into our children's
services.

SMARTER
WORKING

Our business processes will be efficient,
cost-effective and supportive to
frontline practitioners so that they are
able to

This workstream will maximise the
resources that are available for front line
services and lead to an affordable support

7

ANNEX 3

B75

spend as much time as possible working
directly with children, young people and
their families to improve outcomes for
them.

service that meets business needs. We will
develop our use of technology to make
processes and business services more
efficient including developing our
accommodation and flexible working
strategy.

6.

KEY BUSINESS PLAN / DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES FOR THE UPCOMING YEAR

6.1

It is clear that affordability of services must be a key focus over the term of this strategy and
the Business Plan across all three boroughs. Increasing need and complexity of needs is
continuing to add pressure across education, social care and health services. In addition there
is the potential for Covid 19 and BREXIT to exacerbate these pressures. The following key
areas of work will be integral to delivering affordable services in the coming year and beyond:

PRIORITY ACTIVITY TO CONTROL COSTS

HOW WILL IT BE DELIVERED?

DEMAND MANAGEMENT
Supporting the prioritisation of services to young
people most in need and demand management
through the application by service teams of
consistent thresholds.

Core services have well established threshold
guidance that is periodically reviewed both
internally and externally through inspections or
specific requests for independent review. The DCSs
are responsible for ensuring there are
arrangements in place to monitor compliance and
support staff to understand the threshold guidance.

LOCAL PROVISION
Delivering the recommendations of the AfC
Sufficiency Strategy at pace in terms of using
commissioning opportunities effectively and
developing more local provision where it makes
financial sense to do so.

The draft Sufficiency Strategy and associated
recommendations has been considered by the AfC
Board and will now progress through council
approval processes. There will be a focus in the
coming months to identify those programmes that
are likely to have the most positive financial impact
and to develop these into business cases for
agreement by the councils as appropriate.

COMMISSIONING/PROCUREMENT COMPETENCE
Building commissioning and procurement
capacity and competence in the organisation to
ensure that placement and other procurement
activity is as effective as possible in finding
solutions and driving down cost.

8

The organisation will continue to build competence
and capacity within the commissioning team to
ensure that the improved practice from the last
three years in relation to placement commissioning
continues and that we get the best price when
undertaking procurement activity. The Director of
Commissioning will continue to develop the
commissioning strategy to ensure that we are
making best use of our market share and where
appropriate planning ahead with providers to get
preferable rates. We will also continue to link in

ANNEX 3

B76

with commissioning partnership arrangements for
SEND and social care.
REVIEW
The effective review of placements, plans and
working models is key to ensuring that we are
promoting independent, resilient families and
that we are prioritising the funding we have in an
effective way.

The company has established practices to ensure
that plans and placements are periodically reviewed
to support the continued alignment of funding and
support to the changing needs of young people. It
is important that we continue to work to improve
these practices particularly in social care and SEND
where the financial pressure and scope for changing
need is most significant.

MODERNISATION OF WORKING PRACTICE
Review of how we work to ensure that we are
making best use of technology, flexible working
practices and that support services offer value for
money.

The company will reflect on learnings from Covid to
ensure we build back better in terms of efficient use
of buildings, homeworking, digital technologies and
reduced travel / printing.
A key priority will also be on improving the current
HR arrangements to lead to a more consistent offer
across AfC and in time improvements in
recruitment and retention.

FINANCIAL MONITORING & PLANNING
The finance team will continue to monitor budgets
Detailed monitoring of all high risk areas on an
and report performance to budget managers,
ongoing basis and consistent reporting internal, to leadership teams, the board and councils regularly.
the AfC Board and to the Councils.
The finance team will also work to further improve
budget awareness and confidence in managing
budgets across the organisation.

7.

SHORT TERM BUDGET

7.1

In setting the 2021/22 AfC has worked closely with each of the three councils and the table
below shows the proposed position and movement for next year. Detailed budget reports will
be considered by each council between January and March 2021.

Kingston

Richmond

Windsor and
Maidenhead

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

35.222

37.332

25.799

98.352

Growth

1.283

2.444

2.077

5.804

Unfunded Growth

0.000

0.693

0.396

1.089

Contract price movements

2020/21 Q2 contract price excl DSG

9

ANNEX 3

B77

-0.971

-0.685

-1.396

-3.052

Savings associated with unfunded Growth

0.000

-0.693

-0.396

-1.089

Savings associated with unfunded Inflation

-0.151

-0.151

-0.120

-0.422

Inflation - pay

0.404

0.000

0.000

0.404

Inflation - contracts

0.196

0.181

0.145

0.522

Unfunded Inflation - contract/pay award

0.151

0.151

0.120

0.422

Inflation - income

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.000

-1.276

-1.029

0.123

-2.182

2021/22 opening contract price excl DSG

34.858

38.243

26.748

99.848

DSG funding in contract price

19.611

20.456

12.035

52.101

2021/22 base contract price incl DSG

54.468

58.698

38.782

151.949

Savings

Grant and virement changes

7.2

The budget is planned to be spent as follows:

7.3

The biggest risk to achieving a balanced position on general fund services is the achievement of
savings and volatility in cost of needs led services.

7.4

The ringfenced DSG funds are not expected to achieve a balanced position due to underfunding
for high needs education services within the councils’ DSG grant allocations. Cost management
programmes are in place and outlined in the respective borough Deficit Management Plans and
these plans must be a core focus over the period of this strategy and beyond. AfC continues to
work to raise awareness of this issue and has the clear remit that statutory obligations to the
young people should continue to be met despite the government underfunding.
10

ANNEX 3

B78
7.5

Where the savings plans identified do not achieve an in year balanced position discussions have
been held with the relevant Council to agree authorised overspends (e.g. Richmond and
Kingston DSG). Where a balanced position is reliant on the achievement of the riskier savings,
contact is ongoing with the relevant Council to report progress against achievement of the cost
reductions and if these do not come to fruition there should be an agreement about alternative
cost reductions or an in year contract change control.

8

MEDIUM TERM BUDGET

8.1

The Company undertakes high level budgeting for a five year period (including current) to
ensure that there is a planned approach to delivering services. The following table outlines the
high level changes to the general fund budget (Non DSG). The expectations are reviewed with
the Councils in June / July each year to ensure that medium term financial planning remains
aligned and the detailed budget setting process for the following year then commences. This
table represents a point in time. Savings plans and growth requirements are periodically
reviewed during the year to identify how budget gaps can be resolved. This is informed by
changes in the council’s relative financial positions as well as emerging pressures and
opportunities within children's services.

Included in council MTFS

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

TOTAL

£

£

£

£

£

3,367,840

1,312,927

1,297,795

1,357,066

7,335,627

807,050

30,000

30,000

30,000

897,050

2,718,000

283,000

305,400

325,708

3,632,108

-4,563,000

-1,815,000

-855,000

-280,000

-7,513,000

Inflation - contractual

521,686

422,229

428,418

433,706

1,806,038

Inflation - pay award

403,920

1,048,285

1,069,250

1,090,636

3,612,091

Inflation - increments

422,000

422,000

422,000

422,000

1,688,000

-2,181,996

0

0

0

-2,181,996

1,495,500

1,703,441

2,697,863

3,379,115

9,275,919

-65,000

-130,000

-130,000

-130,000

-455,000

0

-100,000

-100,000

-50,000

-250,000

Children's Home LBR

-50,000

-50,000

-25,000

0

-125,000

Digital

-20,000

-90,000

-20,000

0

-130,000

Total

-135,000

-280,000

-275,000

-180,000

-870,000

Social care demand growth
SEND Transport Growth
Other Controllable Growth /
Investment
Savings

Other grant/virement changes
Net change before budget
adjustments

Business Dvt Savings incl above

Independent Fostering Agency ALL
Supported Accommodation LBR/RBK

8.2

The table above summarises the latest position and work is ongoing to identify further cost
avoidance / efficiency savings for the latter years of the plan. The plan includes £870,000 of
11

B79

ANNEX 3

savings that will emerge from business development activity. There is scope to include more
as business cases are developed and agreed. Some reinvestment back into the organisation's
infrastructure will be required to ensure there is enough capacity to deliver against business
development plans.
8.3

In relation to the general fund the biggest financial challenges for the medium term period are:
-

The management of need for social care and health services and the management of unit
costs in these areas. This will be undertaken through the monitoring of thresholds to
access services, continued investment in early intervention and the further development
of the local placement market and placement commissioning function.

-

Management of increasing staff costs, particularly in social care due to regional shortages
of suitably qualified staff. The workforce strategy will look to reduce reliance on
expensive agency workers through targeted recruitment campaigns, improved agency
arrangements and a review of the incentives package for staff groups where recruitment
and retention is challenging. The organisation will also be increasing the number of
trainee social workers that are supported to assist with this pressure in the medium term.

-

The challenging savings targets that have been built into all three council contracts as well
as additional savings required to fund pressures that have not been funded within the
base contract prices. The project management approach will keep the leadership team
focused on the achievement of these programmes and associated savings. There will be
early conversations where the achievement of savings is not possible to reach a mutual
agreement with the relevant council about associated actions.

8.4

In addition to the general fund pressures the company is working towards bringing DSG funded
high needs education expenditure more in line with the associated Government Grant allocation
across all three boroughs. This activity is likely to last for at least the period covered within this
plan. The cost of high needs education services, relative to the level of Government funding
remains a significant risk. The Council and AfC are active in lobbying the Government to provide
sufficient funding to provide for the duties set out in the Children and Families Act 2014. To date
this has yielded some extra funding but not to the scale required to sufficiently resolve the
budget pressures and allow for current as well as increasing levels of need. Even after the
additional funding provided by the Government, significant overspend on the high needs block
are anticipated. This will lead to an increase in the cumulative deficits on the funds by the end of
2021/22. Deficit management plans have been drafted and on the Richmond and Kingston side
the council / AfC is in ongoing discussion with the Department for Education

8.5

The Directors of Childrens Services and Chief Operating & Finance Officer are responsible for
identifying savings with their leadership teams and planning for the implementation of these
changes. They are supported in doing this by a senior member of the finance team who attends
their leadership meetings. All major areas of pressure have detailed financial recovery plans
which are subject to continual monitoring, review and contingency action planning where
actions do not achieve the required financial impact. It is integral that AfC achieves the plans’
ambitions to reduce and control needs led budgets so that services can be sustained in the
longer term.

9

FINANCIAL CONTROL

12

ANNEX 3

B80
9.1

9.2

AfC operates a devolved approach to budget management with nominated budget managers
responsible for service spend. The budget manager is a member of staff at team manager level
or above and is the officer who makes the operational decisions about how to spend money.
The ongoing financial challenges faced by the company has necessitated a review of the
arrangements that govern budget manager spend. Under the revised financial regulations
budget managers are able to spend up to their designated budget but must formally seek
permission from their SLT member to spend above this limit. The SLT member may opt to
transfer budget from elsewhere in their department on a temporary or permanent basis to
enable the higher level of spend or may seek a contract change control from the relevant
commissioning council. Each budget manager is supported by a dedicated management
accountant who meets with them at least quarterly and more frequently for higher risk
budgets. The finance team produces monthly monitoring information which is signed off by
the relevant SLT before being sent to the Board and relevant council.
The Company has three main categories of spend which determines the key controls and levers
for controlling spend:
Budget Type

Key controls

Controllable budgets are budgets that AfC can
directly impact by taking associated actions.
They support statutory services but may not in
themselves be statutory. Examples include
staffing, training, stationary, travel, supplies
and services.

SLT approval of vacancies prior to
recruitment.
Centralisation of general budgets e.g. training,
stationary, furniture and equipment etc.
Where overspends are anticipated senior level
sign off of spend over a pre agreed limit
All budgets allocated to individual budget
managers and signed off prior to the year
Periodic review of agency staff by SLT
Budget manager sign off of all invoices
Budget manager training
Monthly budget monitoring produced by
finance team in consultation with the budget
manager
Consideration of overall position by SLTs
monthly

Stepped Costs are those that are demand led
but can be directly controlled through
associated action and the risks associated with
reducing spend can be managed more easily.
The main category of budget here relates to
salary costs within frontline teams where the
number of staff may not have to increase with
every increase in demand but where there are
13

SLT approval of all vacancies prior to
recruitment.
SLT consideration of alternative options via
the request form before recruitment decisions
made

ANNEX 3

B81

a certain number of staff needed to maintain
caseloads within an agreed range.

Monitoring of workloads via information
produced by the data intelligence team
Manager sign off of funded establishment
annually
Periodic SLT review of teams over
establishment
Monthly budget monitoring produced by
finance team in consultation with the budget
manager
Consideration of overall position by SLT
monthly

Demand led budgets are those that are directly Child by child placement monitoring and sign
linked to the meeting of statutory duty and are off by budget manager monthly
difficult to influence in the short term.
Examples include placements for children
Budget manager sign off of all invoices
looked after, rent and allowances for care
leavers, direct costs related to agreed
Attendance of key staff at decision making
educational placements and legal costs
panels including finance where finance
associated with specific cases.
decisions are being made
Periodic high cost placement reviews
Monthly reconciliation and production of
management information
Periodic review of placement types by
commissioning team
Monthly budget monitoring produced by
finance team in consultation with the budget
manager
Consideration of overall position by SLT
monthly
Development of the commissioning team and
placement sufficiency strategy

9.3

Where base budget funding has been reasonable, AfC has consistently maintained stepped
costs and other controllable costs within the required budget envelopes but has struggled to
deliver needs led costs within the Council’s contract prices due to a number of reasons:
- fluctuations in need
- increases in unit costs / limited supply of placements
- failure to deliver on savings plans
14

B82

ANNEX 3

9.4

To break this cycle and ensure that demand led services remain affordable for the
commissioning councils, a more focused project management approach has been introduced
with the DCSs and COFO have overarching responsibility for the achievement of savings in their
areas. The relevant leadership team and the Board receive updates on progress and risks.
Each programme has a service lead, a project lead and a finance lead. Progress and
achievement of net cost reductions will be monitored during the year with alternative actions
being agreed with commissioners, if needed, through periodic commissioning meetings.

10.

RISKS AND MITIGATIONS

10.1

The following table summarises key financial risks for the coming year and associated actions

RISK / CHALLENGE

ACTION

Ongoing overspend and balancing
reaction to financial pressure with
importance of making decisions in
best interest of children

The relevant Leadership Team reviews the monthly
monitoring and agrees all financial actions that could impact
on services. This ensures that the service impact of financial
action plans is considered and risks identified/ monitored.
DCS overview of all decisions relating to LA areas / services.

Placement budgets – Increasing
average cost and demand pressures

Internal review system for all placements to ensure they are
the most appropriate in terms of service and cost.
Detailed financial monitoring at an individual placement
level.
Continuation of centralised commissioning team model
under the direction of the new Director of Commissioning.
Sufficiency Strategy recommendations including developing
more local place capacity through the fostering agency and
new provisions
Engagement with joint LA commissioning groups / initiatives
to drive down cost and increase purchasing power
Monthly financial monitoring updates provided to each
Council and quarterly meetings with commissioners to
discuss latest performance and activity data, risks and
associated actions

Achievement of savings and
agreement of one off costs for
redundancy etc.

Regular monitoring of progress against savings plans.
Project plans for each of the high value schemes with
regular reporting to the Senior Leadership Team.
Quarterly progress reporting to the AfC Board and
Commissioners.

15

B83
Risk of cross subsidy as the level of
funding that can be afforded by each
LA becomes more distinct

ANNEX 3

Operational area budgets recorded separately to avoid high
level cross subsidy
Demand budgets ringfenced to ensure that placement /
transport budgets can not be vulnerable to cross subsidy
DSG funds ringfenced to ensure the grant is only used for
the benefit of pupils in the borough for which it was
intended (separate budgets and cost recording)
Scrutiny of DSG budgets by borough based Schools Forums
Definition of core service provided by Business Services and
agreement about level of support for each borough in the
context of funding levels
Annual financial exercise undertaken to check actual
expenditure levels against contract prices
Oversight by Directors of Children’s Services

Risk that councils do not agree
proposed savings

Regular briefings for Councillors throughout the budget
setting processes
Clear breakdown of financial implications of savings
proposals not being agreed
Regular feedback between DCS and SLT / finance so that
decisions can be reflected in latest financial reporting

11.

CASHFLOW AND LIQUIDITY

11.1

AfC has access to a contractual Revolving Credit Facility of up to £45m to provide working
capital for the provision of the three major contracts with the owning Councils. This is needed
as services are billed for in arrears and so it can be up to two months before the company
receives payment for services delivered. The company uses the facility to ensure that there is
sufficient liquidity to meet day to day operational needs. AfC holds short term deposits with a
number of banking institutions to ensure that the administrative burden of operating the loan
facility remains practical. Investment limits are agreed with the owning councils annually as
part of the Financial Plan.

11.2

AfC has had an average borrowing of £27m over the last 12 months, comfortably below the
£45m. The borrowing essentially pays for the services delivered to the councils on credit and
any one off set up costs that remain on the Company’s Balance Sheet.

12

GOING CONCERN

12.1

As a company, AfC is required to demonstrate that it is a going concern. In order to do this the
Board needs to consider its future financial position and assure itself that its position for the
short/medium term is capable of continuing to trade. It also needs to provide assurance to the

16

B84

ANNEX 3

councils that its financial plans are robust and issues around its future financial position are
presented to, and agreed by the Councils as part of the detailed budget setting process.
12.2

It is important that AfC continues to engage with the three owning Councils in relation to what
is affordable and what level and cost of service the councils need to make the contracts with
AfC financially viable for them.

12.3

Due to the nature of AfC’s services and the decision to offer AfC staff the Local Government
Pension Scheme (LGPS) AfC holds a considerable pension liability on its Balance Sheet. The
decision to offer the LGPS was made at the inception of AfC and is an important factor in
ensuring that AfC is in a good position to recruit and retain high quality social care staff. It is
important that AfC is able to explain this position to potential trading partners and provide
assurance that it is a going concern. This will be done through the Statement of Accounts and
associated publications.

13

CONCLUSIONS AND NEXT STEPS

13.1

It is clear that the coming years will be financially challenging for Achieving for Children. It is of
paramount importance that the organisation continues to work with commissioning partners
to ensure a mutual understanding of existing and emerging pressures and reaches agreement
on the level of funding available and how that funding should be prioritised in line with both
organisation and council objectives. The following activity will be prioritised over the coming
months to move this plan forward:
-

Progression of the Placement Sufficiency Strategy and associated recommendations
through council approval processes

-

Development of business cases at pace for those business development opportunities that
could have the most scope for cost avoidance / savings

-

Achievement and monitoring of detailed budgets and associated savings plans

-

Continued demand management through early intervention work and threshold
management

-

Continued focus on developing and delivery of placement commissioning activity

-

Continued detailed monitoring and reporting to AfC leadership teams, AfC Board and
commissioners

-

Progression of this strategy alongside the AfC Business Plan and 2021/22 budget through
council decision making processes

17

ANNEX 4
2021/22 LBR CHILDREN'S SERVICES SAVINGS
AfC Saving Theme

Title

Project Description

TOTAL incl unfunded savings £'000s
TOTAL excl unfunded savings £'000s

1,378

Deliverabil Financial
ity RAG Risk RAG

Saving
Target
2021/22
£'000
693

Key Risks

685

Unfunded growth

Social Care Demand Unfunded Pressures Pressures relating to unfunded growth in the current cohort of Children - Budget shortfall causing pressures on overall demand/controllable budgets.
Looked After and Leaving Care. AfC will look to implement a range of
- Covid-19 system pressures expected to continue into 2021/22 in Social Care
initiatives to reduce pressure in these budgets including regular
placement reviews to ensure high cost placements are stepped down
as soon as the young person is ready, improved commissioning
arrangements activity to support a broader range of placement options,
review of a number of contractual arrangements to ensure best value,
strong threshold management.

Amber

Red

Maximising Independence

SEN Transport - maximising
independence through collection points,
parent pay and Independent Travel
Training (ITT)

- Covid-19 could continue to negatively impact collection point expansion
- Difficulties around Independent Travel Training during Covid-19
- Future demand on service could erode savings as numbers of Education, Health
and Care Plans continue to increase

Amber

Amber

250

Leaving Care and UASC Service
Offer Review

Leaving Care Service Review (incl income Leaving Care income review to maximise young
and grant)
people/accommodation provider accessing Housing Benefits, with the
introduction of a service charge contribution

Amber

Amber

75

Early Help and Resilience

Whatever it Takes (WiT)
Programme/Initiative

- case by case review needed (all circumstances differ)
- placement breakdowns can lead to cessation of benefit payments
- requires provider buy-in and support
- capacity and availability of team to undertake reviews during Covid-19
- new initiative with uncertain impact
- lead in time needed to work effectively with young people

Amber

Green

50

Continuation of the delivery review for the SEN Transport (SENT)
service focussing on maximising independence through the redesign
and promotion of Collection Points, Independent Travel Training and
Parent Pay. In addition there will be a focus on service resources and
structures to ensure the most efficient delivery model and structure.

Working collaboratively with Whatever It Takes (WIT), a new charity
that is aiming to break the destructive cycle of children and young
people committing crimes so that, instead, they make a positive
contribution to society and build better lives for themselves.
Improved commissioning of placements across Social Care and Early
Help across all placement types and provision

- Covid-19 impacting ability to negotiate with providers
- appropriate, local provision is increasingly at capacity
- complex cases and support leading to increased average costs in 20/21

Amber

Amber

50

Care Provision

Reducing average costs in residential placements with the opening of
the Richmond Children's Home

- lead-in time required for Hope House
- new home with a gradual mixing of young people will offer incremental results

Amber

Amber

50

Review all contracts, including voluntary sector, to assess best-value
strategic delivery model

- Covid-19 impacting on negotiation and viability of cheaper delivery
- Procurement and Commissioning capacity
- Charity and voluntary contracts included in the review and may be adversely
impacted

Amber

Amber

35

Detailed review of the respite provision used both in and out of the
borough to support the best quality respite care as well as the most
effeicient delivery model.
Case reviews/appeals for No Recourse to Continued investment in best practice for Unaccompanied Asylum
Public Fund (NRPF) clients
Seekers and No Recourse to Public Fund young people to reduce
numbers with no access to Home Office funding or benefits.

- availability of alternative, local provision
- delays in the opening of the Moor Lane Respite Centre

Amber

Amber

30

- delays in case reviews with Home Office
- government guidance on case closures during Covid-19

Green

Green

25

Improved Transitions between Children's Improved Transitions between Children's Service and Adults Services
and Adults Services
with a more effcicient transition in support packages between the
Children's Act and Adults Social Care Act.
Increasing the capacity of In-House
Increasing the number of In-House Foster Places in use as part of the
Foster Carers
placement sufficiency strategy.

- Transitions system is complex and is currently being reviewed end to end with a
view to smoothing the transition between Children's and Adults
- Complex young people who may not fully meet Adult's Social Care criteria
- Recruitment of the right type of carers and skills is challenging
- Higher cost placements many not be the right fit for In House Foster Care
- Demand may outweigh recruitment
- Covid-19 disrupting placements and availability of carers and respite

Amber

Amber

25

Amber

Amber

25

Opening Richmond Children's Home

Commissioning and Procurement Procurement and Commissioning of
contracts and services

Care Provision

Leaving Care and UASC Service
Offer Review

Leaving Care and UASC Service
Offer Review
Care Provision

Review of Respite provision

Care Provision

Expansion of Direct Payments to families Increased use of direct payments to increase flexibility and options for - increased demand for direct payments during Covid-19
for short breaks and respite
families whilst reviewing the contracts currently in place with providers. - increased in-house administration and pressure on staffing
- change in approach for families

Amber

Amber

20

Service Transformation and
income generation (incl Digital)

Service transformation from remote
working and digital strategy

Promotion of digital strategy, remote working and revised travel policy. - savings remove potential for re-investment in digital growth and transformation

Green

Green

20

Service Transformation and
income generation (incl Digital)

Review the Early Years Finance and
Business Support team structure

Review of the Early Years support functions with a view to rationalising - reduced resource within the Early Years team
available resources.

Green

Green

15

Service Transformation and
income generation (incl Digital)

Workforce Development - rationalising
resources

Merge Way2Work apprenticeships with workforce development and
rationalise resource to deliver both services. Second year of saving.

Green

Green

15

- reduced capacity in workforce development and income generating teams

B85

Commissioning and Procurement Reducing Placement Commissioning
average costs

ANNEX 4
2021/22 RBK CHILDREN'S SERVICES SAVINGS
AfC Saving Title

Title

Project Description

Key Risks

Maximising Independence

SEN Transport - maximising
independence through collection
points, parent pay and Independent
Travel Training (ITT)

Continuation of the delivery review for the SEN Transport
(SENT) service focussing on maximising independence through
the redesign and promotion of Collection Points, Independent
Travel Training and Parent Pay. In addition there will be a focus
on service resources and structures to ensure the most
efficient delivery model and structure.

- Covid-19 could continue to negatively impact collection point expansion
- Difficulties around Independent Travel Training during Covid-19
- Future demand on service could erode savings as numbers of Education, Health and
Care Plans continue to increase

Commissioning and Procurement

Post 16 accommodation strategy
(element 1 of PeopleToo savings)

Improved working with providers to develop alternative ‘on
contract’ provision and approach to semi-independent
accommodation. This saving is attributable to the Better
Contracting savings programme.

- Covid-19 is impacting negotiation potential with providers
- Risk of increased vacancy rate on block bookings or on contract placements

TOTAL
971
Deliverability Financial Risk Saving Target
RAG
RAG
2021/22
£
Amber
Amber
276

Amber

190

- Covid-19 impacting ability to negotiate with providers
- appropriate, local provision is increasingly at capacity
- complex cases and support leading to average cost pressures
- case by case review needed (all circumstances differ)
- placement breakdowns can lead to cessation of benefit payments
- requires provider buy-in and support
- capacity and availability of team to undertake reviews during Covid-19
Early Help and Resilience
Whatever it Takes (WiT)
Working collaboratively with Whatever It Takes (WIT), a new
- new initiative with uncertain impact
Programme/Initiative
charity that is aiming to break the destructive cycle of children - lead in time needed to work effectively with young people
and young people committing crimes so that, instead, they
make a positive contribution to society and build better lives
for themselves.
Care Provision
Reviewing internal accommodation Review of supported accomodation to reprofile staffing levels - reducing workforce could increase the risk of placement breakdowns and staff
provision
to level of complexity.
retention
Commissioning and Procurement
Procurement and Commissioning of Review all contracts, including voluntary sector, to assess best- - Covid-19 impacting on negotiation and viability of cheaper delivery
contracts and services
value strategic delivery model (e.g. YMCA contract, Systems,
- Procurement and Commissioning capacity
Health contracts)
- Charity and voluntary contracts included in the review and may be adversely
impacted
Leaving Care and UASC Service Offer Case reviews/appeals for No
Continued investment in best practice for Unaccompanied
- delays in case reviews with Home Office
Review
Recourse to Public Fund (NRPF)
Asylum Seekers and No Recourse to Public Fund young people - government guidance on case closures during Covid-19
clients
to reduce numbers with no access to Home Office funding or
benefits.
Leaving Care and UASC Service Offer Improved Transitions between
Improved Transitions between Children's Service and Adults
- Transitions system is complex and is currently being reviewed end to end with a
Review
Children's and Adults Services
Services with a more effcicient transition in support packages view to smoothing the transition between Children's and Adults
between the Children's Act and Adults Social Care Act.
- Complex young people who may not fully meet Adult's Social Care criteria

Amber

Amber

150

Amber

Amber

88

Amber

Green

50

Amber

Green

37

Amber

Amber

35

Green

Green

25

Amber

Amber

25

Care Provision

Increasing the capacity of In-House Increasing the number of In-House Foster Places in use as part - Recruitment of the right type of carers and skills is challenging
Foster Carers
of the placement sufficiency strategy.
- Higher cost placements many not be the right fit for In House Foster Care
- Demand may outweigh recruitment
- Covid-19 disrupting placements and availability of carers and respite
Service Transformation and income Service transformation from remote Promotion of digital strategy, remote working and revised
- savings remove potential for re-investment in digital growth and transformation
generation (incl Digital)
working and digital strategy
travel policy

Amber

Amber

25

Green

Green

20

Service Transformation and income Workforce Development generation (incl Digital)
rationalising resources

Merge Way2Work apprenticeships with workforce
- reduced capacity in workforce development and income generating teams
development and rationalise resource to deliver both services.
Second year of saving.
Service Transformation and income Review the Early Years Finance and Review of the Early Years support functions with a view to
- reduced resource within the Early Years team
generation (incl Digital)
Business Support team structure
rationalising available resources.

Green

Green

15

Green

Green

15

Care Provision

- increased demand for direct payments during Covid-19
- increased in-house administration and pressure on staffing
- change in approach for families

Amber

Amber

10

- No risks identified, achieved in 2020/21

Green

Green

10

Commissioning and Procurement

Reducing Placement Commissioning Improved commissioning of placements across Social Care and
average costs
Early Help across all placement types and provision (incl
Parenting Assessments)
Leaving Care and UASC Service Offer Leaving Care Service Review (incl
Leaving Care income review to maximise young
Review
income and grant)
people/accommodation provider accessing Housing Benefits,
with the introduction of a service charge contribution

Expansion of Direct Payments to
Increased use of direct payments to increase flexibility and
families for short breaks and respite options for families whilst reviewing the contracts currently in
place with providers.

Service Transformation and income School Meals increased income
generation (incl Digital)
generation

Realigning income budget to level of income generation
achieved from the Pupil Support School Meals Contract

B86

Amber

ANNEX 4
2021/22 RBWM CHILDREN'S SERVICES Savings
AfC Saving Title

Home to School transport statutory
service only
Placement Commissioning Efficiencies

Deliverabili
ty RAG

Financial
Risk RAG

Amber

Green

1,573
1,273
Saving Target
2021/22
£
300

Amber

Amber

250

TOTAL incl unfunded savings £'000s
TOTAL excl unfunded savings £'000s

Project Description

Key Risks

Review all discretionary travel delivery (in pre and post sixteen) - Impact on current and future users, particularly post 16
within the service with a view to moving to a statutory only offer. - Formal member approval pending
- Consultation for users required
Optimise costs of placements for children in the care of the local - Covid-19 impacting ability to negotiate with providers
authority.
- appropriate, local provision is increasingly at capacity
- complex cases and support leading to average cost pressures

Social Care and Early Help - employee
(salary) budget shortfalls

Funding shortfall relating to employee positions within Social
- Service overspend pressures on controllable salary budgets
Care. This includes ASYE Social Worker (£118k) and workers
funded previously through the Partners in Practice grant funding
(£182k) which ceases on 31 March 2021. Therefore additional,
currently unidentified, savings are required to fund these posts.

Community Hubs Transformation
Programme

Rollover of prior year savings in Youth and Early Year services
that were planned through service delivery from two Family
Hubs, focusing on statutory services and targeted support for
vulnerable groups. (Saving for 2020/21 £450,000 increasing to
£600,000 for 2021/22)
Reduction in the Health Service Visitor service. This savings is in
relation to a reduction in grant (held within RBWM).

- The original implementation date of July 2020 was delayed due to
COVID-19 with a revised implementation date of April 2021.
- continuation of the pandemic may impact the revised
implementation date.

Simplifying the therapy offer to a smaller set of interventions that
are provided by a dedicated team.
Moving the cost of the Inclusion Advisor service into the
Education Services service budget in line with Dedicated Schools
Block guidance. This will allow critical skills to be available to
schools with a view to increasing the effectiveness of High Needs
spending.
Remove non-statutory support for early years settings
(childminders and nursery groups) which is currently offered to
support those judged as required improvement or inadequate.

300

Red
Green

150

- Reduction in provision and services offered

Amber

Amber

150

- reduced therapy offer for children and young people due to a
tightening of criteria
- increased pressure on HNB central costs

Amber

Amber

100

Green

Green

90

- withdrawing a service previously promoted to settings
- impacting on team resilience as some roles supported overall EY
functions

Amber

Green

60

New ways of working reduce expenses for Use virtual technologies to support fewer face to face meetings.
travel and other external

- savings remove potential for re-investment in digital growth and
transformation

Green

Green

50

Redesign Business Support to drive
increased resilience and efficiency

Restructure business support roles to create fewer, multi-skilled
and longer hour roles which cover the support to statutory and
early help services.

- reduced capacity in Business Support functions and wider service
delivery administrative support
- Risk of redundancy

Green

Green

45

Redesign Finance to a statutory only
service

Reduce finance team to statutory minimum for direct LA services
and also charge RBWM maintained schools for Finance functions
provided to them.
Project to establish location and scale of accommodation needs
and determine if services are directly provided or commissioned.
This should assist in reducing average costs for supported living
placements.
IFA development to have more carers than needed for AfC area
families, and a commercial offering to others.
Increasing the number of In-House Foster Carers as part of the
placement sufficiency strategy. This includes promotion of
competitive rates for potential future carers and retention of
current highly skilled carers.

- reduced capacity in finance functions and service delivery

Green

Green

28

- Investment (Capital) required to grow in-house provision
- Scarce availability of some provision

Green

Green

20

- Recruitment of the right type of carers and skills is challenging
- Higher cost placements many not be the right fit for In House Foster
Care
- Demand may outweigh recruitment
- Covid-19 disrupting placements and availability of carers and respite

Green

Green

15

Green

Green

15

Health Visitor Service

Assessment and Therapy services dedicated team
Education Services - charge Inclusion
Advisor to Schools Block

Early Years Education Services

Care Leavers - Supported living options

Independent Fostering Agency - income
from OOB young people

Disabled Children - more effective
transition

Improvements in provision to support the young person's
- capacity to ensure system change is implemented and embedded
transition to a sustainable adulthood with a view to reducing the
costs of Education Services and care for some young people.

B87

Green
Amber

B88

ANNEX 5

TREASURY PLAN 2021/22

Introduction
1.

AfC is not allowed to enter into any borrowing, credit facility or
investment arrangement (other than trade credit in the normal course of
business) unless it has been approved by the Councils. The Financial
Plan (the Plan) provides the authorisation for AfC to borrow and invest in
the particular situations specified and the Plan has to be approved by
the Members, as the owners of AfC. The decision to approve the
Treasury Plan has been delegated to the Ownership Board (formerly
Joint Committee) as a Band Three Reserved Matter.

2.

The Plan will be reviewed at least annually and when events require a
review in order to ensure that the Company’s banking and treasury
activities are operating efficiently and that risks are being appropriately
managed in order to comply with the Councils’ treasury policies.

Borrowing
3.

AfC will only borrow from the Councils and in accordance with the terms
set out in the Revolving Credit Facility (RCF) which is attached to the
contractual Inter Authority Agreement.

4.

AfC can only borrow from the Councils to fund ‘Qualifying Expenditure’ which
is:
I.

The Borrower’s working capital requirements in connection with
the Contracts.

II.

Any deficits incurred by the Borrower in providing the services to
the Lenders under the Contracts (including the original set-up
costs).

III.

Any expenditure incurred by the Borrower in relation to the
provision of children's services that is ancillary to the expenditure
incurred in providing services under the Contracts to the Lenders
(for example the advice and support services that have historically
been, and continue to be provided to schools).

IV.

Any other expenditure of the Borrower as the Lenders may from
time to time approve in writing in advance as being Qualifying
Expenditure, such permission of the Lenders not to be
unreasonably withheld or delayed, provided that such permission

ANNEX 5

B89

shall not be given in circumstances where this may give rise to a
breach of the State Aid Regulations.
5.

Loans from the Councils are short-term and AfC is required to repay loans
outstanding on each interest date (31 March and 30 September) and
re-borrow any requirement as new loans.

6.

Interest is set at 0.5% above base rate and applies to borrowing in relation to
the ‘Qualifying Expenditure’ to comply with State Aid rules.

Investment
7.

AfC will only invest surplus funds, including sums borrowed under the
RCF, in order to manage its cash flow to make payment of its obligations
in a timely manner without having to borrow on a frequent basis from the
Councils.

8.

Such investment will be on the following basis:
a) Investment will be in deposit/instant access bank accounts
that can be withdrawn at notice on the same day
b) Investment will be in banks approved by the Councils
c) Investment in each bank will be subject to a maximum
amount (or limit) invested at any time
d) The aggregate of investments in all banks will also be subject to
a maximum amount
e) The banks that AfC can make investments in and the limits are as
follows:

BANK

LIMIT OF
INVESTMENT

Barclays
Nationwide
NatWest bank
Svenska Handelsbanken
Total Investment

£4,000,000
£3,000,000
£5,000,000
£2,000,000
£14,000,000

The total aggregate investments that AfC can have
outstanding at any time is £14million
9.

At any time the Councils can jointly agree to
a)
b)
c)

remove approval or vary the investment limits for any of the banks,
and vary the total aggregate investments
approve additional bank(s) with appropriate limits on investment, and
any such changes shall be agreed in writing (email) by the Finance
Directors of each Council and AfC (or their appointed deputies for
this purpose) and shall be reported to the next meeting of the
Ownership Board and adopted as a change to the Plan as soon as
practical and appropriate.

B90

ANNEX 5

10.

The treasury management and banking functions in AfC will be supervised
by the Chief Operating & Finance Officer and undertaken by appropriately
experienced staff within the finance section of AfC. Treasury activity will be
planned and reviewed weekly and longer term plans prepared at least
annually.

11.

AfC will take advice and act on instructions from the Councils, acting
jointly, on its treasury activities and investments.

B91

ANNEX 6

FULL EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM B
Function being assessed:
Achieving for Children (Af) Reserved Matters Band 3 Children’s Services Business Plan, Budget, Treasury Plan, Director recruitment.
Is this a new function or a review of an existing function?
Review of existing functions (Non Executive Independent Director roles,
Governance and Business Plan approval).
What are the aims/purpose of the function?
To set out the strategic direction of AfC, prioritisation of children's services
funding and approach to Board director recruitment.
Is the function designed to meet specific needs such as the needs of
minority ethnic groups, older people, disabled people etc?
Yes it is designed to meet the needs of children, young people and families with
specific priorities around vulnerable children and young people.
What information has been gathered on this function? (Indicate the type of
information gathered e.g. statistics, consultation, other monitoring
information)? Attach a summary or refer to where the evidence can be
found.
Relevant data was used to inform the service delivery for RbK. AfC is
contracted to deliver services across 3 Local Authorities. Evidence can be found
on the following link which covers the service geographical areas including
Kingston.
Does your analysis of the information show different outcomes for
different groups (higher or lower uptake/failure to access/receive a poorer
or inferior service)? If yes, indicate which groups and which aspects of the
policy or function contribute to inequality?
Specific data was collected for Kingston to inform the service delivery and the
development of the AfC Business Plan, including SEN2 and the School Census.
The Achieving for Children ‘vision is to provide children and their families with the
support and services they need to live safe, happy, healthy and successful lives’. The
proposals outlined in this report outline how the council and AfC plan to work towards
this vision including how financial resources will be prioritised. The nature of Local

B92

ANNEX 6

Authority children's services functions means that much of the resource will be
prioritised towards children who require additional support to live safe, happy, healthy
and successful lives.

Are these differences justified (e.g. are there legislative or other
constraints)? If they are, explain in what way.
The council has a statutory duty to safeguard children and to provide additional
support to children who need additional support with their education (e.g.
SEND). The services delivered by AfC support children to achieve the best
outcomes possible and this may look different for every child or young person.
We aim to put the views and experiences of children and young people at the
heart of our service development.
What action needs to be taken as a result of this Equality Impact
Assessment to address any detrimental impacts or meet previously
unidentified need? Include here any reasonable adjustments for access by
disabled people. Include dates by which action will be taken. Attach an
action plan if necessary.
The arrangements in place provide additional support to vulnerable children
across the three AfC boroughs. The Annual Equalities Report provides 4
objectives which covers the whole geographical area for AfC.
-

-

-

Providing support to the increasing numbers of Unaccompanied Asylum
Seeking Children (UASC)
Integrating care and support for children and young people with special
educational needs and disabilities within their local communities,
ensuring SEND provision is high quality, and supporting young people to
transition to adulthood
Developing and implementing a mental health strategy that outlines
responsibilities for Achieving for Children, CCG and partner
organisations, with clear pathways and thresholds that are easily
understood by families and that effectively meet the mental health needs
of children and young people in universal and more targeted provision
Ensuring Achieving for Children is an inclusive and diverse organisation
that celebrates differences and that represents the local communities it
serves

When will you evaluate the impact of action taken? Give review dates.
The programmes will be reviewed on a quarterly basis as part of established
reporting mechanisms and there is a formal annual review of the Plan. The
Annual Equalities report is also published each year with progress against
actions reported and additional actions identified where needed.

B93

ANNEX 6

Assessment completed by:
NAME: Lucy Kourpas
SERVICE: Achieving for Children (Children’s Services)
DATE: February 2021

Please send your completed assessment to your service head. A copy should
then be sent to the Equality Adviser.

C1
Children’s and Adults Care & Education Committee

Appendix C

18 March 2021
2021/22 Section 75 Agreement between Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames
and the South West London Clinical Commissioning Group
Report by Sharon Houlden, Executive Director Adult Social Care and Health
Relevant Portfolio Holders: Councillor Fiona Boult, (Portfolio Holder for Adult Social Care),
Councillor Diane While (Portfolio Holder Children's Services including Education) and
Councillor Emily Davey (Portfolio Holder for Housing & Public Health).
Purpose of Report
To approve the draft Section 75 Partnership Agreement (under section 75 of the NHS
Act 2006) to be entered into by the Council and the South West London Clinical
Commissioning Group for 2021/22.
Recommendation(s)
The Committee is asked to RESOLVE that:
1. the draft Section 75 Partnership Agreement for 2021/2022, which sets out new
partnership and governance arrangements with the South West London Clinical
Commissioning Group be approved;
2. The Executive Director of Adult Social Care & Health be authorised to finalise the
agreement in consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holders and the Health and
Wellbeing Board;
3. Extensions be approved for 2021/22 to Public Health contracts for 0-19 Health
Visiting and School Health, Contraceptive and Sexual Health (CaSH) Services
and the Chlamydia Screening Office (CSO), Level 3 Specialist Sexual Health
Service (GUM) (The Wolverton).

Benefits to the Community:
The recommendations support the Council’s Corporate Plan Priority for Healthy,
Independent And Resilient Residents With Effective Support To Those Who Need It
Most. The Section 75 agreement facilitates greater collaboration and integration across
health and local government. It enables more effective commissioning and delivery of
preventative services and services that promote health and care outcomes of Kingston
residents.
Key Points
A.

Section 75 Partnership Agreements facilitate and govern the relationships between
the NHS and local authorities and are therefore an enabler in progressing the
working relationships which will underpin the creation of place-based Integrated
Care Systems, as set out in the Department for Health and Social Care’s (DHSC)
recent white paper (February 2021).

C2

B.

The Committee is asked to approve the Kingston Section 75 Partnership
Agreement for 2021/2022 and to delegate authority to the Executive Director for
Adults and Health, in consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holders, to progress
the final Section 75 agreement to the Health and Wellbeing Board. The draft
agreement is set out at Confidential Annex 1. Pagraphs B-F below summarises
key points within the Agreement.

C.

Services which sit within the 2021/22 Section 75 Agreement include Public Health,
Adult Social Care and Achieving for Children. For 2021/22, the Council has worked
with the South West London Clinical Commissioning Group (SWL CCG) in a
co-design approach across these services to ensure that beyond the technical
detail, relationships and collaborative behaviours are underpinning our integrated
working. The Agreement centres around: 1) collaborative leadership (2) subsidiarity
- decision-making as close to communities as possible (3) building on existing,
successful local arrangements (4) a person-centred and co-productive approach (5)
a preventative, assets-based and population-health management approach (6)
achieving best value.

D.

The Council and SWL CCG have agreed ways of working which encourage greater
openness and increased visibility of financial risk across the system and will also
inform any financial agreements and deeper integration during 21/22. The
Agreement establishes the joint commitment for: (1) Improving quality and
outcomes and maximising the efficient use of resources (2) Funding mechanisms
risk share and commissioning arrangements (3) Developing an Integrated Care
partnership (4) Joint governance and oversight of performance and transformation.

E.

In addition, an agreement has been reached about the focus for further work during
21/22 that is focused on some specific areas. These are:
1.

Commissioning developments that meet the new requirements likely to
emerge as a result of proposed changes within the NHS and the
development of the Integrated Care System

2.
3.

Integrated community health and social care operating model of place-based
care
Population Health Management development

4.

Transitions pathway

5.

Emotional health and mental health

6.

Integrated Health, Housing and Social Care pathways for people who may
have a variety of complex needs including rough sleepers, homeless people
and/or those who have drug, alcohol and/or mental health

F.

A Partnership Board, led by RBK’s Executive Director of Adult Social Care & Health
and the SWL CCG’s Director of Transformation, will oversee the delivery of the
aspirations and outcomes, as well as any response required to a changing national
landscape.

G.

The financial contributions of the CCG and the Council will be paid as set out in the
Agreement. This includes CCG minimum contributions as stipulated by the DHSC,

C3
the improved Better Care Fund, Winter Pressures Funding and the Disabled
Facilities Grant. The financial contributions have previously been budgeted for and
will not impact the current financial position of the Adult Social Care and Public
Health and Children’s Services Directorates.

H.

Further to the above, the scope of services that fall within the Section 75 Agreement
include individual services / schemes that require an extension for 2021/22. These
are 0-19 Health Visiting and School Health, Contraceptive and Sexual Health
(CaSH) Services and the Chlamydia Screening Office (CSO), Level 3 Specialist
Sexual Health Service (GUM) (The Wolverton)). The Committee is asked to
approve the specific Public Health contract extensions.

I.

Any significant deviation from the agreement before this Committee which arises
following its consideration by the Health and Wellbeing Board will be reported back
to the relevant Strategic Committee.

Context
1. The DHSC’s white paper published in February 2021 sets out the national policy
direction and the legislative changes for integrated working through Integrated Care
Systems. ICSs are partnerships that bring together providers and commissioners of
NHS services across a geographical area with local authorities and other local
partners, to collectively plan and integrate care to meet the needs of their
population. Section 75 Partnership Agreements are an important enabler to
integration – more so over 2021/22.
2. A Section 75 Agreement is mandated in the administration and governance of the
Better Care Fund. The ‘Section 75 Agreement’ refers to Section 75 of the NHS Act
2006 which sets out the arrangements between NHS bodies and local authorities.
It is the agreement which governs the relationships between the NHS and the local
authority including funding and financial contributions from either organisation as
well joint or lead commissioning roles.
3. Services which sit within the Kingston 2021/2 Section 75 Agreement include Public
Health, Adult Social Care and Achieving for Children. These services have
responded to unprecedented change due to the Covid-19 pandemic, adapting in
line with government guidance and accelerating relationships with partners
including the CCG. This emphasises the value of partnership working across health
and care.
Proposal and Options
The range of options considered are as follows:
4. Option 1 - Do nothing: This option has been ruled out as it is in conflict with
national policy and the national move toward greater integration.
5. Option 2 - Continue with a Deed of Variation: A Deed of Variation to the existing
s75 to reflect the many aspects of financial arrangements including the Better Care
Fund was agreed by both parties during 20/21. This option has been ruled out as it
did not provide the best vehicle and platform for deeper integration and shared
ambition going forward.
6. Option 3 Develop a new Section 75 Agreement: This is the preferred option
which reflects both the local and national aspiration and includes new governance

C4
and areas for further development across public health, adult social care and
children's provision for place-based collaboration.

Ambition of the relationship and partnership working
7. The Council’s and the CCG’s ambitions are for the Section 75 Agreement to further
the national policy direction through:
a. Promoting a health and care system focussed on the local place
b. Facilitating the organisational and structural changes taking place over
2021/22 both within the NHS and between the NHS and the Council
8. The Agreement establishes the joint commitment for: (1) Improving quality and
outcomes and maximising the efficient use of resources (2) Funding mechanisms
risk share and commissioning arrangements (3) Developing an Integrated Care
partnership (4) Joint governance and oversight of performance and transformation.
9. Furthermore, collaboration and integration are a key enabler to the council’s
transformation including Maximising Independence. With ever greater pressure on
resources, the wider health and care system is required to work together to better
manage demand, increase preventative services and therefore improve the lives
and outcomes of Kingston residents. The COVID pandemic has had an impact on
all services and the response to it has demonstrated that collaboration across
traditional organisational boundaries with a common purpose can achieve better
outcomes for local residents faster. The organisations will work together to explore
how transformational enablers can support Integrated Care ambitions. This will
include: (1) Property and assets (2) Digital, Technology and Data (3) Workforce (4)
Communications & engagement.
Strategic projects
10. The Council and CCG have identified a set of strategic projects to collaborate on
over the course of 2021/22. These projects have been identified as they
a. support the ambitions and objectives of the Agreement
b. supports the ambitions and objectives of Integrated Care Systems
c. there is value in increasing the visibility of these projects across the system
(e.g. opportunities to share best practice, resources, insights)
11. These projects are largely in the identification / initiation stage and are set out under
Key Points.
Governance
12. The Agreement is overseen by the Health and Wellbeing Board which is
responsible for ensuring compliance with the Better Care Fund and improving the
outcomes and reducing inequalities for all residents within Kingston. A Partnership
Board, based on a joint working group structure and led by RBK’s Executive
Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health and the CCG’s Director of
Transformation, will oversee performance, as well as any response required to a
changing national landscape. The governance structure is intended to facilitate and

C5
support national developments and therefore may change over the course of
2021/22 to reflect the establishment of ICS partnerships.

Financial Context
13. The council is operating in an increasingly challenging financial environment.
Kingston faced a number of financial challenges in the medium to longer term even before the COVID-19 outbreak, which has further added to these challenges.
The economic and financial consequences of the pandemic, growing demand for
services, and limited government grant funding make it difficult to find adequate
funds to meet the borough's needs.
14. The future of local government finance faces a significant level of uncertainty. The
impact of the Fair Funding Review and a future review of business rates is currently
unknown, and the lasting effects of COVID-19 on our residents, local businesses
and the Council itself remain uncertain.
15. Despite these challenges the council has a drive and commitment to ensure it is
doing the best for residents and communities
16. The Partners have agreed a set of principles, which encourage greater openness
and increased visibility of financial risk across the system. The intention of this
approach is to facilitate greater collaboration, transparency and integration,
particularly in how resources can be more efficiently and more effectively shared
across the system.
Resource Implications
17. The financial contributions within the Section 75 are £17,282,474 by the CCG and
£15,204,463 by the Council and will be paid as set out in the Agreement. This
includes CCG minimum contributions as stipulated by the DHSC, the improved
Better Care Fund, Winter Pressures Funding and the Disabled Facilities Grant. A
breakdown of the financial contributions is set out in Confidential Annex 2.
18. The financial contributions have previously been budgeted for and will not impact
the current financial position of the Adult Social Care and Public Health and
Children’s Services Directorates. Any significant deviation from the agreement
before this Committee which arises following its consideration by the Health and
Wellbeing Board will be reported back to the relevant Strategic Committee.
19. The Public Health contracts that require an extension for 2021/22 total £4,502,915
and are set out in Confidential Annex 3.
Legal Implications
20. Section 75 partnership agreements, legally provided for by the NHS Act 2006, allow
budgets to be pooled between local health and social care organisations and
authorities. Resources and management structures can be integrated and functions
can be reallocated between partners. Legal mechanisms allowing budgets to be
pooled (the section 75 partnership agreement) are thought to enable greater
integration between health and social care and more locally tailored services. The
legal flexibility allows a strategic and arguably more efficient approach to
commissioning local services across organisations and a basis to form new
organisational structures that integrate health and social care.

C6
21. No specific legal implications arise out of this report in relation to the entry into the
new s75 agreement, as the Council is able to enter into such an agreement under
the legislation cited in paragraph 20.

22. With regards the contract commissioned by the council under the Current S.75
Agreement, if:
a. the contract includes provisions for modification or extension, then the
proposed extension is permissible.
b. the contract does not include provisions for modification or extension, the
Council may rely on Regulation 72 (1) (e) of PCR 2015 to extend the term of
the contract
23. The Council must ensure that the modification is evidenced in writing.
24. With regards to the extension to the contracts commissioned by the CCG under the
current S75 agreement, like all public sector bodies, the CCG is subject to legal
requirements to ensure fair competition for all contracts. The CCG must follow
relevant law and its internal Governance process in effecting the extensions.
Risk Assessment
Risk

Risk Score

Mitigations

Governing and managing
relationship as the legislative
and structural operating
context is set to change over
21/22

High

Section 75 agreement is written in
the context of the national
environment with agreement
novating to new legislative bodies if
required.

COVID 19 and wider resource
pressures impact the delivery
of strategic projects

Medium

Targeted and focussed list of
strategic projects with progress and
resource capacity escalated
through the Partnership Board.

Interdependencies with
Councils wider transformation
plans not fully aligned

Low

This will be managed through the
Maximising Independence board
and the Partnership Board.

21/22 contributions are not
announced in a timely manner

Low

As with previous years, the prior
year contribution will be assumed

Equalities Analysis
25. A key element in refreshing the Section 75 Agreement for 2021/22 will be to ensure
that the parties to this agreement, the CCG, Adult Social Care, Children’s Services
and Public Health are working together to develop insight into local communities,
their resilience and a profile of their populations which builds on the JSNA, on local
knowledge and on the views of local communities. The approach to data collection
and analysis will meet the requirements of those who plan and commission services

C7
and will fully reflect what is required and what is available within local communities.

26. The refresh of the Agreement builds on learning from the COVID pandemic and the
Council’s response to it, to ensure that demand for services is fully understood
including those who are vulnerable and have previously not been known to the
health and social care system. The assessment for and provision of service will be
made, irrespective of protected characteristics.
27. As services within the Section 75 Agreement are commissioned / re-commissioned,
Full Equality Impact Assessments will be undertaken for each if appropriate.
Health Implications
28. Purpose of agreement is to improve health and care outcomes for Kingston
residents
29. The Agreement is intended to further the effectiveness of the commissioning and
delivery of health and care outcomes to Kingston residents through a focus of
population management centred around Place; greater sharing of resources across
the NHS and the Council; and decision making centred around outcomes.
Road Network Implications
30. Not applicable
Sustainability Implications
31. There are no implications for the Section 75 agreement itself but such implications
will be considered in the commissioning of individual services that fall within the
schedules to the agreement.
Background papers: None other than those referred to in the report
Author of report: Helen Coombes, Strategic Commissioning, ASC

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

C8

Document is Restricted

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

C35

Document is Restricted

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

C48

Document is Restricted

D1
Children and Adults’ Care and Education Committee

Appendix D

18 March 2021
Contract for the provision of Community Equipment
Report by the Executive Director of Social Care & Health: Sharon Houlden
Relevant Portfolio Holder Councillor Fiona Boult, Portfolio Holder, Adult Social Care
Purpose of Report
To agree the approach for the future commissioning and provision of the Community
Equipment service due to the expiration of the current contract on 31 August 2021. The
service is currently commissioned using the Redbridge Community Equipment
Framework which also expires on 31 August 2021 and there is a need to recommission
the service in compliance with the Royal Borough of Kingstons (RBK) Contract Standing
Orders.
Recommendation(s)
The Committee is asked to RESOLVE that:
1. The seven (7) year single Provider Framework contract for the provision of the
Community Equipment Service currently being tendered by the Mayor and
Burgesses of the London Borough of Redbridge (Redbridge Council) be
approved as the procurement sourcing strategy.
2. Authority to Access the Redbridge Council framework contract for the community
equipment service in order to award to the single supplier following a review of
the award be delegated to the Executive Director of Social Care & Health
following CGB’s recommendation to ensure expediency of the award and efficient
mobilisation.
Benefits to the Community:
1. Assured and timely access to Community Equipment to support the
independence and resilience of people living at home
2. Timely and safe discharge of people from hospital who require access to this
service to enable them to return home with or without an ongoing package of care
3. Improved outcomes and choice for people through an improved service, and the
encouragement of innovative and up to date equipment being utilised to enhance
people’s experience and outcomes.

Key Points

D2

A.

The Integrated Community Equipment Service (ICES) contract is currently provided
by Millbrook through a single provider framework agreement led by Redbridge
Council.  This framework expires on 31 August 2021 alongside the contract held by
RBK for the provision of its community equipment service.

B.

The objective of this sourcing strategy activity is to deliver a compliant contract in
line with the Contract Regulations #3, whilst delivering RBK’s values of supporting
people to live more independently through strengths based and person centred
practice by maximising the opportunity for independence through the provision of
simple and complex aids.

C.

Redbridge Council is re-tendering the Integrated Community Equipment Service
(ICES) framework and issued an open tender on 31 December 2020 with the
intention to award the ICES framework to a single provider on 1 April 2021.

D.

The project will ensure value for money to RBK without compromising the quality of
equipment to the Service User through the Redbridge framework contract going
through a competitive tender and encouraging the utilisation of new technologies
and equipment, as well as close technical equivalents.

E.

The sourcing strategy recommended outlines the intention to join the proposed 7
year Redbridge framework contract. This will ensure that the service is compliant
with RBK’s contract regulations and that there is no disruption to service delivery
and that the contract is mobilised on time.

F.

The total contract requirement for 7 years from 2021/22 to 2028/29 is estimated at
£6,821,500. Of this, £4,362,268 will be recharged to partners leaving the cost to
RBK as £2,494,232. The available budget for this is £2,629,900 and is adequate for
the proposed contract.

Context
1.

RBK acts as lead Commissioner for Your Healthcare (YH), Achieving for Children
(AfC) and Kingston Hospital under a framework held by Redbridge Council.

2.

A working group was set up to review the sourcing strategy for the Community
Equipment service and carried out an options appraisal on each of the options
identified. The Redbridge framework contract has been identified as the
preferred option. The purpose of this document is to seek approval to join the
updated Redbridge Framework contract currently being tendered which will be
awarded in April 2021 to a single provider.

3.

The service to be procured is required to provide the full service of:
a) community equipment procurement
b) community equipment delivery and installation
c) Maintenance and repair of the community equipment whilst on site

D3
d) collection of the community equipment when no longer needed

e) recycle of the community equipment for reuse.
4.

The Community Equipment Service helps people to be more independent and
achieve an improved quality of life.The support offered through the service can
range from simple aids that support daily living to more complex equipment.

5.

The need to facilitate earlier discharges from hospital and to support more people
within the community has increased the need for efficient, appropriately
resourced equipment services and referrals into the service have subsequently
grown.

6.

This demand is expected to continue and, where equipment can prevent or delay
the escalation of care needs which may avoid the need for more costly
interventions (such as home care and care home placements), this is
encouraged. For this reason it is important to ensure that the service has the
required level of equipment in stock, as well as the correct type of equipment to
support people’s independence.

7.

The key objectives of this service are to:
● Deliver a sustainable, efficient and effective service for the benefit of the
people using it whether they receive the service through the Commissioning
Partners or fund the service themselves
● Offer a single point of contact for all community equipment and products and
provide practical help to enquiries/requests

● Keep up with innovation in the development of Community Equipment
particularly in the area of digital Community Equipment which is likely to
become more prevalent and increasingly effective in enabling people to
remain more independent
● Provide a one-stop-shop where provision of equipment, delivery of
products/equipment and related services can be provided where appropriate
● Allow people to maintain their independence and live their life by having
access to appropriate equipment, adaptations and products to support them
to meet their outcomes
● Enable health and social care support to be delivered in the person's own
home
● Contribute to the prevention of inappropriate hospital admission or care
home placement through the provision of timely and appropriate equipment
and support services as part of a care package or in isolation
● Support safe and timely hospital discharge and contribute to supporting a
Carer to continue safely in their caring role
● Maximise opportunities to recycle equipment by offering people a ‘buy back’
service for equipment that is no longer required that can be offered to others

D4
through the contract, for example self-funders

● Give value for money to Commissioners and the people of Kingston.
Proposal and Options
8.

Option 1: Bring this service in-house - This option was ruled out due to
financial and capacity implications on RBK. Bringing the service in-house would
require extensive capacity and initial investment from RBK to ensure smooth
delivery of the service. This would include the need to source and store
equipment which could carry an additional cost to RBK. When weighed against
the other options, this option was discounted on grounds of capacity and
expertise knowledge required.

9.

Option 2: Open tender process - This option was ruled out due to timeframe for
delivery and financial implications. RBK would be unlikely to take advantage of
the economies of scale through this option that would be offered to them if they
were on a framework agreement as part of a larger offer. In addition, this option
posed risks from a deliverability perspective, with risks to timely mobilisation
service for September 2021.

10.

Option 3: Dynamic purchasing system (DPS) – This option was ruled out as
unviable due to not meeting all service requirements.

11.

Option 4: Join a framework - This option was agreed as being the best option
for RBK for a number of reasons including:
● Ensuring RBK can utilise economies of scale which come from bringing
spend together with other Local Authorities
● Ensuring on-time deliverability of the Service in time for 1 September 2021
● Ensuring RBK are supported in their technology aspirations around
Community Equipement (excluding telecare) by working with other Local
Authorities with similar goals
● Ensuring collective accountability is applied on the provider to maintain KPIs
and performance.

Framework Analysis
12.

In pursuing option 4, two frameworks were considered. These were the London
Equipment Consortium framework led by Westmister and the Redbridge
framework agreement. Both frameworks work on a single provider basis. Each
framework was reviewed on the basis of quality, cost, governance and flexibility,
deliverability and further faster. The Redbridge framework option has scored as
being the most suitable for RBK’s needs based upon:
● Quality: The Redbridge specification has recently been updated as part of
their current tender exercise and this most up to date specification which
meets RBK’s and their partner’s needs comprehensively. This includes but is
not limited to whole life costing, tracking deliveries, catalogue reviews,
promoting choice for the service user, 7-day discharge service, being up to

D5
date with current community and social care needs, promoting up to date
needs for business continuity planning, social and environmental
considerations, if required a route for self-funders and an NVQ level 3
requirement for Trusted assessors. The specification is also clear that the
approved provider will need to support the participating local authorities with
their assistive technology goals by setting out the most up to date available
equipment to support the advancement of the technology agenda

● Cost: The Redbridge framework will provide better value for money due to
the competitive tender element. In addition, the specification sets out that
the framework would like to retain or increase the 80% plus recycling rate to
help support cost savings and the length of the agreement also supports
economies of scale.
● Governance and flexibility: Both framework agreements were evaluated as
being equal here as the governance would be led by the framework lead
authority with other participating authorities feeding back into the
governance. The governance for London Consortium allows for governance
meetings where decisions are made jointly between all partners with each
consortium partner having an equal say. However, the Redbridge framework
contract has less partners to manage, and whilst Redbridge Council and their
S75 partners would lead governance, all other participating authorities would
support by providing feedback.
● Deliverability: Again both frameworks evaluated equally, as both allow a
timely route into the framework. However, it is important to highlight the risk
that the London Consortium framework is due for re-tender in 2022/2023,
meaning that there would be potential for further disruption to the service if
this framework were chosen as if there was a change of supplier, it would
mean 2 mobilisations for RBK; one mobilisation in 2021 if we joined the
London Consortium framework and possibly another on in 2022/2023 when
they re-tender.
● Further faster: The London Equipment Consortium framework specification
is currently more limited around assistive technology, compared to the
Redbridge framework contract which promotes active support from a
technology perspective. It should be noted however, that the London
Consortium do have an intention to create a separate framework for
Assistive technology, but this does not meet our current timeframes.
Review of Redbridge Council Procurement Strategy
13.

RBK’s working group has reviewed the Redbridge Council procurement strategy
to ensure that their tendering exercise, which is over the OJEU Threshold, is
compliant to the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and in line with the RBK’s
contract regulations and requirements. The Access agreement to the Framework
contract for the Community Equipment Service must comply with Reg. 33 PCR
2015 and RBK’s contract regulations.

14.

Redbridge Council published the ITT on 31st December 2020 and intends to
award the framework to a single supplier by 1st April 2021. RBK will review their
evaluation and award report in order to request approval to award by the 1st

week of May 2021 to CGB.

D6

15.

A framework tenure of 7 years rather than 4 years benefits RBK by being more
attractive to prospective providers and reducing the cost of re-tendering at the
4-year point.

16.

The Redbridge framework contract allows RBK to provide six (6) months notice
to move away from the contract, should the service and provider not meet their
needs.

17.

The contract award decision to be made by Redbridge will be made on the basis
of the most economically advantageous Bid, based on the application of the
following Award Criteria:
● Quality: The Quality weighting to be applied to this procurement is set at
60% and it fits with RBK’s vision as the quality of the provision of the service
is a key priority.
● Price: The Price weighting to be applied to this procurement is 40%. The
price methodology to be applied by Redbridge has also been reviewed by
the working group.

18.

The Redbridge Council’s evaluation methodology fits with RBK’s contract
regulations

Next Steps and Mobilisation
19.

The following next steps now need to take place with the support of our partners
to ensure an effective mobilisation:
● Ensure the successful provider’s response is reviewed to understand any
cost implications and that all minimum requirements are met
● Review of the approved provider’s catalogue and agree the final catalogue
items for RBK and Partners
● Inter-agency agreements must be agreed between RBK and the partners
● Ongoing contract management meetings

Consultations
20.

The specification has been reviewed by the Adult Social Care and Hospital
Social Work team, including Occupational Therapy and Adult Social Care
commissioning teams. This includes the catalogue and pricing schedule RBK
partners: Your Healthcare (YH) and Achieving for Children (AfC) have reviewed
the specification and highlighted any potential concerns or risks. These have
been captured in the ‘risk’ section of this report.

21.

RBK’s Health and Safety have reviewed the Method Statements and the
specification accordingly and advised which element they need to review before
the award.

Timescale

Activity

D7

RBKProposed Dates

Sourcing strategy: Option Analysis
Specification & tender documentation
approved
Issue Invitation to Tender
Final Review of the preferred option
Draft report be submitted to CGB
Commissioning Governance Board GW1
Forward Plan
Tender return deadline
Tender evaluation

Oct-Dec 2020

Report issued to Committee- CACE
Committee meeting -CACE
10 days call in Period
Redbridge Council Award Report
Notification by the Lead Authority of the
award decision
Standstill period.

22 Feb 2021
18 March 2021
18 - 29 March 2021

Appointment of the successful Bidder,
award of the Contract
Review of the Redbridge Council cabinet
report and successful bid + evaluation of
the cost impact
Draft GW2 report to be submitted to CGB
Commissioning Board GW2
Notification of the award decision to the
provider and Redbridge
Standstill period
Access agreement/ Call-off agreement
signed/ Payment of the access fee
Officer’s decision to be published
OJEU Contract Award Notice despatch
Officer’s decision to be published
Contract Mobilisation
Service commencement

Redbridge
CouncilProposed
Dates
Dec 2020
31 Dec 2020

January 2020
26 Jan 2021
4 Feb 2021
6 Feb 2021
11 Feb 21
15 Feb 21 to
5 March 21

March 2021
15 March
2021
15 - 25 March
2021
26 March
2021
1 April 2021 to 15
April 2021
25 April 2021
1st week May 2021
1st week May 2021

3rd week May 2021
By end of May 2021
By end of May 2021
By end of May 2021
May 2021 to 31 Aug
2021
1 September 2021

Financial Context
22.

The council is operating in an increasingly challenging financial environment.
Kingston faced a number of financial challenges in the medium to longer term even before the COVID-19 outbreak, which has further added to these
challenges. The economic and financial consequences of the pandemic, growing
demand for services, and limited government grant funding make it difficult to find

D8
adequate funds to meet the borough's needs.

23.

The future of local government finance faces a significant level of uncertainty.
The impact of the Fair Funding Review and a future review of business rates is
currently unknown, and the lasting effects of COVID-19 on our residents, local
businesses and the Council itself remain uncertain.

24.

Despite these challenges the council has a drive and commitment to ensure it is
doing the best for residents and communities

25.

The budget for this contract is part of the Adults Social Care (ASC) base budget
and there are no MTFP savings against this contract in 2021/22.

26.

Anticipated spend via the Framework is £974,500 per annum based on the
current level of spend by RBK, Kingston Hospital, Your Healthcare and AfC.

27.

It must be noted that expenditure under this contract results in users being
equipped to stay in their own homes longer and therefore can reduce the
pressure on the residential and home care budgets in Adults Social Care.

28.

The budget implications (which are commercially sensitive) are set out in
Confidential Annex 1.

Resource Implications
29.

Not applicable in the immediate future, however RBK are discussing the potential
need for a part time (1 day per week) finance admin role to be split across the 3
partners and RBK.

30.

There are no HR implications as this is a contract off a framework and requires
no insourcing or outsourcing on RBK's behalf.

31.

Consideration must be given to a third party TUPE (between current and future
provider) based on any change in provision of the service and will be included in
the contract.

Legal Implications
32.

The value of the framework is over the EU threshold and as such must be in
compliance with The Public Contract Regulations 2015 and Regulation 3 of the
Councils Contract Regulations. The Framework has been advertised in
accordance with PCR 2015 in an OJEU by Redbridge. This is a single provider
framework set up by Redbridge for which they have in the OJEU identified
Kingston as part of a group able to access these arrangements in accordance
with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (Reg 33 (5)).

33.

The terms and conditions of the Framework and Access Agreement have been
reviewed. These are not subject to negotiation and the Council has been advised
of the parties respective obligations and liabilities under the arrangements.

34.

The Framework term is not the statutory 4 years set out in Regulation 33 (3), but
is set at 7 years. Regulation 33 (3) states that “ the term of the framework

D9
agreement shall not exceed 4 years, save in exceptional cases duly justified, in
particular by the subject matter of the framework agreement.” Redbridge have
set out their justification for the 7 year term on exceptional circumstances which
is included as an annex. The Council has elected to access the framework for a
seven year period too on the same justification as Redbridge and set out here,
(although the Council does have an option to terminate the access agreement on
6 months notice) which is included as an annex. The justification for the contract
term is in compliance with the wording in Regulation 33 (3) and there has been
no challenge that we are aware of.

35.

It is proposed that Kingston shall procure community equipment by way of
accessing this framework on its own behalf and for YH and AfC. AfC and YH
will need to enter into an SLA with Kingston clearly setting out the obligations and
liabilities of the parties, and mirror the relevant provisions in the Access
Agreement to these parties.

Risk Assessment
Risks

Risk
Rating

COVID-19 leading to delays
in evaluation of the tender
responses by Redbridge
Council

Medium

Redbridge Council have noted they don’t
anticipate a delay due to COVID-19 and
assured RBK, their team of evaluators can
review the final bids in a timely manner.
Redbridge Council will highlight any occurring
risks at the earliest possible opportunity

Resource/capacity to review
Redbridge Council’s
documentation and prepare
for mobilisation

Medium

Ensure early sight of a mobilisation plan is
provided to all RBK stakeholders and
partners and placeholders are booked to
allow for evaluation and feedback.

Timescales are tight

Mitigations

Adhere to strict project Deadlines
To keep in regular contact with Redbridge
Council

Tendered prices of the
successful supplier are higher
than expected

Medium

Running a competitive procurement exercise
will ensure value for money

Equalities Analysis
36.

RBK have undertaken an equalities impact analysis and concluded that this
service does not negatively impact on residents with set characteristics. The
service is most likely to support Kingstons aged and disabled residents, having a
positive impact on their ability to live independently within the community.

Health Implications
37.

D10

No further elements need to be included. The health and wellbeing areas in this
contract are covered in equalities and sustainability.

Road Network Implications
38.

Not Applicable

Sustainability Implications
39.

The terms and conditions set out that the Provider shall ensure that all staff
engaged by the Provider in relation to this Contract are paid, as a minimum, the
London Living Wage.

40.

The specification sets out that low emission vehicles should be used for the
purpose of delivering the equipment to the participating authorities and people
utilising the service.

Background papers: held by John-Paul Inglis (john-paul.inglis@kingston.gov.uk)
o RBK Community Equipment Service EQIA Form B
Author of report - Miriam Smith, Corporate Head of Service, Adult Social Care
Commissioning [miriam.smith@kingston.gov.uk]

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

D11

Document is Restricted

